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Bodies — Partly by Individuals for General Education; the Lat-
ter assisted by the Government. — Censorship of the Press
abolished. — Immediate Results. — Close of the Administration
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FROM THE RENEWAL OF THE EAST INDIA COMPANY'S
CHARTER, 1813, TO THE CLOSE OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF
THE MARQUIS OF HASTINGS, 1823.

CHAPTER I

Appointment of the Earl of Moira as Governor-General.—
Entrance upon his Office.— Financial Embarrassments of
the Indian Government.— Indications of Hostility, —
Sttuation and Euxtent of Nepal.— Sketch of its Ilistory.
— Rise of the Gorkhas.— Succession of their Princes.—
Their Conquests tn the Mountains.— Aggressions on the
British Frontier.— Causes of the War.— Claims on
Bhotwal in Gorakhpur.— Commissioners appointed. —
Aggressions on the Saran Frontier.— Villuges in Bettia
attached and annexed to the Nepal.— Right of the British
Government to Bhotwal established.— Lord Minto’s Let-
ter to the Raja. — Military Preparations.— Right to
Lands of DBettia determined.— Return to Nepal of
Gorkha Commissioners.— Disputed Lands occupied. —
Outrage of the Nepalese.—War Proclaimed.— Mode
of Warfare to be adopted.— Plan of the Campaign.
— Disposition of the DBritish Troops. — Advance of
the Second Division.— First Attack on Kalanga — Its
Failure— Second Attack,— Repulsed. — Death of Gene-
ral Qillespie.— Third Attack. — Defeated. — Bombard-
ment of the Fort.— Evacuation of Kalanga.— March to
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the Karda Valley— General Martindell occupies Nakan.
— Besieges Jytak.— Combined Attacks by Major Richards
Major Ludlow,— Defeated.— Operations suspended.—
Proceedings of the First Division.— Nature of the
Country. — Ghorka Forts.— Nalagekr evacuated.— Ge-
neral Ochterlony turns the Gorkha Lines at Ramgerh.
— Affair with the Gorkhas.— Reinforcements required,
and Operations suspended,— Resumed. — Gorkha com-
munications cut off.— Attack on the British Post at Dibu,
— Repulsed.— General Ochterlony marches to the north of
Malaun.— Amar Sing moves from Ramgerh to its De-
Jence.— Ramgerh taken.— Malaun invested.

BOOK I1. 'T\HE circumstances which recommended the Earl of Moira

CHAP, L.

1813,

to the appointment of Governor-General of India
have already been adverted to. After the death of Mr.
Perceval, he had been authorised by the Prince Regent to
attempt the formation of a cabinet which should combine
the leading members of both parties in the state; and,
although the negotiation was unsuccessful, its failure was
not imputed to any want of ability or zeal in the nego-
ciator. His long and close intimacy with the Prince, his
distinguished rank and high personal character, were also
considerations which duly weighed with the Administra-
tion; and he was accordingly entrusted with the government
of the British Indian empire. The office of Commander-
in-Chief was combined with that of Governor-General.
Lord Moira arrived in Calcutta in the first days of October,
1813, and on the fourth of that month assumed charge of
his important functions.

Although the economical system pursued by the ‘Earl
of Minto had permanently lightened the burthen on the
public finances, yet the means by which much of the
alleviation was effected were not unattended by tempo-
rary inconvenience. The establishments in general, and
particularly those of the military department, had been
reduced below the scale which the public security de-
manded ; and the great exertions which had been made to
pay off the remittable loan and supply the home treasury
with funds for that purpose, as well as the necessity of
furnishing the Governments of the new colonial conquests
with pecuniary aid to enable them to defray the excess
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of their charges over their receipts, had drawn deeply BOOK 1I.
upon the resources of Bengal. The new Governor-General caar. 1.
consequently found the treasury exhausted,and presenting
a balance scarcely equal to provide for the current expendi-
ture. He was urgently pressed by the Court of Directors
to continue the remittance of bullion to England, and was
at the same time called upon to discharge bills to a large
amount drawn upon Bengal by the Company’s supracar-
goes at Canton for money which they had received from
private merchants for application to the purchase of in-
vestments to Europe.! The prospect of preserving tran-
quillity began also to be overclouded. It was evident that
contests, which had been threatening for many years, and
which it had been the policy of the preceding administra-
tions to evade or to defer, could not be delayed much
longer with a prudent regard for the integrity of the
British dominions and the reputation of the Government.
Lord Moira was therefore called upon to engage in actual
warfare while the immediate resources of his administra-
tion were in an extraordinary condition of inefficiency.
The embarrassments were, however, merely temporary,
and they were speedily surmounted by the activity and
energy which the character and example of the Governor-
Geueral diffused throughout the Company’s establish-
ments,

Omitting, for the present, any further notice of the 1814.
financial difficulties, we shall proceed to describe the origin
and object of the impending hostilities.

The territories of the kingdom of Nepal extended for
a distance of more than seven hundred miles along the
northern frontier of the British possessions. Stretching
in an oblique direction from north-west to south-east,
they skirted the provinces of Delhi, Rohilkhand, Gorakh-
pur, Saran, Tirhut, and Purnia, and included districts
partly of ancient, partly of recent acquisition. Between
Rohilkhand and Gorakhpur, a portion of the principality
of Oude, conterminous with Nepal, completed the boun-
dary line. The name, Nepal, was properly applicable to

1818,

! Financial Letter from Bengal, 30th October and 18th December, 1813.
Papers relative to the Finances of India during the administration of the Mar-
quis of Hastings, printed for the Proprietors of East India Stock, March,
1834,
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BOOK II. a valley of circumscribed extent embosomed in the Hima-
crAr.L laya mountains, having on its south the first and lowest

1814,

ranges of the chain, but girdled on the north by some of
its loftiest and most majestic elevations; amid which,
through passes scarcely lower than the limits of eternal
congelation, a communication during the summer months
lay open with Tibet. The people are mostly of the Bhot
or Tibetan family ; but they are intermixed with Hindus,
colonies of whom immigrated from the plains at periods
within the memory of tradition! The leaders of the
colonists seem to have been Rajputs, and with their ordi-
nary superiority in energy and courage, they soon estab-
lished themselves as petty princes, or Rajas, in various
parts of the valley. In the course of time, the number
of independent chiefs decreased, the stronger devoured
the weaker ; and in the middle of the eighteenth century
(1765) the valley of Nepal was partitioned among the
three Hindu Rajas of Khatmandu, Lalita-patan, and Bhat-
geon. Teking advantage of the feuds which arrayed
these petty potentates against each other, Prithi Narayan,
chief of a mountain tribe termed Gorkha, overpowered
the triumvirate and made himself sole master of Nepal.
He transmitted his sovereignty to his descendants, and
they still reign over the country. The designation of the
tribe of which the prince was a member came to be re-
garded as the national denomination, and the term Gorkha
was applied to the government and the military population
of Nepal.®
' Amdln to local traditions, the Hindu Parbatiyas, or mnhlnm,
\ly from Chitore, in the beulnnlng of the 14th century. Probably
the nlun ng family of Rajpats may have arrived about that date, but Nepal
(Naipala) wos a Hindu state in much more remote times. The Parbatiyas
are more likely to be the relics of a nltln pog:lmon. or immigrants from
the adjacent low-lands of Qude: their longs to the Sanscrit family
of dialects; but their physical con differs much from that of the
Hindus of the contiguous plains, who are mostly tall; whilst the Nepalese,
slthonah rob\ut. are below the average stature.

2 The name is pmdlymdtohothnm of & erletlntlmmmUu,
as in Padre Giuseppe's account of No'?ﬂ tic Researches, ix.307 : so also
Ktk 8. sod umiton, 1 hown of Gorkhe s st s
merates it a3 ons of the Chaubisl, or tv:;nty';lm Bl states, between the
of tho?nmu cr‘l’gud‘of nq.:im m considers them to bo of nnmi‘n?mu
tribe, called Magars. Garkhu. correctly Gorakhsha, or Gorakh, denotes &
COW-] ; and the ancestors of the Gorkhas were not lmproubly of that
caste, from the district below the mn-. known as Gorakhpur. The tutslary

:gnotmptlhnﬁamolﬂu.dﬂomhmamhm whose are

and the same and the same worship, had former);
3 m:ﬂ. il ip. P 189, y equal predomi-
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Prithi Narayan died in 1771. He was succeeded by his BOOK 1L

son, Pratdp Sing, who reigned but four years. He died cmar.1

in 1775, and left an infant son, Rana Bahadur, under the
care of his widow Rajendra Lakshmi, and his brother
Bahadur Sah. During the regency, the system of aggres-
sion and conquest commenced by Prithi Narayan was vigor-
ously pursued ; and many Rajas, whose countries lay east
and west of Nepal, were forced to acknowledge allegiance
to the Gorkha Raja. An army wassent across the northern
mountains against Lhassa, and the living type of Buddha
was compelled to pay tribute to the Brahmanical ruler of
Nepal. The enterprise nearly proved fatal to the nascent
power of the invaders. The Emperor of China, incensed
by the sacrilegious indignity offered to a religion of which
he is the secular head, despatched a large army to Nepal,
which defeated the Raja's troops, and advanced to within
a few miles of his capital, Khatmandu. The Gorkha
prince averted the subjugation of his country by season-
able submission, by engaging to furnish the retiring army
with provisions, and by promising payment of a yearly
tribute to the Emperor of China, The Chinese army
withdrew, the country of the Grand Lama was taken
under the political protection of the Court of Pekin, and
the Gorkhas were left to efface their discredit and com-
pensate for their discomfiture by prosecuting schemes of
aggrandisement at the expense of the Rajas of the moun-
tains. Shortly after the Chinese invasion, an attempt
was made by the British Government of India to establish
a friendly intercourse with that of Nepal, and Captain
Kirkpatrick was sent as envoy to Khatmandu. The
mission was frustrated of all political benefits by the
insuperable jealousy of the Gorkha ministers, but much
interesting information was then for the first time made
public respecting the topography and institutions of
Ne :

Il::dim, Rana Bahadur took upon himself the authority
to which his maturity entitled him, and avenged the
thraldom in which he had been held, by commanding his
unole to be put to death. Becoming odious to his subjects
through his dissolute habits and ferocious cruelty, he was
obliged to abdicate in favour of his infant son, and with-
draw from the country. Hoe retired to Benares. After

1814,
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BOOK 1L an exile of two years he recovered his station; but, re-
cHAP.1. lapsing into his former atrocious conduct, he provoked a

1814.

conspiracy of many of his principal nobles, and was mur-
dered by the conspirators, headed by his half-brother
Shir Bahadur, in open Durbar. The murderers were im-
mediately attacked and killed by Bhim Sah, of the tribe
of Thépa, a faithful adherent of the Raja, who placed an
illegitimate son of Rana Bahadur, still in his minority,
upon the throne, and assumed the office of Regent. Not-
withstanding these internal convulsions, the tide of ex-
ternal conquest had continued to spread to the westward,
and it received fresh impetus from the warlike propensities
and ability of the Regent. Under his administration, the
Gorkhas extended their authority over the hill Rajas.as
far west as to the Setlej ; they crossed the river, and were
upon the eve of a contest with Ranjit Sing for the spoils
of the Rajput princes' established in the hill country of
the Punjab, when their ambitious projects in a different
direction exhausted the forbearance of a more formidable
antagonist, and brought upon Nepal the resentment and
arms of the Government of British India.

A spirit of aggrandisement, which had been fostered by
success, had long influenced the conduct of the Court of
Nepal towards its neighbours of the plains; and its
officers on the frontier had for many years been privately
countenanced in a system of aggression and encroachment
on the territories subject to the Presidency of Bengal
Their encroachments commenced as far back as 1787, and
were persisted in, with occasional intervals, until 18I3;
being perpetrated along the whole of the borders from
the frontier of Tirhut to that of the districts between
the Setlej and the Jumna. They had given oceasion to
repeated representations and remonstrances on the part
of the Government of Bengal, and had sometimes been
suspended or disavowed by the Court of Khatmandu.
They were in 8ome instances, however, avowed and justi-
fied, on the plea that they were directed to the re-ocoupa-
tion of tracts which had originally belonged to Nepal, or
to chiefs whom the Gorkhas had subdued, and whoee
possessions they claimed by right of conquest. . No case
had hitherto occurred which was considered of sufficient

' The Rajas of Mandi and Kotoch, —See Moorcroft's Travels, 1. 129, 174,
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magnitude to warrant forcible resistance or retaliation; BOOK 11.
although as early as 1807 the Governor-General intimated curar. 1.
to the Rajs, that unless redress were granted for outrages
committed on the frontier of Purnes, and lands which 181
had been violently usurped were restored, “ the British
Government would be compelled to employ the means
at its disposal for protecting the rights and persons of
its subjects.” The threat was carried into execution in
1809 ; a military force was then employed to expel the
Gorkha officers from the disputed lands, and to replace
the dispossessed Zemindar of Bhimnagar, whom the Com-
pany acknowledged as a subject, in his Zemindari.

The more immediate causes of the war which now took
place, were disputed claims to lands included within the
British provinces of Saran and Gorakhpur. We shall first
notice the latter of these, as they were made the earlier
subject of authorised investigation. Gorakhpur, of which
the northern boundary is contiguous to the lower range of
hills, came into the hands of the British in 1801-2, as
included in the cessions exacted from the Nawab-Vizir of
Oude. The district in dispute had formed part of the
landed possessions of the Raja of Palpa, a hill chieftain of
consideration in the kingdom of Nepal; it being not un-
usual for the Rajas of the first ranges of the hills to hold
lands along the borders of the adjacent low country of
Oude, either from immemorial succession, or usurpations
connived at by the corrupt servants of the Oude Govern-
ment. When the transfer of his lands was made, the
Palpa Raja acknowledged his tenancy under the new
authorities, and consented to pay a stipulated amount of
revenue to the Collectorate of Gorakhpur. He was after-
wards implicated in the conspiracy which ended in the
murder of Rana Bahadur, and was seized and put to death
by order of the Regent. His lands in the hills were con-
fiscated to the state ; and the Nepal Government, extending
the sentence of confiscation to the district of Bhotwal,
part of the Raja's possessions within the British boundary,
made a grant of it to another hill chief, the father of the
Regent, who, in order to secure his realisation of the bene-
faction, assembled a considerable body of troops upon the
borders, in 1804, and prepared to take forcible occupation.
The pretensions of the Court of Nepal were resisted by
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BOOK II. Lord Wellesley; but, unwilling to involve the Government
cuAr.I. in a state of warfare upon the eve of his departure to

1814,

England, he professed his readiness to enter into an
amicable discussion of the claims in question, and pro-
posed that Commissioners should be deputed on either
side to investigate and adjust them. He also suggested
that the Commissioners should at the same time deter-
mine other claims preferred by the Nepalese to the
revenues of the district of Sheoraj, which was likewise
situated within the limits of the Ceded Provinces, but
had been usurped by the Gorkhas before the date of the
cession. The Court of Nepal refused to entertain the
latter proposition, but proposed that the chief to whom
Bhotwal had been granted should continue to hold it on
the same conditions as the Palpa Raja, and pay the assessed
revenue to the British authorities,—virtually recognising,
therefore, the right of the Bengal Government to the sove-
reign property of the land. A Vakil was sent with these
replies to Calcutta, but no disposition was evinced to
await the result of his mission, and a body of Gorkha
troops took possession at once of more than two-thirds of
the contested territory. They were unopposed. The
negociation, which had been suspended by Lord Welles-
ley’s relinquishment of office, was resumed by Sir G.
Barlow, who offered to forego the claims of the Company
on Sheoraj, on condition that the Gorkhas would relin-
quish theirs on Bhotwal. The disposition thus indicated
to compromise the pretensions of the British, served only
to confirm those of their opponents. Their proposal to
farm the revenues of Bhotwal, was declined, but no steps
were taken to recover possession of the district, and the
Nepalese remained in undisturbed occupation of the lands
into which they had intruded, from 1806 to 1809.. At the
latter date, a remonstrance against the retention of the
territory was addressed by Lord Minto to the Raja of
Nepal, which was met by an evasive and unsatisfactory
reply ; but the Raja expressed a willingness to agree to
the appointment of Commissioners to investigate the
claims of both parties on the spot. The attention of the
Governor-General being directed at this period to the
disturbances at Madras, and the expeditions against the
French and Dutch Islands, the communication was not
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immediately acted upon; but towards the end of 1811, BOOK IL
fresh encroachments having taken place, it became indis- cmar. 1.
pensably necessary to consider seriously how much longer
they were to be endured. The Governor-General having 1814
accordingly deliberately reviewed the whole question, de-
termined to accede to the proposed arrangement, although
he anticipated little benefit from the result. He had in
the first instance repeated the offer made by Sir G. Barlow,
to permit the Nepalese to retain Sheoraj, on the condition
of their withdrawing from Bhotwal ; but their persevering
disinclination to assent to any compromise determined
him to retract the offer, and to leave the right to both
districts to be the subject of investigation. Major Brad-
shaw was nominated on the part of the British Govern-
ment to confer with Commissioners appointed by the
Court of Khatmandu with regard to the disputed lands on
the Gorakhpur frontier, and conferences for the adjust-
ment of the rights of the respective claimants were
carried on through the greater part of the two following
years.

While matters were thus circumstanced in Gorakhpur,
aggressions of & like origin were committed on the British
territory of Saran, lying to the east of Gorakhpur, and,
like it, contiguous on its northern division, which consti-
tuted the district of Bettia, to the hills throughout the
state of Makwanpur. Border disputes had always sub-
sisted between the Raja of Bettia and his neighbour the
Raja of Makwanpur. The former had become a subject
of the British Government, in 1765 ; the latter was con-
quered by the Gorkhas shortly before that date, and,
adopting his quarrels, they descended into the low-lands
and seized upon part of the Bettia boundary. The aggres-
sion was promptly and vigorously repelled. In 1767, a
military force under Major Kinloch drove the Gorkhas out
of the province, and, following them into the hills, took
possession of Makwanpur. Yhen a good understanding
with the Court of Khatmandu was restored, Mr. Hastings
gave up that part of Makwanpur which was situated in
the hills, but retained the low-lands on the Bettian fron-
tier as a compensation for the cost of military expedition
which the Bengal Government had been compelled in
self-defence to undertake, ¥rom that period the con-
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BOOK 1L quered tract had formed a portion of the Bettia Zemindari,
cuar.1.  and had paid revenue to the British Government without

1814.

any question of its right having been agitated by Nepal.
In 1811, however, emboldened by the obvious reluctance
of the Government of Bengal to engage in hostilities, —a
reluctance which, agreeably to the maxims of Gorkha
policy, could only be accounted for by conscious weakness
—the Nepalese advanced a claim to the division of Na-
nore, in Bettia ; and the Gorkha governor of the adjacent
hill district crossed the border with an armed force, burnt
and plundered several villages, levied contributions on
several, and called upon others, to the number of twenty-
two in the aggregate, to acknowledge allegiance to his
government. His incursion provoked resistance: the
people of the country took up arms, and, as the Gorkha
party was weak, defeated and expelled them. Their leader
was killed in the affray. A stronger force was immedi-
ately despatched from Nepal, against which no adequate
means of resistance were at hand; and the whole of the
lands originally separated from Makwanpur were forcibly
re-occupied by the Gorkhas, without their condescending
to give previous intimation of their pretensions or their
purposes.!

After long and protracted discussions, the right of the
British Government to the disputed lands on the frontier
of Gorakhpur was established by documentary evidence, to
rebut which no satisfactory testimony was brought forward
by the Commissioners from Nepal. They, nevertheless,
declined to recognise the claim of the British, or to direct
the removal of the Gorkha officers from the usurped dis-
tricts, without authority from Khatmandu, to which they
required to refer. A suggestion was, however, made to
Major Bradshaw, that the Raja of Nepal should cede the
disputed lands in exchange for a tract, six miles broad,
along the skirts of the hills, to be given up by the British

3 Besides the districts more particularly specified in the text, various en-
croachments had occnrred almost throughout the whole of the border, from
the Tista to the Setle). In Tirhut, between 1787 and 1812, more than two
hundred villages had, at different times, been appropriated b{ethe Nepalese.
In Bareilly, they had occupied five out of eight divisions of the Pergunna of
Khyrapur. They claimed an extensive tract in the Zilla of Moradabad ; and
in 1813, they attempted to occupy several villages in the territory of the pro-
tected Sikh chiefs. but were prevented by the interference of the British
Political t.—Nepal Papers, printed for the Court of Proprietors, Narra-
tive of the War, by the Marquis of MHastings, 677.
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Government. To this compromise Lord Minto refused his BOOK II.
concurrence ; he considered the proposal to be equivalent cuar. 1

to an admission, that the right of his Government to
Sheoraj and Bhotwal was substantiated, as was truly the
case, and that the Court of Nepal was not entitled to any
compensation for the abandonment of unjust and violent
usurpations, He regarded the proposition also as evasive
and temporising, and as unlikely, even if acquiesced in, to
put a stop to the unfounded claims of the Gorkha Govern-
ment. He, consequently, insisted on the unqualified
restoration of the usurped territory ; and, as the Commis-
sioners pleaded want of powers, he addressed a letter to
the Raja, reminding him of his promise to abide by the
result of the inquiry, and calling upon him to fulfil his
his promise, by ordering his officers to retire from the
disputed districts,—expressing his earnest wish to remain
upon terms of amity with the Nepal state, but declaring
his intention of occupying the lands in question by force,
if they were not peaceably resigned. Military preparations
were set on foot for carrying the menace into effect when
the season should permit, as little expectation was enter-
tained that the Court of Khatmandu would be induced by
conciliatory representations to recede from its preten-
sions. Before a definitive answer was received from the
Raja, the Earl of Moira had succeeded to the government
of India.

When the aggressions on the Saran frontier were com-
mitted, strong remonstrances were addressed to the Court
of Khatmandu, and a demand was made that the lands
which had been seized should be immediately restored.
It was ceded, however, that the right to them should
nevertheless be investigated by the magistrates of Saran
and the officers of Nepal ; and it was promised, that, if the
Gorkha claim to any of the villages should be made good,
they should be restored. An investigation accordingly
took place, the result of which was to disprove the Gorkha
pretensions;' but a final decision was not insisted on

1 A different story is, however, told by the Government of Nepal. In their
fnstructions to an accredited t, who was to have been durtchod to Cal.
cutta, and which document fell into the hands of Lieut.-Col, Bradshaw, they
accuse Bir Kishore Sing (the Raja of Bettia), of having originated the en-
croachments, taken possession of a large portion of land, and committed an
atrocious murder in the Nepal territories (referring to the death of the Gorkha

1814.
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BOOK 1L until the Commissioners in Gorakhpur should be able to
cmar.1. extend their inquiries to Saran. It appeared, however, to

1814,

the new Governor-General, that the question of right had
been so unequivocally decided by the previous proceed-
ings, that it needed no further deliberation ; and Lieut.-
Colonel Bradshaw was authorised to proceed to the spot
in company with the Gorkha Commissioners, for the
purpose only of adjusting any minor points which might
remain to be set at rest. The villages had in the mean
time been conditionally evacuated by the Nepalese, Their
own Commissioners disapproved of the temporary transfer,
and, making their disapproval a plea for closing the confer-

‘ence, refused to hold any further communication with the

British representative, and returned abruptly to Nepal.!
It was evident from the conduct of the Gorkha Commis-
sioners, that the Court of Khatmandu had no serious
intention to concur in any amicable settlement ; but,
unwilling to precipitate a quarrel, the Governor-General
renewed in an address to the Raja the remonstrances and
arguments that had been hitherto urged in vain, requiring
him to acquiesce in the conclusions which had been estab-
lished by the conferences of the Commissioners both in
Gorakhpur and Saran, and to accede to the peaceable occu-
pation of the lands by the civil officers of the British
Government. A refusal to acknowledge the Company’s
rights was, after some delay, received. No alternative
therefore, remained but the relinquishment of the claims
which had been substantiated, or their resolute vindication.

officer menfyoned in the text). The Raja proceeds : * You will state, that in
consequence of a letter which I received from Mr. Hawkins of Patns, assur-

me that Bir Kishore Sing would be xunuhed by the British Government,
posseasions of the twe ':,':“‘":“m..,. iich ho had Seized, M. Young wes

the twenty-two w] (]

afterwards sent to inves! the question res; these vil “sy his
inquiries, the right of this government, and aggression of the Zemindar of
Bettia, were fully established ; the Bettia man could produce no documents
whatever in su] of hi; lchlm eronnghuprobablynporMle
g.mmment. ou will state these observations in a proper manner.”—Nepal

J'l‘ho abrupt departure of the Commissioners is referred by Mr. Prinsep to
the receipt, by the Raja o(Nepnl,ol‘mmmwtherem -General, de-
claring his resolution to occupy the disputed lands by force, if not given up
within Mpu:lﬂed period. According to tho document last quoted, it arose
from peiyonsl dissatisfaction with the Brld-h Oommlumr * The, huln
lnmvlow with the Major, who made use of prorr
in consequence of which they remained luent ; and, seeing no business brouht
forward, they came away. —N.pulhpen. The state papers of Nepal
appear to be no more veracious than thonotmudvﬂbd nations.
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The latter was adopted. The villages on the Saran frontier BOOK II.
were retained, and a detachment was sent into Bhotwal omar 1
and Sheoraj, before which the Nepalese authorities retired
without attempting to offer any resistance.! 1814,
" The promptitude and decision which characterised the
measures of the British Government convinced the Court
of Khatmandu that the crisis which it must have contem-
plated had now arrived, and that disputes respecting
border lands had terminated in the alternative of peace or
war. The question was deliberately considered in a
council of the principal chiefs, and a summary of their
opinions was transmitted to the military governors of the
frontier. In deference to the sentiments of the Raja, or
rather of the Regent minister, who advocated hostilities,
the conclusion of the council was for war ; but several of
the chiefs entertained sounder views of its probable conse-
quences, urged perseverance in the course of policy
hitherto pursued, and recommended, if unavoidable, the
ultimate concession of the disputed territory below the
hills. To these prudent recommendations were opposed
the uniform success which had hitherto attended the arms
of Nepal, the powerful military force of the principality,
and the natural strength of the country, which constituted
an impregnable barrier against an English invasion. The
small fort of Bhurtpore, argued the minister, was the work
of man, yet the British were defeated in their attempts
against it. How little, then, was it likely that they should
storm the mountain fastnesses constructed by the hand of
God!* The determination, however unwise, indicated a
lofty and patriotic spirit; but the mode in which it was
announced was characteristic of a barbarous court.
The approach of the rainy season and the unhealthiness
of the country at that period, as well as the seeming ac-

! These details are taken chiefly from the Narrative of the War, by the
Marquis of Hastings.—Nepal Papers, 673. .
3 The opinions of the Council, as communicated to the Raja of Palpa, fell
into the hands of the English, and are printed by Mr. Prinsep. The Raja pro-
war, and is seconded by Bhim Sen Thapas, the regent. The strength of
fﬂ. country, and military power and reputation of Nepal, are thie chief topics
of reliance. On the other hand, some fear is expressed of the defection of the
Hill Rajas, by which an opening into the mountains may be afforded to the.
enemy ; and some of the chiefs do not hesitate to declare their opinion of the
luper‘rlty of the British forces. We have hitherto, say they, but hunted
deer ; if we engage in this war, we must prepare to fight tigers. It is clear
that the war was disapproved of by the most judicious of the Raja’s advisers,
and that it originated chiefly in the presumption and ignorance of the Regent.
—Prinsep's Transactions in India, 8vo. ed. vol.1. App. 457,
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BOOK II. quiescence of the Nepalese in the occupation of the
cHAP. L disputed lands, induced the (Government to withdraw the

1814,

troops, leaving a civil force of armed police at the frontier
thanas or stations of Bhotwal and Sheoraj. On the morn-
ing of the 28th May, a party of Gorkhas, under the
command of the late Governor of the district, attacked
tho post at Bhotwal. The police were overpowered,
eighteen men were killed, and the head officer, or Than-
nadar, who surrendered himself, was tied to & tree and
killed with arrows. The stations of Sheoraj were abandoned
by the police, but not until one had been surprised and
several lives had been lost. The lands were immediately
taken possession of by the Gorkhas. Although this out-
rage demanded instant punishment, the season of the year
delayed its infliction, and an opportunity was afforded to
the Raja of disavowing the perpetrators of the offence. A
lotter from the Governor-General required him to fulfil the
obligation, but it reccived an evasive and menacing reply.
Hostilities were therefore evidently unavoidable ; and, after
an interval diligently devoted to preliminary arrangements,
and the collection of information regarding a country but
little known, war with Nepaul was announced, in a mani-
festo detailing its causes and vindicating its necessity.
War having been resolved upon, it hecame necessary to
determine the principles upon which it should be carried
on—whether a defensive or offensive system should Le
adopted, and in either case what course should be pursued.
The former was open to weighty objections. It was clearly
impossible adequately to guard a line of open frontier,
extending seven hundred miles, at every assailable point ;
and the Nepalese would have it in their power to inflict
injury and loss upon their enemy with little hazard of
suffering retaliation. To maintain large hodies of troops
in the field would be attended with the same expense, in
whatever manner they might be employed ; and the cost
was likely to be heaviest in the end, if their inactivity was
productive of a tedious and harassing prolongation of
hostilities. It was also obviously advisable, not merely to
defend the British territory against actual aggression, but
to deprive the Gorkha government of the means of repeat-
ing their incursions, by contracting the limits of their

11t is dated Lucknow, lst of November, 1814; and is addressed to the
Powers in alliance and friendship with the Company.—Nepal Papers, 443.
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possessions, reducing their power, and humbling their BOOK 11,

ambition. The defensive system was thercfore discarded,
and it only remained to determine the plan of offensive
operations—an advance to Khatmandu with a concentrated
force ; or a simultaneous attack on different points of the
long line of the Gorkha conquests, throughout which the
recently subjugated people and chiefs were ready to fall
off from their oppressive rulers, and welcome and facilitate
the approach of the British troops. To this political
advantage was to be added the difficulty of moving large
bodies of troops in so rugged a country, of providing them
with supplies where the soil was so unproductive, and of
keeping up a communication witk the lowlands in conse-
quence of the deadly miasmata which render the forests
on the skirts of the hills utterly impassable during a con-
siderable portion of the year. It was, therefore, deter-
mined by Lord Moira to prefer the latter plan, and operat-
ing upon the Kali river, which severed the Gorkha posses-
sions nearly in two, as a centre, to direct his first efforts
against the western portion, whilst other divisions wero to
move against the eastern half, and advance into the valley
of Nepal.! With these viows four separate divisions were
formed which were to ascend the hills at as many places
as soon as the rains had sufficiently subsided to allow of
their forward movement.

The first of the divisions, comprising about 6,000 men,
under the command of Major-General Ochterlony, was
destined to attack the Qorkha positions at the western
extremity of their line. The second, 3,600 strong, com-
manded by Major-General Gillespie, was intended to
occupy Dehra Dian, a valley above the first range of hills,
and besiege Jytak, the principal fortress of the enemy in
the province of Gerhwal. The third division, of about

1 Lord Moira's Letter to the Chairman, 6th August, 1816.—Nepal Papers,
994. The military policy of the Court of Directors ditfered from that of his
Lordship. In their estimation, the preservation of British honour, and the
integrity of the territories might have been secured * by the employment of
one concentrated body of troups;” meaning, apparently in this place, their
employment on the defensive. In a subsequent paragraph they advocate a
similar mode of conducting offensive operations. * We are inclined to the
opinion, from the natnre of the resistance op] d by the enemy, that if,
instead of dividing our force into so many detachments, a concentrated attack
had been made, it might possibly have been the means of bringing the war to
a successful conclusion, without looking to the issue of a second campaign,”—
Political Letter to Bengal, 13th Oct., 1815. At a later date, the Court profess
their acknowledgment of the * wisdom of the plan on which Lord Moira had
acted.”—Political Letter to Bengal, 5th March, 1817; Ibid. 998,

CHAP. 1,

1814.
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BOOK 1. 4,500 troops, was placed under the orders of Major-General
cuar.1. John Sullivan Wood, and was to march from the Gorakh-

1814,

pur frontier through the long-disputed districts of:
Bhotwal and Sheoraj to Palpa. The fourth and most con-:
siderable division, comprehending nearly 8,000 men, com-.
manded by Major-General Marley, was' to make the most!

‘effectual impression on the enemy, and was to march.

through Makwanpur directly to Khatmandu. Arrange-:
ments were made at the same time for the defence of the
interjacent parts of the British frontigr by local corps;:
and at the south-eastern end of the line east of the Kusi:
River, Captain Latter, commanding the Rangpur local
battalion and a battalion of regular native infantry, was
directed to convert a defensive into an offensive attitude,-
should circumstances be favourable to the change. The
whole force amounted to more than 30,000 men, with 60
guns.! To oppose so formidable an armament, the Gorkhas

1 The details of the several divisions were as follows :—
1st Div. Artillery, European and Native . . ., .
Native infantry — (3nd battalion 1st,2nd battalion
6th, 2nd baitalion 3rd, lst battalion 19th, and

six companles of the 2nd battalion 19th) . . 4778

Ploneers . .+ . .+ . .+ . . 265
Ordnance, two 18-pounders, ten 6-pounders, four mortars ——— 5,998

and howitzers.

and Dlv.}?n:imery P L Y 4

950

M. b3rdReg. . . . . . . . 78
Native infantry——(1st battalion 6th, 1st battalion
17th, lst battalion 7th) . . o . . 2348

Ploneers . . . . . . ., . 133
Ordnance, two 12-pounders, eight 6-pounders, four —— 3,513

howitzers.
8rd Div. 8th Native cavalry e« e e« o .« 14
Artillery e e e e [ . 48
H.M.17thReg. . . « e . . .
Native infantry— (left wings of both battalions
of the 14th, 2nd battalion 17th, four companies .
2nd battalion, 8th and 2nd battalion 12th) . 2876
Pioneers e e e 0 e e 90
Ordnance four 6-pounders, three 3-pounders, four mortars —— - 4,494
b Dir. Aetiter
v. Artillery . . . , ., . .« . 868
HM 24thReg. . . . . . . . 907
Native infantry — (st battalion 18th, left wing
2nd battalion 22nd, 2nd battalion 15th, 3nd bat-
talion 25th, Ramgerh local battalion, Champaran
L.infantry) . . . . .
Pioneers [ TS « . 216
Ordnance, four 18-pounders, four 6-pounders, four —— 7,989
8-pounders, twelve mortars and howitzers.

Total sixty-eight guns,andmen . . . . . 21,99

Considerable reinforcements Joined the two first divislons, besides Irre-
gluln- troops and Native contingents, to the extent of above 13,000 men.—
epal Papers, 197, 433,



FORCES OF NEPAL. . 17

in the beginning of the war could not muster more than BOOK 1I.
12,000 regular troops, which were scattered along the cuae. 1.
extended length of their frontier. They were augmented
during the war by levies of local militia; but they were 1814
without discipline, imperfectly equipped, and were not
always well-affected to their rulers, as they were often

raised from the subjeots of the conquered hill states. A

fow forts, strongly situated, but in other respects of little
importance, commanded the principal passes of the moun-

tains, The main strength of the Gorkhas consisted in the

spirit of the government, the bravery and devotedness of

the regular troops, the impracticability of the country,

the inexperience of their adversaries in mountain w.

and their ignorance of the ground on which they were to

move, and of the character of the people with whom they

were to contend.

Major-General Gillespie’'s division was assembled at

Saharanpur on the 18th of October. On the following
day the advance, commanded by Lieut.-Colonel Carpenter,
proceeded by the Timli pass into the valley of the Dfin.
On the 22nd, Lieut.-Colonel Mawbey followed with the
main body, and occupied the town of Dehra, which gives
the valley its appellation. The Gorkhas fell back, as the
British advanced, to the fort of Nalapani, or Kalanga, a
small fort about five miles from Dehra, strongly posted to
a steep detached hill, six- hundred feet high, covered with
jungle. The summit was a table-land above half & mile in
length; and at the further extremity stood the fort, a
stone quadrangular building of no great extent, but en-
larged and strengthened by stockades. It was garrisoned
by a body of six hundred Gorkhas, commanded by Bal-
bhadra Sing, whom Amar Sing Thapa, the military governor
of the western districts, had selected for his intrepidity to
encounter the first onset of the enemy.

Lieut.-Colonel Mawbey, having marched upon Kalanga, -
summoned the garrison to surrender. An answer of
defiance was returned to the summons,’ and an attack was
in consequence made upon the fort on the 24th October,

With infinite labour guns were carried up the hill, and a

1 The letter was delivered to Balbhadra Sing late at s‘lglht: he observed,
that it was not his habit to carry on a correspondence atsuch an unseasonable
hour, but that he should shortly pay the writer a visit in his camp.

VOL. 1I. [V
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BOOK II. battery was constructed ; but the place appearing to be
cuar.1. too strong to be taken by these means, Colonel Mawbey

1814.

suspended proceedings and awaited the orders of his
superior. General Gillespie immediately moved with the
remainder of the force, and joined the advance on the 26th.
Heavy guns were brought up, a battery was erected, and
preparations were made to carry the fort by storm. The
assault took place on the 31st.

The troops had been distributed in four columns of
attack and a reserve ; and it was intended that the former
should move against the several faces of the fort at the
same moment, upon a sigual being fired from the battery.
Three of the columns, having to make a circuit of some
distance over very rugged ground, marched before -day-
break, but had not reached their appointed destinations
at 8 AM, when the signal-gun was fired. It was not
heard by them.! In the mean time a sortie was made by
the garrison, which was repelled by the remaining column ;
and General Gillespie, thinking that the retreating enemy
niight be followed into their own intrenchment by a brisk
and vigorous pursuit, ordered the column, together with
the reserve and a company of the 8th, or Royal Irish dis-
mounted dragoons, to hasten forward and carry the place
by escalade. The troops advanced steadily to the foot of
the wall: but the commandant, besides manning the ram-
parts, had placed a gun in an outwork protecting the gate-
way in ‘such a way as to enfilade the wall upon that side ;
the fire from which beat down the pioneers before the
ladders could be applied, and destroyed the leading files
of the assailants. Foiled in their attempt to scale the
wall, which had sustained no damage from the previous
fire of the battery, the men attempted to force the out-
work and carry the gate. They were received with such a
heavy fire, and suffered so severely, that it was found ne-

t According to Prinsep, (History of the Administration of the Marquis of
Haastings, i, 88,) Gillespie’s impatience anticignted the time proposed for the
Joint assault, which was ten o'clock. Major Thorn, in his Memoir of General
Gillesple, says the time was to have been two hours after the signal, which
was fired at seven. Mr. Fraser says that the signal was given some hours
before the time intended, and was not heard, probably because it was unex-
pected.—Travels in the Himalaya. In Colonel Mawbey's official report, it is -
said that the signal was fired at eight o’clock, two hours after which was the
time for tho assanlt. He also states that it was nut heard by Major Kelly,
Captain Fast, or Captain Campbell, commanding the other columns of attack,
~—Nepal Papers, 439,
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cessary to draw them off to the shelter of some huts at a BOOK 1I.
little distance from the fort. Although the other columns cuar. 1.
had not yet come into action, General Gillespie, irritated
by the repulse which had been sustained, persisted in re- 1814,
newing the attempt, declaring aloud his determination to

carry the fort or lose his life. Accordingly, he placed
himself at the head of three fresh companies of the 53rd
regiment and of the dragoons, and led them again towards

the gate of the fort. When within range of the enemy’s
matohlocks, the men of the 63rd hung Back.! The Gene-

ral, in advance of the line, in vain called on them to follow

him ; and, while waving his aword to encourage them to

come on, he was shot through the heart, and immediately
expired. His aide-de-camp, Lieut, O’Hara, was killed by

his side ; Captain Byers, the Brigade-Major, was wounded ;

and many of the dragoons, by whom the General had been
bravely seconded, were killed or wounded® The fall of .
General Gillespie completed the discouragement of the

men, and a retreat was ordered. One of the other co-
Jumns, that which was commanded by Captain Campbell,
arrived in time to cover the retreat. The loss had been,

for the duration of the service, considerable : the temper

of the men was unfavourable ; little prospect existed of
carrying the fort by assault ; and, as the guns were insuf-
ficient to effect a breach, Colonel Mawbey, on whom the
command devolved, deemed it prudent to return to Dehra,

and there await the arrival of a ba.ttenng-tmn from
Delhi. :

The requisite ordnance having been received on the

24th of November, the army moved on the following day

once more against Kalanga. A battery of 18-pounders

was constructed, and a practicable breach was effécted by

noon of the 27th. The storming party, consisting of the
grenadier company and one battalion company of the

63rd, and the grenadier companies of the 6th, 7th, and

13th Native infantry regiments, covered by the light

! The men of this regiment were in a discontented and sullen mood, con-
celving themselves to have been overworked by the unnecessary repetition of

parade exercise.

3 The total loss was five officers and twenty-seven. privates kllled. ﬂnun
officers and two hundred and thirteen privates woun Besides Gen
Gillesple and Lieutenant O’Hara, the officers killed were Lieutenant Goslin‘,
Light Battalion, Ensign l"otllerglll, 17th N.L ; and Ensign Ellis, Pioneers.
Of the hundred dragoons, four were killed and fifty wounded.
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BOOK 1I. infantry of the 53rd, and supported by the rest of the

OHAP. 1.

1814.

force, was commanded to advance, The assailants were
ordered to move with their muskets unloaded, and to

carry the breach by the bayonet alone ; — an order which

seems to have been ill-timed, as after the previous re-
pulse, and in the prevailing disposition of the soldiery,
confidence in their display of that calm courage and des-
perate determination which such a method of attack im-
plies, could scarcely have been warranted. Either from
the discouraging 'influence of this order, or from causes
unexplained, the troops, although they moved without
hesitation to the breach, manifested little resolution or
perseverance in their attempts to force an entrance into
the fort. They suffered considerable loss on their ap-
proach ; and, on arriving at the breach, they found that
within it was a precipitous descent of about fourteen feet,
at the foot of which stood a part of the garrison, armed
with spears and sharp-pointed arrows, supported by
another portion, provided with matchlocks and various
missiles. After a feeble effort, the assailants recoiled, and
drew off to a short distance from the wall; where they
remained for two hours, exposed to a heavy fire and an
unceasing shower of arrows and stones. The example and
instigations of their officers were in vain exerted to ani-
mate them to a second attack ; and, finding that their
backwardness was insurmountable, it became necessary
to withdraw them from their position. They were ac-
cordingly recalled, after sustaining serious loss.!

The project of carrying the fort of Kalanga by assault
was now relinquished, and recourse was had to a bombard-
ment, which was attended with almost immediate success,
The fortress, which was little more than an open enclosure
within stone walls, afforded no shelter to the besieged, and
speedily became untenable, In the course of three days
the place was strewn over with the killed, the stench
from whose unburied bodies became iutolerable ; and the
commandant abandoned the place with no more than
seventy survivors out of the six hundred of whom his

! Four officers and thirty-three privates were kllled, seven officers and six
Aundred and thirty-six privates were wounded. The officers killed were
Captain Campbell, 6th N.I.; Lieutenant Harrington, his Majesty’s 53rd; anud

Lieutenant Luxford, Horse' Artillery. As observed by Prinsep, the British
loss exceeded the number of the Gorkha garrison.
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garrigson had been composed. Balbhadra Sing effected his BOOK II.
escape unperceived, and joined a detachment of three cuar.1.

hundred fresh troops which had been sent to his relief,
but had been unable to make their way through the Bri-
tish posts. The party was pursued by Major Ludlow,
who, by great activity, came upon them suddenly on the
night of the 1st of December. A brief but smart action
took place, in which the Sipahis in some degree redeemed
their reputation, and put the Gorkhas to the rout. The
enemy disappeared among the recesses of the mountains,
and their pursuers returned to camp. The fort of Ka-
langa was demolished.!

The repeated checks and the heavy loss suffered at
Kalanga gave an entirely new aspect to the war, The as-
sailants had been unprepared for such resolute resistance,
and, from the evidence which the siege had afforded of
the extraordinary gallantry of the enemy, learned to look
forward with diminished confidence to the result of sub-
sequent conflicts. On the other hand, the Gorkhas were
highly elated by the glory of having, with a mere handful
of men, so long kept at bay a well-appointed and nume-
rous body of their foes, and of having made them pur-
chase an insignificant intrerchment with the death of
many distinguished officers, and the fall of a celebrated
commander. The moral effect on the minds of both
parties was a principal cause of the protracted continuance
of the war. Nor was the loss of time, considered in
itself, an evil of slight moment, as it had deranged the
whole plan of the campaign. The result was the more to
be regretted, as it was obvious that it might have been
easily avoided, and that, had the assailants condescended
at first to employ the powerful means which European
science placed in their hands, and, instead of rushing
headlong against stone walls, effectively demolished them,
or driven out those whom they sheltered, reputation and
life would not have been unprofitably sacrificed. Theim-
petuosity of General Gillespie frustrated his own designs ;
and his daring courage, failing to awaken a corresponding
ardour in his followers, proved fatal to himself and mis-
chievous to his country. His death was, however, in

1 For the officinl reports of the occurrences before Kalanga, bee Nepal
Papers, pp. 460, 490.

1814.
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BOOK IL harmony with the whole course of his life; and, if he
onar.1.  exhibited some want of the prudent foresight and steady

self-possession required in a commander, he displayed that

1814,  digdain of danger in the discharge of his duty which con-

stitutes one of the highest qualifications of a soldier.!

During the interval that elapsed before the repetition of
the attack on Kalanga, Colonel Mawbey detached Lieut.-
Colonel Carpenter with his division to a position on the
right bank of the Jumna, where he might command the
fords of the river, and intercept the communication be-
tween the Gorkha commanders in the east and west. The
same position was favourable for his giving aid to the hill
tribes, should any of them show a disposition to rise and
throw off the Gorkha yoke. The people of Jounsar. in
consequence took up arms, and so much alarmed the
Gorkha garrison of Barat, a stronghold in the mountains,
that they hastily evacuated a fort which could not have
been reduced without trouble and loss. After the capture
of Kalanga, Colonel Mawbey was direoted to march to the
westward into the adjacent Dn, or valley, of Karda, in
order to carry out so much of the original plan as to effect
the co-operation of the division with that under the com-
mand of Colonel Ochterlony. The force descended into
the lowlands, to avoid the ridge separating the Dehra
from the Karda Dén, and returning northwards entered
the latter by the pass of Moganand. On the 19th of
December the division was within seven miles of Nfhan,
the capital of the small state of Sirmor,the Raja of which
had been dispossessed by the Gorkhas. Their army in
this quarter was commanded by Ranjor Sing Thapa, the
son of Amar Sing, whose head-quarters were at Jytdk, a
fort on the top of a mountain lying north from the town,
strongly situated in an angle where two mountain ridges
met, and perched at the height of five thousand feet above
the level of the sea. On the 20th of December, the force
was joined by Major-General Martindell, who had been ap-
pointed to the command.?

t
by O e e i o s Mo
sttt % s e, o oo
fort remains.—Memoir of General Gillespie, s"is?uniay-.‘sﬂw'ﬁ:' ?f 'i.n'dtl':

1. 192; Moorcroft’s Travels, .46,
3 Nepal Papers, 498,
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. After occupying the town of N&han, General Martindell BOOK I1,
moved to the foot of the range, on the highest peak of cuar.1.

which the fort of Jytak was placed ; the approach to it
was defended by stockades at various heights ; the ascent
was rough and difficult, as the hills rose throughout the
whole acclivity by steep and abrupt elevations, separated
by loose crumbling soil, and deep and precipitous ravines,
and afforded no level ground for the evolutions of regular
troops. The position having been carefully reconnoitred,
it appeared that the garrison depended for their supply of
water upon wells situated exteriorly to the fort, and some
way below it ; and the General consequently resolved to
make an attempt to cut off the supply, and at the same
time dispossess the enemy of a strongly stockaded post,
erected for its defence about a mile to the west of the
fortress. With this intention two columns were formed :
one, under Major Ludlow, to move against the post on the
left and nearest side ; the other, under Major Richards, to
make a détour, and assail the stockade in the rear. The
effect of the combined attack was disappointed ; and the
two columns, being successively overpowered by a superior
force, were compelled to retreat.

The party under Major Richards left the camp at mid-
night.! They had a march to make of sixteen miles, by
paths rarely admitting two men abreast. It was eight
o'clock in the morning before they reached the foot of the
hill on which they were to establish themselves ; and they
halted till ten, to allow the whole of the men to join and
rest. They then ascended the mountain, and, having
geined the summit, advanced to within three hundred
yards of the fort of Jytak. The enemy offered no oppo-
gition, being at the time engaged with their other as-
sailants.

The division commanded by Major Ludlow? marched an
hour later than the column under Major Richards, but,
having a much shorter interval to traverse, came earlier
in contact with the Gorkhas. Their picquets. were en-

1 It conaisted of the 1st battalion of the 13th N.I., the light companies of
his Majesty’s 53rd, and 7th, 26th, and 27th N. L, and of a8 company of ploneers.
The companies were weak, and the whole mustered little more than six hun-
dred strong.—Nepal Papers, 504.

3 It was formed of & grenadier oompmﬁ of the 53rd, three companies of
the light battalion, and nine of the 6th N.I., with a company of ploneers,
mustering about nine hundred.—Ibid, .

1814,
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BOOK 1I. countered about three in the morning, and driven back.
cuar.1.  The column advanced to the summit of a hill, on which

1814

stood the ruined village and temple of Jamta, from which
the leading files, consisting of the grenadiers of his Ma-
jesty's 53rd, dislodged a small Gorkha post. Elated by
their success, and attributing the retreat of the enemy to
fear, the grenadiers insisted upon being led against a
stockade at no great distance, and apparently of no for-
midable strength. Conceiving that it might be carried by
a vigorous attack, Major Ludlow permitted the attempt
to be made, and the advance rushed onward without wait-
ing till the whole of the detachment had come up and
could be formed. The Gorkha commander, Juspao Thapa,
was prepared for their reception, As soon as the first
firing was heard, he had been detached from Jytak with
the main body of the garrison, and had stationed them
not only behind the stockade, but on the commanding
points of the hills on either flank ; so that when the as-
sailants reached the foot of tho stockade, a sudden and
destructive fire was poured upon them from every quarter.
Before they could recover from the disorder thus occa-
sioned, they were charged by superior numbers, sword in
hand, and driven back in confusion to the point at Jamta,
whence they had so confidently advanced. The Native
troops wore still in disarray, and, having but few Euro-
pean officers to keep them steady,! they gave the fugitives
no support ; on the contrary, sharing in the disorder, and
struck with panic, they fled precipitately down the hill,
closely chased by the Gorkhas, who inflicted sovere loss
with their semicircular and heavy swords. The pursuit
was, however, arrested by tho necessity of returning to
encounter the more successful advance of Major Richards.
The British detachment, completely disorganised, regain-
ed the camp by ten o’clock.?

The garrison of Jytak, having thus so easily disposed of
one attack, proceeded with augmented confidence and
courage to get rid of the other; but some interval elapsed
before they were in a condition to resume offensive opera-

1 There were but three officers with the nine companies of the 13th N.I.

2 Licutenaut Munt of the st N. I. was Killed, three officers were wounded 5
thlrty&:;? Europeans and one hundred and twenty natives were killed and
woul :
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tions. In the mean time, Major Richards had accom- BOOK 11
plished the duty entrusted to him, and had taken up a cnar. 1
station which, approaching the fort and commanding the
wells, must soon have straitened the garrison and acceler- 1814
ated their surrender. It was therefore of vital importance
to Ranjor Sing to dislodge the English before they should
be strengthened sufficiently to render the attempt hope-
less. At one o’clock he descended from the fort with all
his available force, and with intrepid resolution. The
detachment stood its ground bravely, and the Gorkhas
were repulsed. They renewed their attacks and displayed
the greatest courage, advancing to the very muzzles of the
muskets, and endeavouring to hew down their opponents
with their swords. The struggle was continued for six
hours, until it grew dark, and the ammunition of the
Sipahis began to fail — so that they were obliged at last to
defend themselves with stones. At seven in the evening a
message was received from General Martindell, com-
manding the detachment to rotreat. Irevious messages
of the same tenor had been despatched, but the mes-
sengers had been intercepted. Although confident, if
furnished with supplies, of being able to maintain his
position, Major Richards found himself obliged to comply
with the QGeneral’s positive orders, and commenced a
retreat under the most unpropitious circumstances, from
the nature of the ground and the exhaustion of the men.,
Moving slowly in single file along narrow, rough, and pre-
cipitous paths, the whole must have fallen a sacrifice to an
enemy familiar with the locality, and experienced in
mountain warfare, had not the retreat been covered with
singular devotedness by Lieut. Thackeray and the light
company of the 26th N.I. The whole Gorkha force was
kept in check and repeatedly repulsed by this officer and
his small party, until he and his next in command,
Ensign Wilson, and many of the men, were killed. The
retreating body wero then overtaken by the Gorkhas, but
they had nearly cleared the most difficult and exposed
portions of their path; and although much confusion
ensued, and many of the officers and men were separated
from the column, yet most of them subsequently found
their way to camp, and the loss proved less serious than
there was reason at first to apprehend. The darkness of
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BOOK II. the night and the ruggedness of the surface were as un-
cuap.1. favourable for pursuit as for flight, and the Gorkha

general did not care to commit his men too far beyond

1814,  the vicinity of the fortress.! '

It was admitted by the Governor-General that the
object proposed by General Martindell was highly impor-
tant, and justified an effort for its attainment ; and the
judiciousness of the plan was proved by its partial suc-
cess, It is evident, however, that serious mistakes were
committed in its execution. The movements of the di-
visions must have been ill concerted to have allowed an
interval of so many hours between attacks intended to
have been simultaneous ; and the omission of any arrange-
ments to succour or support Major Richards — the absence
apparently of all knowledge of his proceedings — indicated
a want of common activity and precaution, The failure of
the entire project was, however, mainly owing to the
unsteadiness of the Native troops of Major Ludlow’s
division, and that may in a great degree be ascribed to a
deficiency of European officers.? This repulse, also had a
most mischievous effect upon the progress of the cam-
paign, as General Martindell did not think himself compe-
tent to resume offensive measures until he was rein-
forced ; and military operations in this quarter were con-
sequently arrested.

The campaign further to the west, where General
Ochterlony was opposed by the most celebrated of the
Gorkha leaders, Amar Sing Thapa, although not unche-

! Three officers were killed—Lieutenant Thackeray, and Ensigns Wilson
and Stalkard; five were wounded. Of the men, seventy were killed, two
hundred and twenty-eight wounded ; forty of the light company of thg 26th
and & Subahdar were taken, but were released by Ranjor Sing on conditlon of
not serving again during the war. '

3 Prinsep says, the disasters of the day were owing solely to the irretriev-
able errur of Major Ludlow, in allowing himself to attempt the stockade before
he had formed his men and securcd the post he was intended to occupy. He
admits, however, that Jamta mlght have been held if the force had been ade-
quately officered. 1. 108. Mr. Fraser and General Martindell,in his report,
affirm that the officer in command did all in his power to restrain the im-
petuosity of the men, and prevent their rushing against the stockade in ad-
vance. Both Prinsep and Fraser intimate that Richards might have been
fagoons pouiton ho had gained.  Acooniing to General Martindells peport,
m"i&w was to hlve‘.beon ‘aceomptn\eg by some artillery for the. urpose
of throwing shot and shells into the stockade ; but the guns, as well as the
spare ammunition, were left behind, not being ready to move with the de-
tachment. - * Had I known this,” he adds, ** I should have certainly counter-

manded the mlrch.”—Nlmml Papers, 504, It was fortunate that the guns
‘were not carried up the hill, to have served as trophies to the victors.
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quered by disaster, was unsullied by disgrace, and was BOOK II.
equally honourable to both the combatants. The scene onar.1.

of action was a rugged country, inclosed in the angle
which is traced by the Setlej river, where it turns ab-
ruptly from a westerly to a southerly course, From the
left bank of the southern arm of the stream rises a suc-
cession of lofty mountains, which run in an oblique direc-
tion towards the south-east, and are separated into nearly
perallel ranges by rivers, which, springing from their
summits, work themselves a passage at their base into
the bed of the Setlej. On three of the ranges the Gorkha
general had constructed the forts of Nalagerh, Ramgerh,
and Malaun, — stone structures, the approaches to which,
sufficiently arduous by the steepness and irregularity of
the hills, were rendered still more difficult by strong
timber stockades. Beyond the third range, and upon the
bank of the Setlej, stood Bilaspur, the capital of the
Bilaspur Raja, who remained faithful to the Gorkha
cause, and kept Amar Sing well supplied with both pro-
visions and men. On this side of the mountains lay the
petty Réj of Hindur, and its capital Paldsi. The Raja of
Hindur was the hereditary enemy of the Raja of Bilaspur,
and had suffered much oppression from the Nepalese.
He, therefore, became the willing ally of the British, and
rendered them valuable service. North-east frorn Malaun,
about thirty miles, was situated the town of Arki, the
head-quarters of Amar Sing.

General Ochterlony’s division ascended the hills at the
end of October, and on the 2nd of November arrived
before the first and lowest of the mountain ridges occupied
by the Gorkhas, Here stood the fort of Nalagerh, with
the outwork of Taragerh, higher up the hill, commanding
the entrance into the mountains. The posts were incon-
siderable, both as to extent and strength, and were not
numerously garrisoned. With much labour the guns were
raised to an elevation whence they could be brought to
play effectively upon the walls of the fort; and, by the
4th, batteries were opened, whioh did such execution,
that, on the 6th, the garrison, despairing of successful
resistance, surrendered. Taragerh was at the same time
given up.! ' . ‘

! Nepal Papers, 453,

1814,
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From the summit of the pass of Nalagerh, but towering
far above it, rising to an elevation of four thousand six
hundred feet above the sea, appeared the mountain on
which the fort of Ramgerh was situated. As soon as Amar
Sing was apprised of General Ochterlony’s advance, he had
marched thither, from Arki, with a force of about three
thousand regular troops, and had encamped on the ridge.
The Gorkha right rested upon the fort ; the left about
two miles distant, upon a strongly stockaded hill; and
stockades protected the intervals along their front. After
a careful examination of the position of the Gorkhas, it
appeared to the cautious and experienced judgment of the
British commander that the nature of the ground pre-
cluded an attack in front; and, having recvived informa-
tion that the northern face of the range was less broken
and precipitous, he resolved to turn the left of the enemy,
and assail their position from the rear. He, therefore,
moved to the heights of Nahar, an eminence seven miles
north-east from Ramgerh, commanding & complete view
of the Gorkha lines. As this seemed to be the most
assailable point of their defences, General Ochterlony
determined to erect batteries against it. A road over the
hills for the conveyance of the heavy ordnance from
Nalagerh was constructed with great labour; in accom-
plishing which, twenty days were consumed. When the
battery opened, it was found to be too distant to fire
with effect, and a position more within the range of the
guns was therefore to be sought for, A small party under
the engincer officer, Lieutenant Lawtie, sent to explore
the ground neaver to the stockade, had selected an eleva-
tion fit for their purpose, and were on their returh to
camp, when they were surrounded by a numerous body of
Gorkhas, by whom their movements had been observed,
and who came down in great strength to intercept their
retreat. Availing themselves of a small stone enclosure,
the party defended themselves with steady resolution
until the failure of their ammunition compelled them to
give way: some reinforcements, sent from the battery,
shared in their discomfiture ; and the whole were routed
with much loss before their retreat was covered by a
strong detachment despatched to_their succour from the
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camp.! The affair was of little moment, except from its BOOK 11

tendency to confirm the confidence, and animate the omar.1. .

courage, of the enemy.
Notwithstanding the check thus sustained, General 1814,

Ochterlony persisted in his plan of carrying the stockaded

works of Ramgerh, when news of the second repulse at

Kalanga arrived ; and anticipating the moral effects of

this disaster, both upon his own troops and those of his

antagonist, he considered it prudent to suspend offensive

operations until his strength should preclude the possi-

bility of failure. He therefore applied for reinforcements,

and, while awaiting their arrival, employed himself in ex-

tending his information, and improving his means of

offence. The mountain countries forming the first steps

of the Himalaya range, had hitherto been unvisited by

Europeans ; and scenes, destined at no remote period to

become their peaceable and familiar haunts, were now for

the first time to be explored by them for the purposes of

war. It was of indispensable necessity to ascertain the topo-

graphy of the adjacent regions, the base on which the move-

ments of the Gorkha general rested, the sources whence

his supplies were drawn, and the expedients by which the

latter might be cut off. Roads were also to be made prao-

ticable for artillery, as well as for troops ; and something

1 Lieutenant Willlams commanding the reinforcement was killed ; seventy
Sipahis were killed and wounded.—Nepul Papers. Prinsep says the whole
y wac surrounded, and oblrlgetl to cut their way through the enemy.—
m:«:uom. &ec., 1. 107. According to Fraser, the chlof cause of the disaster
was the defective construction of the cartouch-boxes, by which they could not
be turned so as to render the cartridgesin the under part of the box available
when those in the upper part were expended, A cessation of the firing being
thus caused, the Gorkhas rushed in and put the Sipahis to the rout.—Tour in
the Himalayas, 18. The author of Military Sketches of the Gorkha War, an
eyewitness, attributes the defcat to the misconduct of the troops. According
to him, the party, having reached a neighbouring eminence without molesta-
tion, came suddenly upon a breastwork, from which a heavy fire was opened
upon them. ‘The men, in obedience to the commands of their officer, rushed
forward aud dislodged the Gorkhas with great gallantry; but when the latter
were reinforced, and * came back in superior numbers, the Sipahis could not
be prevented from wasting their ammaunition by keeping up a useless fire,
The upper layer of their cartridges being expended, some voices called out
for a retreat, alleging that they would not have time to turn thelir boxes. The
place appeared tenable with the bayonet; the Gorkhas were, however, now
at hand, and arguments, threats, and entreaties, proved equally vain; our
men broke in confusion, and-turned their backs; the enemy, plunging among
the fugitives, cut to pieces all whom their swords could reach. At this timea
small reinforcement, all that could be spared from the battery, was ascending
the hill, under Lieutenant Williams of the 3rd N, I. It appeared the intention
of that young officer to throw his party between Lawtie’s and their ‘K‘urmn.
but he had the mortification to see his Seapoys turn about and join flight,
Just before he perished himself.”—8Sketches, &c., p. 9. :
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BOOK 1II. like organisation was to be given to the irregular levies of
ouar.1.  the adherents to the British cause. In these occupations

1814,

27 Dec.

a month was advantageously spent ; when, the force being
joined by the 2nd battalion of the 7th N. I, with a train of
field artillery, and by a Sikh levy, General Ochterlony
immediately resumed active operations, On the day
following their junction, Colonel Thompson was despatched
to prosecute the plan of spreading along the enemy’s rear,
and iutercepting his communications with Arki and
Bilaspur, by occupying the Dibu hills, a low range on the
north-east of Ramgerh. A lodgement was effected ; the
consequences of which being distinctly comprehended by
the Gorkha general, he made a desperate but a fruitless
effort to drive the detachment from its mew position,
The division was attacked at dawn of the 28th with so
much impetuosity, that some of the enomy forced their
way into the camp. The difficulties of the ground, how-
ever, impeded their concentration; and the resolution
with which the attack was received, completed their dis-
comfiture. They returned to their position in connection
with the fort of Ramgerh, but changed their front so as to
oppose the British, now upon their north ; their right, as
before, resting upon the fort. On the other hand, General
Ochterlony, leaving a division under Brigadier Arnold to
watch the enemy’s movements, marched in a direction
which was to place him on the north of the last range of
hills between Malaun and the Setlej. On the 6th of
Jamm.ry he ascended the bed of the Gambhira river, and,
crossing the mountains on which Malaun was situated,
took post at Battoh, on the north bank of another moun-
tain stream, the Gamrom, nearly opposite to the centre of
the range, sending forward two thousand Hinduris under
Captain Ross to occupy thé heights above Bilaspur. This
movement effected his object. Amar Sing, alarmed for
the security of the communications upon which his being
able to maintain his mountain posts depended, withdrew
his main body from Ramgerh, and, leaving a garrison in
tho fort, concontrated his force on the ridge of Malaun,
Colonel Arnold, in consequence of his retreat, moved
round the opposite extremity of the ridge to co-operate
with General Ochterlony on its northern base; and after
marching through a very rough country, in which he was



MALAUN INVESTED.

31

further delayed by a heavy fall of snow, he turned the BOOK 11
north-western extremity of the line, and there received cuar. 1

the submission of the Government of Bilaspur, as well as
possession of the fort of Ratangerh, divided only by a
deep and extensive hollow from Malaun. A detachment,
under Lieut-Colonel Cooper, dislodged the Gorkhas from
Ramgerh and other posts which they had continued to
hold to the south, and then advanced to co-operate with
the main body. These subsidiary movements, with the
state of the country, and the severity of the season, pre-
vented the completion of the investment of Malaun until
the 1st of April. In the mean time, the armies acting at
the eastern extremity of the line of oporations had been
engaged with the enemy, but had made littlo progress
towards accomplishing the objects of the campaign.

CHAPTER II

Operations of the Third Division. — March from Gorakh-
pur.—Stockade of Jitpur,—Attacked,—Attack repulsed.—
General Wood falls back, —remains on the defensive.—
Frontier harassed on both sides. — Return of Force to
Cantonments, — Operations of the Fourth Division.—
Advanced Detachment under Major Bradshaw. — Gorkha
Posts surprised.— Parsuram Thapa killed. — Tirai con-
quered. — March of Main Body delayed. — Outposts at
Samanpur and Parsa, —Surprised by the Gorkhas,—
Great Alarm among the T'roops.— General Marley re-
treats,— Reinforced, — Leaves his Camp. — General G.
Wood appointed to the Command. — Defeat of a Gorkha
Detackment. — Gorkhas abandon the Tirai.— Division
broken up, — Troops cantoned on the Frontier. — Success
of Major Latter's Detackment. — Alliance with the Raja
of Sikim. — Invasion of Kamaon.— Colonel Gurdner's
Suocess, —Captain Hearsay defeated and taken.— Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Nicolls sent to Kamaon.— Gorkhas under
Hasti-dal defeated.— Stockaded Hill of Situuli carried.
— Almora surrendered. — Kamaon and Gerwhal ceded.
— Fort of Jytak blockaded. — Operations against
Malaun, — Positions of Ryla and Deothal carried.—The
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latter strengthened, — Attacked by Amar Sing.— Valour
of the Gorkhas,— Their Repulse.— Bhakti Sing Thapa
killed. — Garrison evacuate Malaun.— Amar Sing capi-
tulates.— The Country West of the Jumna ceded to the
British. — Negotiations for Peace.— Conditions imposed.
— Delays of the Gorkha Envoys.— Insincerity of the
Court.— Hostilities renewed. — General Ocliterlony com~
mands. — Operations. — Churia-ghati Pass ascended.—
Action of Makwanpur.— Nepal Envoys arrive.— Peace
‘concluded,— Conditions.— Objections to the War,— To
the Mode of carrying it on,— Considered.— Votes of
Thanks.— Results of the War.

HE third division of the British forces, commanded
by Major-General J. 8. Wood, was assembled at
Gorakhpur early in November, but was not ready to take
the field before the middle of December. The destination
of the division was the district of Palpa, lying beyond
Bhotwal, and accessible by a difficult mountain pass,
Being informed that the pass was strongly stockaded, but
that it might be turned bya different route, General Wood
marched on the 3rd of January to reconnoitre the stockade
of Jitpur, which was situated at the foot of the Majkote
hills, one mile west of Bhotwal, which it would be neces-
sary to carry. Detaching Major Comyn with seven
companies to turn the left flank of the position, the
General himself proceeded with twenty-one companies to
attack it in front and on the right. The latter detach- .
ment had expected, on clearing a wood through which lay
their. march, to come out upon an open plain at some
distance from the stockade; but the information was

. either erroneous or deceptive, as the General, with his

staff and part of the advance, found themselves, upon
emerging from the thicket, unexpectedly within fifty
paces of the defences. A heavy and galling fire was at once
opened upon them, which was followed by a sortie of the
garrison. The arrival of ‘the head of the column pre-
served them from destruction, and the Gorkhas were driven
back. The main body then attacked the works in front,
while one company of H. M.’s 17th, under Captain Croker,
carried a hill to the right which commanded the enemy’s
stockade. Major Comyn meanwhile effected a passage
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between the stockade and Bhotwal, and approached the BOOK 1I.
eminefice on which the latter was situated. There ap- onar. 1.
peared to be every reasonable probability of success,
when General Wood, apprehensive that it would be impos-  1815.
sible to drive the Gorkhas from the thickets at the back
of the stockade, the possession of which rendered the post
untenable, determined to prevent what he considered a
fruitless waste of lives, by commanding a retreat.! Nor
did his distrust of his chances of success here terminate,
Conceiving his force to be inadequate to offensive opera-
tions, he confined his measures to arrangements for the
defence of the frontier, concentrating his force at Lautan,
covering the road to Gorakhpur : the border line was, how-
ever, too extensive and too vulnerable to be thus pro-
tected ; and the Gorkhas penetrated repeatedly at various,
points, inflicting serious injury, and spreading alarm
throughout the whole tract. As the division moved to
repress inocursions in one direction, they took place in
another, The town of Nichoul was burnt to ashes, and at
one time Gorakhpur was scarcely considered to be safe.
Reinforcements were supplied ; but no better plan could be
devised for counteracting the irruptions of the enemy
than the retributive destruction of the crops in the low-
lands belonging to them, and the removal of the population
of the British territory to a greater distance from the
hills.

After harassing his troops by unavailing marches against
an enemy whose activity eluded pursuit, and retaliating
upon the Gorkhas by wasting their fields and burning their
villages, General Wood was compelled by the injunctions
of the Commander-in-Chief to undertake a forward move-
ment, and attempt the ocoupation of the town of Bhotwal,
Having advanced to that place in the middle of April, he
made some ineffectual demonstrations against it, and then
returned to the plains. As exposure to the insalubrity of
the climate had begun to affect the health of the troops,
they were withdrawn in the beginning of May into canton-
_ments at Gorakhpur. '

The chief reliance of Lord Moira for the success of the
entire plan of the campaign rested upon the division

1 In this affair several officers were wounded, of whom Lieutenant Morri-
pon, of the Engineers, died of his wounds.

VOL. 1L D
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BOOK 1L which was to be directed against the Gorkha capital. The
cnap.ar troops were assembled at Dinapore, and commenced their

1813,

march towards Bettia on the 23rd of November. A local
‘corps, the Ramgerh battalion, had been previously detached
under Major Roughsedge, to join Major Bradshaw, com-
manding un the frontier of Saran. Thus reinforced, Major
Bradshaw proceeded ‘to clear the frontier forests of the
Gorkha posts. He moved on the night of the 24th of
November, with three companies of the 15th N.L, two
companies of the Champaran light infantry, and a troop
of Gardner’s irregular horse, to Barharwa, a plain on the
west bank of the Bhagmati river, where Parsuram Thapa,
the governor of the district, was encamped with four
hundred men. The surprise was complete ; and, although
the Nepalese behaved with their usual intrepidity, they
were entirely routed. Their commander was killed, with
fifty of his men, and many were drowned in the Bhagmati.
One officer, Lieutenant Boileau, commanding the Com-
missioners’ escort, was wounded in a personal encounter
with a Gorkha chief, who fell by his hand. Detachments
under Captain Hay and Lieutenant Smith took possession
of the post of Baragerhi and Parsa, in advance of Bar-
harwa, without opposition, and the tract known as the
Tirai was occupied, and annexed by proclamation to the
British territories.! :

The main army arrived at Pachraota on the frontier on
the 12th of December, and the remainder of the month
waa spent in preliminary arrangements for ascending the
hills, and in waiting for the junction of the battering-
train ; a delay which was contrary to the tenor of General
Marley’s instructions, as it was intended that he should
leave the guns in the rear until he had established a solid
footing in advance. ' This suspension of operations al-
lowed the Gorkhas time to recover from the alarm which
had been spread among them by the defeat and death of
Parsuram Thapa ; and they were emboldened to undertake
an enterprise, the successful execution of which had a
material influence in paralysing the movements of the.
division, and frustrating the purposes of its equipment.

With a view to preserve the occupation of the Tirai
until the arrival of the main body, Major Bradshaw had

} Nepal Papers, 307,
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stationed Captain Hay, with the head-quarters of the BOOK 1I.
Champaran light infantry, at Baragerhi; Captain Black- cuae. 11,

ney, with the left wing of the second battalion of the
22nd light infantry, at Samenpur, about twenty miles
on his right; Captain Sibley, with about five hundred
men, at Parsa, about as many miles on Captain Hay’s
left. General Marley encamped near Lautan, two miles
west of Baragerhi. The outposts at Samanpur and Parsa
were unsupported, and no precautions were taken to
secure either position by temporary defences, although they
were situated in the immediate proximity of the enemy,
who, as the month advanced, began to exhjbit signs of
increasing activity. This negligence, originating in an
undue contempt of the Gorkha detachments, was signally
punished. Both posts were attacked by the Gorkhas in
force on the 1st of January. Captain Blackney was taken
completely by surprise, and, with his second in command,
was slain at the first onset. The tents were set on fire,
and the troops were killed or dispersed, with the excep-
tion of a foew, who were kept together by Lieut. Strettell,
and conducted to Gorasahan. At Parsa, Captain Sibley
had suspected an approaching attack, and applied for re-
inforcements. Four companies of the 15th N.I. were
consequently detached on the evening of the 3lst, but
they arrived only in time to cover the retreat of the fugi-
tives. That any of the party effected their escape, was
owing to the Gorkhas having been engaged in plundering
the tents, as the camp had been surrounded before day-
break by an overpowering force. Captain Sibley, and
more than half his detachment were killed, and the whole
of the stores and magazines were in possession of the
enemy. The result of these two affairs seems to have
struck the men and their commander with unreasonable
panic. Desertions were numerous ; doubts were felt if
much dependance could be placed on those who stood by
their colours; and. General Marley, impressed with the
opinion that the Gorkhas were both so numerous and so
daring, that, in place of advancing against them, it would
be difficult to maintain a defensive attitude, and protect
the borders, made a retrograde movement to the west-
ward, in order to guard the depdt at Bettia, and provide
for the security of the Saran frontier, leaving & strong

1815.



36

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK 1L division with Major Roughsedge at Baragerhi. The same
cuar.1. feeling of alarm infected the authorities of Gorakhpur

1816.

and Tirhut ; and the approach of a Gorkha army, of irre-
sistible strength and valour, was universally apprehended.
The Gorkhas, however, were neither sufficiently nu-
merous, nor sufficiently well apprised of the pusillanimity
of their opponents, to follow up and improve their suc-
cess; although they recovered the whole of the Tirai, with
the exception of the country immediately protected by
the military posts, and made various predatory and de-
structive incursions into the British territories.

Great exertions were made to add to the strength of
General Marley’s division ; and reinforcements of troops
and artillery, the former comprising his Majesty’s 17th
and 14th regiments, were immediately despatched to the
frontier, raising the amount of the division to thirteen
thousand men, a force more than adequate to encounter
the whole Gorkha army, even if its numbers had ap-
proximated to the exaggerated estimates to which they
had been raised by vague report and loose computation.!
The General, nevertheless, hesitated to move ; and, after
spending the month of Januaryin mischievous indecision,
suddenly quitted his camp.? Colonel Dick assumed tem-
porary command, until' the arrival of Major-General
George Wood, towards the end of February. On the 20th
of that month a smart affair with the enemy took place,
which redeemed the character and revived the spirit of
the native troops. Lieutenant Pickersgill, while surveying,
and attended by a small escort, came unexpectedly upon
a party of four hundred Gorkhas. By skilful manceuvring
he drew them from the cover of the forest towards the

1 The Gorkhas were calculated by General Marley to be twelve thousand»
or even eighteen thousand strong.—Nepal Papers, 540. The real number
seems to have been seven or eight thousand, of which the greater part were
new and ill-armed militia. The whole regular force of the Gorkhas was
computed, upon autheutic information, not to exceed twelve thousand, of
which one-half at least was in the Western provinces.—Lord Moira's Narra-
tive; Nepal Papers, 724,

3 He left in a rather singular manner. *He st off before daylight in the
morning, without publishing any notification of his intention to the troops,
and without taking any means of providing for the conduct of the ordinary
routine of command.”—Prinsep, 1. 120. He was, no doubt, influenced by the
unqualified disapprobation expressed by Lord Moira ; first, of his unnecessary
delay for his battering-train; and next, of his neglect in leaving distant and
exposed outposts without support or reinforcements.—Lord Moira’s Narrative ;
Nepal Papers, 745,
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camp, from whence, as soon as the firing was heard, a BOOK II,
troop of one hundred irregular horse was despatched to cuar.iw

his succour, while Colonel Dick followed with all the
picquets. Before the infantry could come up, the cavalry,
joined by a number of mounted officers, charged the
Gorkha detachment, when the commander, a chief of
some note, and a hundred of his men, were killed ; fifty
were taken, and the rest fled across a rivulet, in which
many were drowned. The action struck so much terror
into the Nepalese, that they hastily fell back from their
forward position, and again abandoned the Tirai. The
road to Makwanpur was now open. A month remained
for military operations before the unhealthy season com-
menced, the army was reinforced with Kuropean troops
and artillery, and the confidence of the native soldiery
was beginning to revive. General Wood, however, infected
by the same spirit of caution and procrastination which
had retarded the operations of his predecessor, and entor-
taining similar notions of the difficulties opposed to offen-
sive movements, pleaded the advanced season of the year
as an excuse for confining his operations to the plains;
and after a march to Janakpur, on the Tirhut frontier, and
back, by which it was ascertained that the Gorkhas had
eutirely evacuated the low-lands, the army was broken up
and distributed in cantonments, in conveniont situation
along the borders, from the Gandak river to the Kusi.!
While tho two divisions in Gorakhpur and Saran dis-
appointed the calculations upon which they had been
organised, the smaller body, under Major Latter, in the
sameo direction, had surpassed expectation, and accom-
plished more than it was destined to attempt. Not only
had the boundary east of the Kusi river been protected
from insult, but the Gorkhas had been driven from all
their positions: occupation had been taken of the province
of Morang, and an alliance had been formed with a hill
chief, the Raja of Sikim, a small state east of Nepal;
which, while it rescued him from the risk of being

1 Nepal Papers, 560. As Captain Sutherland observes, “the results of the
first campaign must have confounded the calculations of the noble Marquts,
and every one else. That portion of the army with which it was meant to
make an linpression on the enemy in the seat of his power remained Inactive,
whilst the skirmishes on the Jeft flank, which could have been only intended
to produce & diversion, succeeded to an extent that shook the Gorkha on his
throne.”—Pol. Relations, 37,
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BOOK II. crushed by his ambitious neighbour, gave the British a
. cHAp. 11, useful confederate, and additional means of acting upon
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the resources of the enemy.!

Another element in the plan of the campaign, intended
to take but a subordinate and contingent share, was
equally attended with success, and was productive of
highly important consequences. The province of Kamaon,
forming the central part of the Gorkha conquests, was
under the authority of a chief, Chautra Bam Sah, who was
known to be disaffected to the ruling dynasty of Nepal ;
while the people of Kamaon, and the adjacent province of
Gerhwal, who had been subject to the Raja of Srinagar,
but had been alienated by his tyrannical conduct, and had
consequently facilitated the Gorkha invasion, were now as
hostile to their new-and not less oppressive rulers, and
were anxious to transfer their allegiance to the British.
No serious obstacles were thought likely, therefore, to
impede the British possession of the country, and its
occupation was strongly recommended by its central situ-
ation, The want of a disposable force delayed for some
time any attempt to enter the district, and it was at
length determined to commence operations with a body of
irregulars, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel
Gardner, an officer of merit, who had risen to notice and
distinction in the service of the Raja of Jaypur.. On the
15th of February, Colonel Gardner ascended the hills;
the Gorkhas fell back, occasionally skirmishing with the
detachment, but offering no resolute resistance. The
gallant bearing of the irregulars, consisting chiefly of
natives of Rohilkhand, and the judicious dispositions of
their leader, dislodged the enemy from every position,
until they had concentrated their force upon the ridge
on which stands the town of Almora.

During the advance of Colonel Gardner, another body
of irregular troops, commanded by Captain Hearsay, en-
tered the province by the Timli pass, near the Gogra
river, in order to create a diversion in Colonel Gardner’s
favour, and prevent Gorkha reinforcements from crossing
the river. This movement, also, was at first successful.
Captain Hearsay took possession of the chief town of the
district, and laid siege to a hill-fort in its vicinity: here,

! Nepal Papers, 560,
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was defeated and taken prisoner. lHe was conducted to
Almora, to which the Gorkhas repaired to assist in its
defence. _

The importance of securing and extending the advan-
tages obtained in Kamaon determined the Governor-Ge-
neral to send a regular force into that quarter; and
Licutenant-Colonel Nicolls, of his Majesty’s 14th regi-
ment, was despatched thither to take the command, with
three battalions of Native infantry and a proportion of
field artillery.! Colonel Nicolls joined the troops before
Almora on the 8th of April. The Gorkhas were nothing
daunted by his arrival ; and, whatever inclination Bam
Sah had originally manifested to join the invadors, no
indication of any disposition to surrender the fortress en-
trusted to his charge was exhibited : he had been taught,
no doubt, by the little progress which the British arms
had yet made, to question the probability of their ulti-
mate triumph, and to adhere to the safer path of fidelity
to his sovereign. Almora was resolutely defended, and
measures were taken to render the position of the be-
siegers untenable. On the 21st, Hasti Dal marched from
Almora to occupy a mountain pass on the north of the
British camp. He was immediately followed by Major
Paton, with five companies of the 2nd battalion of the
5th, as many companies of the light battalion, and a
company of irregulars: the enemy were overtaken on the
evening of the 22nd of April, and, after a spirited action,
put to flight with the loss of their tommander. No time
was suffered to efface the effects of this discomfiture. On
the 25th, a general attack was made on the stockaded
defences of the hill of Sitauli, in front of Almora, which
were all carried after a short resistance, and the troops,
following up their success, established themselves within
the town : a vigorous effort was made at night by the ger-
rison to recover possession of the posts, and, for & time, a
part was regained, but the Gorkhas were finally repulsed.
On the following morning the troops were advanced to
within seventy yards of the fort, and mortars were opened

1 The 2nd battalion of the 14th, 2nd of the 5th, flank battalion from the
Didn; four 6-pounders, two 13-pounders, and four mortars.
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however, he was attacked by Hasti Dal Chautra; the BOOK II.
Gorkha commander of the adjoining district of Duti, and cmar. 1.

1815.




40

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK II. upon the works ; the effect of which was soon discernible
cuar. 11, in the desertion of great numbers of the defenders. A flag
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of truce was sent out by the commandant, and, after a
short negociation, the Gorkhas were allowed to retire
across the Kali, with their arms and personal property;
and the fort of Almora, with the provinces of Kamaon
and Gerhwal, were ceded to the British. They were per-
manently annexed to the British territories.!

The conquest thus achieved was the first blow of im-
portance suffered by the Government of Nepal, and inti-
mated to it, in intelligible terms, the consequences to be
anticipated from & prolongation of the contest. The
celerity with which it was effected, although ascribable in
some degree to the favourable temper of the inhabitants,
was still more to be attributed to the gallantry and
activity of Colonel Gardner, and the vigour and judgment
of his successor in the command. The moral influence of
character in the leaders, upon the courage of the troops,
wes strikingly exemplified in this short campaign: the
victory was won by Native troops alone: and the same
men, who had in other places behaved with unsteadiness
or cowardice, here, almost invariably, displayed personal
firmness and intropidity.

While these transactions occurred upon the eastern line
of operations, others, of varying influence upon the objects
of the campaign, took place in the west. Little progress
had been made by the division of General Martindell.
This division had continued to be encamped against the
fort of Jytak, but no serious impression had been effected.
Heavy ordnance had been carried up the mountain with
prodigious labour and protracted delay; and, on the:20th
of March, a battery, having been opened upon the first of
the stockades, levelled it, in the course of one day, with the
ground. No attempt was made to advance the batteries
sufficiently near to bear upon the remaining defences, the
General being apprehensive that it would bring down the
whole garrison upon his positions. He therefore decided
to try the result of a blockade. In furtherance of this

! Nepal Papers, 570. The total loss in the Kamaon campaign was ome
hundred and eighty killed and wounded. The only officer killed was Lieu-
tenant Tapley of the 27th N.I., doh:f duty with the flank battalion, who was
shot on the night of the 26th of April,
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project, Major Richards was sent on the 1st of April to BOOK II
occupy a station on the ridge east of the fort. He accom- ouar. n.

plished the duty assigned him, and, pursuing his advan-
tage, drove the Gorkhas from several stockades, until he
reached the point which he judged best adapted to inter-
cept all communication in that direction with the fort.
Other advantageous stations were occupied with equal
success ; and Jytak would probably have been reduced
by famine, had not its fall been accelerated by the bril-
liant result of General Ochterlony’s contest with Amar
Sing.

Having reduced all the detached Gorkha posts, and
confined them to the heights of Malaun, and having all
his force disposable, (teneral Ochterlony judged that the
time had arrived to straiten the enemy still further by
breaking through his defences, and taking such positions
in the line as should cut off the communication between
the two forts on which it rested, Surajgerh and Malaun.
The British camp was pitched at Battoh, on the northern
bank of the Gamrora, a small stream running immediately
at the foot of the Malaun range. Looking southward
from the encampment, the Gorkha posts were descried
strotching along the summit of the mountain, having the
fort of Malaun on the extreme right, that of Surajgerh on
the extreme left : most of the intermediate peaks being
occupied, and stockaded. The stockades were strongest in
the vicinity of Malaun; and directly below the fort, on
the slope of the hill, lay the Gurkha cantonments, simi-
larly protected. On the right of Malaun, upon an emi-
nence of somewhat less altitude, and soparated from it by
deep ravines, was situated the fort of Ratangerh, which
had been occupied, as has been mentioned, by Colonel
Arnold. The fort of Surajgerh was observed by a detach-
ment under Captain Stewart, stockaded upon a contignous
olevation. In the course of the works upon the top of the
ridge there appeared to be two assailable puints: one of
them, named Ryla, was unprotocted, except by the posts
on the adjacent peaks; the other, termed Deothal, lying
more to the right and nearer to Malaun, was defended by
a stockade, but not in great strength. As the possession
of these two points would separate Malaun from most of
its dependent outworks, General Ochterlony determined
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BOOK 1. to attempt their capture, distracting at the same time
cuAr. 11, the attention of the enemy by an attack upon the canton-
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ments.

For the occupation of Ryla, a detachment of two com-
panies of light infantry, and a considerable body of irre-
gulars, under Lieutenants Fleming and Grant, ascended
the mountain on the night of the 14th of April, and
effected a lodgement. Before they could be attacked, they
were joined by & division under Captain Hamilton, and a
grenadier battalion from head-quarters; and the whole,
under Major Innis, established themselves firmly in their
position. At the same time, day-break of the 15th, Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Thompson, with two battalions of the 3rd
N. L and two field-pieces, left the camp for Deothal ; and
Major Lawrie, with the 2nd battalion of the 7th and a
body of irregulars, moved in the same direction from the
village of Kali, on the right of the camp. From the
latter column, a detachment under Captain Bowyer, of
two hundred and sixty regular and five hundred picked
irregular troops, diverged to the right towards the Gorkha
cantonments, to co-operate with Captain Showers, who
was to march upon the same point from Ratangerh, with a
force of equal strength, similarly composed.

The columns under Colonel Thompson and Major Lawrie’
ascending the hill united about ten o’clock, and, moving
briskly to Deothal, quickly carried the post. Colonel
Thompson, leaving Major Lawrie at Deothal with the rest
of the force, put himself at the head of the light infantry,
and advanced to the right with the intention of seizing a
stockade within battering distance of the fort of Malaun,
The Gorkhas, lurking behind rocks and bushes, kept up
an annoying fire upon the column, but failed to arrest its
progress until it had neared the stockade, when a small
but resolute body of the enemy rushed suddenly from
their lurking-places among the leading files, and, attacking
them with their heavy swords, cut down many, and filled
the rest with so much terror, that, in spite of the exer-
tions of their officers, they fell back in confusion to the
point they had recently quitted. Fortunately, the men
left with Major Lawrie stood firm ; and, the foremost of
the : pursuers falling under their fire, the pursuit was
checked, and the fugitives were rallied. The Gorkhas
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then retired : defences were immediately thrown up, and BOOK 11.

this post also was secured.

The attack upon the cantonments, although it com-
pletely answered the object for which it was undertaken,
and, by the powerful diversion which it created, materi-
ally facilitated the occupation of Ryla and Deothal, was
repulsed by the Gorkhas with some loss both of life and
credit to the assailants. The division under Captain
Showers had nearly reached the Gorkha stockades when it
was encountered by the enemy, whose resolute charge
shook the steadiness of the men. The officer comraand-
ing the hostile party being in advance, Captain Showers
hastened to meet him ; and a single combat took place,
in which the Gorkha champion fell. His troops immedi-
ately fired a volley, by which Captain Showers was killed :
his detachment fled in irrecoverable confusion, and were
followed by the victors, who destroyed all whom they
overtook, until they were checked by a party under Lieu-
tenant Roughsedge, which had been sent by Colonel
Arnold from Ratangerh. The fugitives also rallied, and
the Gorkhas were compelled to retrace their steps up the
hill. The party under Captain Bowyer met with better
fortune. He had made some way towards his destination,
and taken up a position in the village of Malaun, before
he was attacked by the Gorkhas. The irregulars fled
upon the approach of the enemy, but the regular troops
were steady, and made good their footing : but, observing
the discomfiture of the detachment which was to have
joined him, Captain Bowyer confined himself to a defensive
attitude until the evening, when he was withdrawn ; no
further benefit being attainable from his advance.

As the British position at Deothal was not likely to be
long held with impunity, groat exertions were made
during the 15th to render it as strong as possible ; rein-
forcements were despatched ; defences of the nature of a
stockade, as strong as circumstances permitted, were
constructed ; and two field-pieces were sent up, and plant-
ed in the embrasures. On the other hand, Amar Sing,
anticipating the fall of Malaun from so near an approach
of the British, resolved to make a desperate attempt to
drive them down the mountain again ; and for this pur-
pose placed his whole force under the comnmand of Bhakti

CHAP. 11,
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BOOK 1L Sing Thapa, the commandant of Surajgerh, a leader of
CHAP.11. known intrepidity, whilst he supported the attack in
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person. At day-break on the 16th, the Gorkhas advanced
to the assault in a semicircle along the ridge and the de-
clivity on either hand, so as to turn both flanks of the
position. Bhakti Sing headed the charge; while Amar
Sing with his youngest son took his station within mus-
ket-shot with the Gorkha standard, urging the backward
and animating the bold. The Gorkhas displayed the most
undaunted resolution, advancing to the very muzzles of
the guns, and endeavouring to strike down their oppo-
nents over their bayonets. Although repeatedly swept
away by the discharge of grape from the two field-pieces
which commanded the approach, they returned to the
attack with such obstinacy, and kept up so close and
destructive a fire upon them, that all by whom the guns
were served were either killed or disabled, except three
privates and as many officers, by whom alone they at last
were worked.! The action had lasted two hours, when
reinforcements from the post of Ryla having joined, and
it being evident that the spirit of the enemy was begin-
ning to fail, while that of the Sipahis rose with the con-
tinuance of successful resistance, Colonel Thompson com-
manded a charge with the bayonet to be made by the
regular troops, and the irregulars to fall on, sword in
hand. The charge was led by Major Lawrie, The Gor-
khas gave way and fled, leaving their brave commander,
Bhakti Thapa, dead on the field. Amar Sing collected the
fugitives, and retired into the fort? The body of Bhakti
Sing, when found, was decently wrapped in shawls, and

1 The officers were Licutenant Cartwright of the Artilleg, Lieutenant
Armstrong of the loneers, and Lieutenant Hutchinson of the Engineers.

9 The slain of the enemy exceeded five hundred. The loss of the British
was two hundred and thirteen killed and wounded : Lieutenant Bagot, of the
Pioneers, died of his wounds. Although not included in the loss on this oc-
caslon, a short subsequent perlod deprived the army of one of its most efficient
officers, in the death of Lieutenant Lawtie, the field-engineer, whose public
deserts were thus recorded by the Commander-in-chief: * It is painful to
think that an individual, whose skill, whose judgment, and whose animated
devotion materlally forwarded the proud result, should not have survived to
share in the triumph; but the grateful recollection of his fellow.soldiers
and of Government will associate the memory of Lieutenant Lawtie with all
the trophies which he so eminently contributed to raise.” Lieutenant Lawtie
died at the early age of twenty-four of fever, brought on by the fatigues and
exposure he had undergone. The army went into pourning, and afterwards
erectod a monument to his memory in the Cathedral Church of Calcutta,—
Nepal Papers, 681 ; Military Sketches of the Gorkha War, p. 33.
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sent to his countrymen. On the following day, two of his BOOK 11,
wives burnt themselves with his corpse in the sight of ocnae.i.

both armies.

The repulse of their attack upon the post of Deothalso
completely depressed the courage of the Gorkha army,
that little opposition was offered to the subsequent ar-
rangements of General Ochterlony for the closer invest-
ment of Malaun. Most of the exterior works had fallen
during the last half of April. On the 8th of May a bat-
tery of heavy guns had opened upon the principal redoubt,
and preparations for stormmg were commenced, when the
main body of the garrison quitted Malaun without arms,
and gave themselves up to the noarest British post,—un-
able longer to endure the hardships which they suffered
from the blockade, seeing no prospect of being relieved,
and being unsuccessful in their endeavours to prevail on
Amar Sing to surrender. As the chief with a few of his
adherents still maintained a show of resistance, guns wero
opcned on the 10th of May upon the fort, and their fire
continued during the day. On the following morning
Amar Sing sent his son to intimate his father’s desire to
negociate ; and a convention was finally concluded with
him, by which he consented to give up all the possessions
of the Gorkhas on the west of the Jumna, and to send
orders for the evacuation of Gerhwal. Amar Sing with
the garrison of Malaun, Ranjor Sing with part of that of
Jytak, and all members of the Thapa family, were allowed
to return to Nepal with their private property and mili-
tary equipments. The men were left the choice of depart-
ing for Nepal, or taking service with the British; and,
most of them having preferred the latter alternative, they
were formed into battalions for duty in the hills, for which
they were peculiarly fit.

The discomtfiture of their most distinguished officers,
and the loss of their most valuable conquests, lowered the
confident tone of the Government of Nepal, and induced
it to sue for peace. Bam Sah Chautra was authorised to
communicate with the British Commissioner in Kamaon ;
and Gaj Raj Misr, the spiritual teacher or Guru of the late
Raja was summoned from his retirement at Benares, and
sent as a more formal envoy to treat with Lieutenant-
Colonel Bradshaw, who had been empowered by the
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BOOK I1. Governor-General to conclude a pacification on prescribed
caar.1. conditions. These were, 1, the relinquishment of all
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claims on the hill Rajas? west of the Kali river; 2, the
cession of the whole of the Tirai, or low-lands, at the foot
of the hills along the Gorkha frontier; 3, the restoration
to the Sikim Raja of all territory wrested from him, with
the cession of two stockaded forts, and, 4, the admission
of a Resident at Khatmandu. The first and third condi-
tions were submitted to, and the mission of a Resident
reluctantly acquiesced in; but the cession of the Tirai
was a demand which the Court of Nepal pertinaciously
resisted.

The Tirai, or low-land of Nepal, extends from the
Tista river on the east, to the Ganges on the west. It
forms a grassy plain at the foot of the hills, which are
fringed by a belt of forest, and divided into various irreg-
ular portions by the numerous and large rivers which
cross it, from north to south, on their way from the
mountains to the main stream of the Ganges. It is in

. general not above twenty miles in breadth, but is, with

local intervals, above five hundred in length. From the
copiousness of its natural irrigation, the soil is peculiarly
fertile, is clothed throughout the year with a rich carpet
of verdure, and, where cultivated, is productive of abund-
ant crops of rice: and although from the same cause it is
at different seasons of the year especially insalubrious,
yet during the healthy months much cultivation is carried
on, and grain is raised for exportation ;* while spots least
favourable for agriculture afford a coarse but exuberant
pasture for the herds and flocks from the adjacent hills,
From these circumstances, the Tirai yielded a valuable
revenue to the Court of Nepal, of which it could not
afford to endure the deprivation; and the interests of the
state were powerfully enforced by those of influential
individuals, as the principal chiefs and military leaders
derived their subsistence mainly from Jagirs situated in
this quarter? On the other hand, an exaggerated opinion

] Th? were the Rajas of Kahlur, Hindur, Sirmor, Bisahar, Keonthal,
Bagul, Jubal, and Gerhwal.—Prinsep, 177.

2 Hamilton's (Buchanan) Account of Nepal.

3 It was stated by the Gorkha chiefs to Mr. Gardner, the British Commis-
sloner in Kamaon, that most of the military leaders and their followers
derived their support from lands in the Tirai; that the Raja’s household ex-
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of the productiveness of the Tirai rendered the British BOOK IL
Government equally anxious to retain it in their posses- cuar u.

sion, as the only source whence any comnpensation for the
charges of the war could be expected. It was also consi-
dered desirable to hold it, in order to preclude the repeti-
tion of those border quarrels in which the recent hostili-
ties had originated. :

The negociations, which began in May, were protracted
through the rainy season, when military operations were
necessarily suspended. The Court of Nepal appeared
disposed to concede the points demauded, and letters
from the Raja and the Regent gave to the Nepal Commis-
sioners full authority to conclude, the negociation! Al-
though nothing was definitively settled, the Government
of Bengal, under an impression that the Nepal Govern-
ment was sincere, professed a willingness to make some
modifications of the original plan ; the low-lands from the
Kali to the Gandak were insisted on ; but from the Gan-
dak to the Kusi, along the frontiers of Saran aud Tirhut,
only those portions were to be retained into which the
British authority had been already introduced. The dis-
trict of Morang, between the Kusi and the Michi, was to
be given up, leaving a narrow tract east of the Michi,
between it and the Tista, to preserve a communication
with Sikim. Ponsions to the annual extent of two lakhs
of rupees were offered as an indemnification to the chiefs
who had Jagirs in the districts which were to be scparated
from Nepal? These terms were made known to the
Court of Khatmandu in the early part of September, but
no answer was received until the 29th of October, when
the commutation of the proposed pensions for further
portions of the Tirai was stipulated for. This was declared
by Lieut.-Colonel Bradshaw to be inadmissible, and the

penses were defrayed from the same source; and that of twenty lakhs of
rupees a-year the revenue of Nepal, Tiral alone yielded ten lakhs.—Nepal
Pn'pers. 776 and 810. :

The letter from the Raja was thus expressed: “The country of Kamaon
on the west, and the Tiral, have been conquered by thie British Government.
With regard to those conquests, whatever may be the result of these negocia-
tions will be approved by me. Do not entertain any doubt on this head, but
pursue the course which shall establish friendship between the two states.”
Aud Bhim Sen, while ho notices that there is a party opposed to the peace,
adds, that whatever the Commissioners should do or say, he would advocate
the same with the Raja, and obtain his confirmation.—MS. Records.

3 Draft of Treaty, Nepal Papers, 835,
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BOOK I1. negociation to be at an end ; but the Commissioners soli-
CHAP.IL  cited for a delay of a few days, until a reference could be
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made to the Court. The delay was granted, but the
answer was delayed beyond the time proposed, and,
when it did arrive, was unsatisfactory. The Commis-
sioners then proposed to repair themselves to Khatmandu,
engaging to return in twelve days with a definite reply.
They accordingly departed, and rejoined the British
Agent at Sigauli on the 28th instant, bringing with them
authority to terminate the negociation on the basis pro-
posed. On the 2nd of December the trcaty was duly
executed ; the Commissioners promising that its ratifica-
tion under the red seal, the signet of the Raja of Nepal
should be delivered in fifteen days. The treaty was rati-
fied by the Governor-General in council on the 9th De-
cember, but the promised ratification from Khatmandu
failed to make its appearance ; and in its stead a private
agent from the Regent apprised the Gorkha Commissioners
that the war-party, headed by Amar Sing Thapa, prevailed
in the councils of Nepal.! Another effort was made to
procure the ratification of the treaty, and hopes were held
out, authorised by the instructions of the Governor-Ge-
neral, that, if it were agreed to, its execution would not be
rigorously enforced? The emissary of the Regent re-
turned to Khatmandu, but no further communication was
received ; and on the 28th of December the two negocia-
tors set out also for the Gorkha capital. It could no
longer be doubted, that, although the Court of Nepal had
at first been inclined to purchase peace on any conditions,
its courage had been reanimated by the chiefs who had
returned to the capital from tho west, and that its policy
was now to defer the definitive conclusion of the treaty
until the season should be too far advanced for hostilities
to be resumed with effect, and the losses and expenses of
an unprofitable campaign should induce the British Go-
vernment to relax in its demands,

1 Although apparently averse to the beginning of the war, Amar Sing was
unwilling to purchase peace by ignominious concessions. A very remarkable
undhchnnctel(-lirtlc letter from him to the Raja was intercepted, and is given
in the Appendix.

L {3 hgfl*heen. in fact, determined to give up the lands of Bhotwal and
Sheoraj, the whole cause of the war, Their cession Lord Moira considered
indispensable to the satisfaction and honour of the British Government ; but,
this object being effected, the lands themselves were not worth keeping.—
Nepal Papers, 840,
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As soon as the purpose of the Gorkha Government was BOOK 1L
detected, active preparations were set on foot for a vigor- cuar. 1.

ous renewal of hostilities. Upon the abandonment of the
provinces west of the Kali, by the Gorkhas, the regular
troops employed in that quarter had been marched to
their stations, with the exception of small garrisons in the
principal forts, and the irregulars had been dismissed,
except the Gorkha battalions, to whom principally the
defence of the conquered provinces was entrusted. The
Gorakhpur and Saran divisions had, however, been held in
readiness on the frontier, or at Dinapore, in anticipation
of the possibility of a second campaign ; and they were
quickly collected under Major-General Sir David Ochter-
lony,! who was invested with the chief political as well as
military authority. The Gorkhas, on their part, strongly
fortified the passes by which an army might penetrate
into the hills, on the route towards Makwanpur, and the
valley of Nepal. '

By the beginning of February, Sir David Ochtorlony
had taken the field with a force of nearly seventeen thou-
sand men, including three King’s rogiments. This he
disposed in four brigades,? severally commanded by
Colonel Kelly, of his Majesty’s 24th ; Lieutenant-Colonel
Nicoll, of the 66th ; Licutenant-Colonel Miller, of the 87th ;
and Lieutenant-Colonel Burnet, of the 8th N.I. The first
was detached to the right, to penetrate by Hariharpur ;
the second to the left, to enter the hills at Ramnagar;
General Ochterlony, with the other two brigades, marched
on the 12th of February, from Simlabasa, through the
forest to the foot of the Bichu-koh, or Chiria-ghati pass,
formed by the bed of a mountain torrent. Whilst en-
camped at this place, the Gorkha Commissioners arrived

I General Ochterlony had been created a Baronet after the surrender of
Malaun ; he had previously been guzetted a Knight Conimander of the Bath.
All the fleld-officers serving at Malaun were made Companions of the Bath.

3 They were composed as follows: Ist brigade of his Majesty’s 24th, Ist
battalion 18th N, I., divisions of the 2nd battalion and the Champaran L. ;
2nd brigade of his Majesty’s 66th, 5th and 8th grenadier battallons N.I.; 1st
battalion of the 8th and 2nd of the 18th; 3rd brigade of his Mujesty’s 87th,
2nd battalions of the 13th, 22nd, and 25th N. L. ; 4th brigade, 2nd battalions
of the 4th, 8th, 9th, and 15th N. 1., and part of the st batialion of the 30th,
with details of artillery, ploncers, and irregular horse. Two other divisions
were also formed : one at Sitapur, in Oude, under Colonel J. Nicolls, intended
to enter the district of Duti, between the Kali and Rapti rivers; the other at
Gorakhpur, under Major-General J. S. Wood, intended as a reserve.—Nepal
Papers, 983.
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BOOK II. from Khatmandu ; but, instead of the ratified treaty, they
cuar. 1. brought repeated demands for territorial concession, and
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a proposal that the pecuniary compensation should be
paid to the Raja, not to his officers. As they were
informed that the ratification of the treaty must precede
all subordinate arrangements, they shortly left the camp.

The Chiria-ghati pass, in addition to its own difficulties,
was defended by successive tiers of strong stockades, and
could not have been forced by an attack in front without
disproportionate loss. After some delay, another access
to the mountains was discovered, and which, although diffi-
cult and dangerous, was undefended. It was, in fact, little
better than a dark and deep ravine, between lofty and pre-
cipitous banks clothed with trees, whose intermingling
branches over head excluded the light of day. The Gene-
ral, leaving the fourth brigade on the ground, and his
tents standing, marched at night on the 14th of February,
with the third brigade, and wound his way slowly and
laboriously up the pass, almost in single file ; Sir David
Ochterlony marching on foot at the head of the 87th
regiment, leading the column. After proceeding some
distance, the troops emerged into more open, but broken,
ground, whence they again entered into a water course ;
this led to the foot of a steep acclivity, about three
hundred feet high, up which the advance clambered with
the assistance of the projecting boughs and rocks.

It was eight in the morning before the advance reached
the summit, and nine at night before the rear-guard as-
cended ; the day being spent in getting up the remainder
of the men, with a couple of field-pieces. The troops
marched five miles from the top of the pass before they
found a supply of water, when the brigade halted, while
the pionecrs were busily employed in rendering the ascent
practicable for laden cattle, and stores, and ammunition,
which was the work of three days.! On the fourth, the
General moved to Hetaunda, on the bank of the Rapti,
where he was joined by the fourth brigade, which had
mounted the hills by the Chiria-ghati pass, from the

! Besides the official despatches, particular and graphic descriptions of the
ascent of the Balukola ravine are given by the author of Military Sketches of
the Gorkha War, p. 39, and by Lieutenant Shipp, a Lieutenant of the 87th
regiment.—See his Memoirs, ii. 63.
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stockades of which the Gorkhas retired when they found BOOK 11,
that the position had been turned. CHAP. 11,
After making the arrangements necessary for securing
the communications in his rear, General Ochterlony ad-  1810.
vanced, on the 27th of February, to the fortified heights
of Makwanpur, and encamped on a piece of level ground
two miles to their south. The town and fort lay to the
right of the camp: opposite to its left was the village of
Sekhar-khatri, held by a strong detachment of the enemy;
but they evacuated it on the following morning, and it was
immediately taken possession of by three companies of
the 25th N. I. and forty men of the 87th. They were not
long unmolested. At noon, the Gorkhas returned in
greater force, and endeavoured to recover the position ;
they drove in the picquets, and fell upon the village with
great impetuosity ; but the flank companies of the 87th,
and the rest of the 25th, having been despatched to rein-
force the post as soon as the firing commenced, arrived in
time to check the fury of the assailants. Fresh numbers
of the enemy poured along the summit of the heights
from Makwanpur, to the extent of at least two thousand
. men: reinforcements were also sent from the camp, of two
companies of the 87th and the 12th Native corps, and,
after repeated attacks, the Gorkhas were finally repulsed.
Although forced to retreat, they fell back only to a neigh-
bouring eminence, from which they kept up a galling firo,
until they were dislodged by the bayonets of the 8th N. I.
The action lasted from noon till five o’clock, when it
became dark. The Nepalese loss was computed at five
hundred : of the British, forty-five were killed, and one
i-undred and seventy-five wounded.' On the following
day thé division was joined by the first brigade, under
Colonel Nicoll, who had ascended the mountains by a pass
on the north of Ramnagar, and marched up the valley of
the Rapti without encountering an enemy.
The second brigade, commanded by Colonel Kelly, suc-
ceeded in ascending the mountains to tho south of the
fort of Hariharpur, by a route which had not been stock-
aded. Finding the fort unassailable on the quarter by

t Lieutenant Tirrell, of the 20th regiment, was killed in the first assault on
the village.—-Nepal Papers, 987. A Gorkha chief was killed in single combat

by Lieutenant Shipp.—Memoirs, ii. 102 ; Prinsep's History, i. 199.
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BOOK 11. which he had advanced, Colonel Kelly moved round to a
cuae. 1. village on its west. The approach to the fort was pro-

tected by a strong semicircular stockade, with two guns,
the flanks of which rested on perpendicular rocks. This
defence was, however, commanded by an eminence at a
distance of about eight hundred yards, which the Gorkhas
had neglected to occupy in strength, and which was, there-
fore, carried without much difficulty by a detachment
under Lieutenant-Colonel O’Halloran. The party was
scarcely in position when it was attacked by a superior
force, and an obstinate struggle ensued, which continued for
five hours, when some field-pieces having been carried up
decided the contest. The Gorkhas fled from their fire;
and the result seems to have so disheartened the garrison,
that on the following day the fort was abandoned by the
commandant, Ranjor Sing Thapa, the chief who had so
gallantly defended the fort of Jytak in the previous
campaign.®,

Immediately after the action at Sekhar-khatri, prepara-
tions were set on foot for erecting batteries against the
stockades and fort of Makwanpur; but, before they were
well opened, operations were arrested by the apprehensions
of the Government of Nepal. The commandant, who was
the brother of the Regent, sent word to Sir David Ochter-

‘lony that he had received the ratified treaty from his

court, and requested permission to send an authorised
agent in charge of it to tho British camp. The envoy was
received accordingly on the 3rd of March ; but the treaty
was not accepted without the additional stlpulatlon, that
the cession of territory exacted from Nepal, should com-
prehend the country conquered in the actual campaign,
and the valley of the Rapti. The Commissioner and the

_Governor of Makwanpur acceded to the conditions, and
-their acquiescence was confirmed by the Raja. Peace

between the two states was consequently re-established.
The principal conditions of the treaty have already been

-adverted to; but, in their execution, the British Resident

appointed to Khatmandu, the Honourable Mr. Gardner,
was authorised to commute the proposed annual pensions
for restoration of a portion of the Tirai conveniently
separated from the British boundary. The proposal was

! Nepal Papers, 940.
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gladly accopted. A line of demarcation generally was BOOK II.
agreed to, to be determined by subsequent survey ; and a cuar 1.

considerable tract between the Michi and Ganddk rivers,
exclusive of a small space on the Saran frontier, but com-
prehending Bhotwal, was restored to the Nepalese. A
treaty was at the same time concluded with the Sikim
Raja, by which he was guaranteed in the possession of his
territory on condition of his submitting all disputes be-
tween him and his neighbours of Nepal, to the arbitration
of the Government of Bengal, joining its troops when
employed in the mountains, and affording protection and
encouragement to merchants and traders from the Com-
pany’s territories. On the west of Nepal, the provinces of
Kamaon and Gerhwal, the valleys above the first range of
hills, and some military posts were annexed to the British
possessions ; while the petty hill Rajas lying still more to
the west and north, were mostly re-established in their
principalities under the general stipulation of allegiance
and subordination to the British authority. The Raja of
Nepal died shortly after the close of hostilities, and was
succeeded by an infant son. The regency continued in
the hands of Bhim sen Thapa, and the event occasioned
no change in the relations established between the two
Courts; which, although no cordiality has been mani-
fested by the Nepal Government, has ever since continued
undisturbed.

Thus terminated a war which presented many features
of a novel aspect, and which in its outset threatened to
tarnish the splendour of the British military character in
India. The causes of disappointment rested, in some
cases, with the commanders of the several divisions, who,
alarmed by discomfiture brought on by precipitation, or
by injudicious arrangements, fcll into the error of exagge-
rating the resources of the enemy, and, with the exception
of Sir David Ochterlony, distrusted their ability to cope
with the Nepalese. In some respects, also, the Native
troops failed to maintain their reputation. Unaccustomed
to a country the broken surface of which often rendered
it impossible for them to observe the compact order on
which they had been trained to rely for support, and
startled by the unusual charge of the Gorkhas, who, like
the Highlanders of North Britain, rushed, after firing their

1815,
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BOOK 1I. matchlocks, sword in hand, and in fierce though disorderly
CHAP. 11, masses, upon the ranks of their adversaries, they exhibited,

1815.

in some’of tho early actions, a want of steadiness which
proved fatal to themselves, and embarrassing to their
leaders. With experience came a juster appreciation of
their own strength, and of that of their opponents ; and
on the heights of Malaun and Makwanpur, the Sipahis
gallantly redeemed their reputation.

The occurrence of hostilities so immediately after the
renewal of the Company’s charter, and the diversion to
military expenditure of the funds with which many of
the members of the Court of Directors had confidently
expected that the competition to which the Company’s
trade was now exposed might be advantageously encoun-
tered,! produced in the Court a strong feeling of opposition
to the war, and induced a considerable and influential
party to deny its necessity,? and to condemn the mode in
which it had been conducted. 'We may pause to consider
briefly how far they were warranted in their conclusions.

The encroachments of the Nepalese were not the sudden
growth of a recently awakened spirit of presumption, or a

! In the Letters of the Court, of the 13th October, 1815, they write :—¢ We
find, with extreme concern, that the effects of the Nepalese war are so strongly
felt in your financial departinent, as to induce the apprehension that the ad-
vances to be Issued for our European investment will be reduced to a very
small sum indeed. . . . If the advances for the investment are to be
withheld, the sales at this house for Indian goods will suon be brought to a
stand ; in which case, not only will the operations of onr home finances be
impeded, but it will also involve the impossibility of our being able to afford to
India the assistance, in the event of the continuance of warfare, which would
be so necessary, and which we should be so desirous to furnish.”—Nepal
Papers, 548. The necessity of supplying funds from ho ae was littlo likely to
arise, unless those which were available for political disbursemcnts were
absorbed in the purchase of comimnercial investments.

2 The Court of Directors expressed & confldent hope that, “as the result of
the local inquiries had satisfied you of the Company’s right to the disputed
lands, the Government of Nepal would yield to your application for the sur-
render of those lands, without your being under the necessity of having
recourse to more decided measures.”—Letter to Bengal; Nepal Papers, 547.
The expectation was based upon & very inaccurate knowledge of the temper of
the Gorkha Government, and the necessity of having recourse to arms was
recognised by the -Court in a dispatch, dated 18th July, 1814. The necessity
of the war was further demonstrated by Lord Hastings in a letter to the
Chairman ; and, as there stated, he was pledged to a definitec course by the
measures of hls predecessor. The alternative of hostilitics was the decision of
Lord Minto. Lord Moira observes: * In this state I found things. I certainly
had an option ; I might shrink from the declaration plighted by Lord Minto,
abandoning the property of the Company, sacrificing the safety of our subjects,
and staining the character of our Government, or I had to act up to the en-
gagements bequeathed to me, and to reprove the trespass of an insatiable
peighbour. That I should have chosen the latter alternative will hardly afford
ground for censure.”—Nepal Papers, 992,
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transitory ebullition of overweening pride. They were BOOK 11,
the deliberate and progressive crop of a long series of cuar, 1.

years, and had not even yet attained their full develop-
ment. They were the result of a uniform and consistent
design against the integrity of the Company’s dominions.
They had been long leniently dealt with ; calm expostula-
tions and menacing remonstrances had been tried re-
peatedly ; and, finally, an amicable adjustment by an
appeal to evidence and proofs of various kinds, had been
attempted, but all conciliatory measures had been tried in
vain. Aggressions were committed almost in the presence
of the Commissioners professing to conduct a friendly
and impartial investigation, and promises to abide by their
decision were evaded or disregarded. It was evident that
forbearance only gave audacity to insult, and boldness to
usurpation ; and the only questions that remained for con-
sideration were, the relinquishment of the disputed lands,
or the assertion of the right to them by arms,

All history records the impolicy of yielding to the
demands of barbarians. Concession invariably inspires
them with presumption, and stimulates them to fresh
exactions. 1t would have been contrary to all experience
to have relied upon the pacific effects of giving way to the
pretensions of Nopal, to have expected that the Court of
Khatmandu would have been soothed into moderation by
acquiescence in its claims. Such an expectation was in
an especial manner unwarranted by the known character
of the Gorkha Government, whose whole policy for half
a century had been the extension of their possessions, and
who were confirmed in their notions of the wisdom of
their policy by the success with which it had been almost
invariably pursued. It might have been thought likely
that they would nevertheless have paused before they
provoked the enmity of a power so superior as the British
to the unwarlike and disunited principalities over which
they had triumphed ; but an accurate comparison of re-
sources, and appreciation of means, were scarcely to be
expected from a cabinet so imperfectly instructed as that
of Khatmandu in the circumstances of its neighbours, so
strongly impelled by personal interests, and so deeply
swayed by arrogance and passion. We have seen that the
war-party anticipated little more peril from hostilities

1815.
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BOOK II with the British, than with a petty Raja of the hills; and
cHAP. 1L that, confiding in their past fortunes, the courage of their

1815,

troops, and the strength of their country, they entertained
no doubt of keeping their antagonist at bay until he
should be weary of the contest. Nor did they depend
solely upon their own means of resistance. They calcu-
lated upon the co-operation of still more powerful allies ;
and, endeavouring to interest Ranjit Sing, Sindhia, the
Raja of Bhurtpur, Mir Khan, and even the Pindaris, in
their quarrel,! they sanguinely anticipated that the reverses
experienced by the British arms would be the signal for a
general rising of the Princes of Hindustan? The crisis
was not altogether impossible ; and a continued repetition
of the disasters of the first campaign might have seriously
compromised the peace and security of the British empire
in India.

A danger of a less formidable nature presented itself in
the interposition of the Government of China, to which
the Court of Khatmandu had earnestly appealed at an
early period of the war, ascribing its origin to the refusal
to give a passage through Nepal to a British force intended
to take possession of Lassa. The Court of Pekin, although
suspecting the truth of the story,® appears to have been
seriously alarmed ; and troops were despatched to reinforce
those stationed in Tibet : a considerable body was assem-
bled at Digarchi, and moved towards the frontier; but
as its advance occurred no sooner than August, 1816,
hostilities were at an end. Explanations had also been

U A mission was also sent, in the beginning of 1816, by Amar Sing to Ava.
His death, which happened in the early part of the ycar, put an end to the
activity of these intrigues, although they were not entirely abandoned’ by the
court of Nepal until the breaking out of the Pindari war.—MS. Records.

3 Proofs were obtained by the Resident at Gwalior that these several powers
had been addressed by the chief officers of Nepal : To Sindhia accredited agents
were deputed. Letters from Namdar Khan, the Pindari. to Sindhia, were
detected, mentioning the application made to him and Mir Khan.—MS. Records.
A Vakil, sent by Amar Sing to Ranjit Sing, offered to pay largely for his assis-
tance, and to place the fort of Malaun in his hands. 1le affirmed that the
Nawab Vizir, the Mahrattas, and the Rohillas, were all ready to rise as soon as
they heard o{ the Sikh chieftains joining the Gorkhas. Ranjit was too shrewd
to be caught by these assertions, and inferred fromn the offers made to him that
the Gorkhas were hard pressed.—Nepal Papers, 559. That some of the
Native Princes looked auxiously to the course of the war, and built upon it
hopes of being enabled to resist the British power in the collision which was at
this time menaced, was established by subsequent events. A correspoundence
between Sindhia and the Gorkha Government was intercepted.

3 A letter from the Government of Pekin observed: ** If your statement be
true, if the English be the aggressors, they shall suffer ; it the Gorkbas, the
country shall be swept clean.” )
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exchanged between the Chinese authorities and the Go- BOOK II.
vernor-General, which furnished the former with a reason- cuae. .

able plea for discontinuing their hostile indications.! They
adopted the safe course of venting their displeasure upon
their allies, and treated the Nepalese envoys seut to their
camp, with great indignity.? Their overbearing demea-
nour oxcited the apprehensions of the Court of Khat-
mandu, who were glad to deprecate the anger of the
Emperor by a penitential mission to Pekin.

To return, however, to the consideration of the general
question : Admitting that war was inevitable, it became a
subject of question whether it was judiciously carried on.
The comparative merits of a defensive or offensive system
have already been considered; and it has been attempted
to shew that the latter recalized the advantages and avoid-
ed the inconveniences of the former, and was alone likely
to lead to a speedy termination of the disputes between
the two powers. It is only necessary here to observe, that
practical demonstration was afforded of the futility of the
defensive plan, by the actual occurrences on the frontier

1 The Chinese Commander-in-chief professed to be satisfled with the expla-
nation of the causes of the war, and the conduct of the English, as furnished
by his correspondence with the Governor-General and the British authorities
on the fronticr. At the request of the Court, however, he so far interfered in
their behalf as fo suggest the withdrawal of the British Resident. You * men-
tion that you have stationed a Vakil in Nepal. This is a matter of no
consequence ; bat as the Raja, from his youth and fnexperience, and from the
novelty of the thing, has imbibed some suspicions, if you would, out of kindness
to us, and in consideration of the ties of friendship, withdraw your Vakil, it
would be better, and we should feel very much obliged to you.”—Letter from
Shi-Chuin.Chang, Vazir. To this it was replied, that a Resident on the part of
some civilized power was necessary, in order to investigate and suppress at
once any border quarrels that might be occasioned by the unrestrained violence
of a barbarous people; and that, if the Emperor of China would appoint an
officer on his part to reside at Khatmandu, that would equally well answer the
object. ‘The Vazir on this acquiesced in the arrangement ; for as to the alter-
native, he observed it was not the custom of the Court of Pckin to depute their
officers to foreign Courts, as the traders at Canton conld inform the Governor-
General, This was the only allusion to the Company’s establishment at Canton,
although a dispatch had been forwarded through the supracargoes to the Court
of Pekin on the breaking out of the war. The conduct of the Chinese officers
towards the Indian Government, in a somewhat protracted communication, as
it did not close in 1818, when presents were interchanged, was uniformly
temperate and judicious.—M$. Records; see also Prinsep, 1. 213,

3 In the interview with the Chinese authorities, the Nepal envoys were asked
by the Chun-chun, “ What number of soldiers have you, and what is the
amount of your revenues? The former, I suppose, do not excced two lakhs
(200,000).” The envoys replied, the number of troops was correct, and the
revenues were five lakhs and a half of rupees. * Truly,” sald the Chinese officer
with a sneer, * you are a mighty people |” and he observed that they merited
the chastisement they had received ; adding, that their statements were mani-
festly false, as, if the English had wished to invade the Chinese dominions,
they could have found a nearer route than that through Nepal.—MS. Rec.

1815,
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BOOK II. of Saran and Gorakhpur. With two large armies, those of
cuap. 1. General Wood and General Marley, in the field, but acting

on the defensive, the Gorkhas ravaged the borders almost
in sight of them with impunity ; and no more efficacious
arrangement, for the protection of the Company’s subjects
ocould be devised than driving them into the interior, be-
yond the reach of the enemy, leaving their fields and
homes to the spoiler. No such injury or insult was suffer-
ed where the British armies carried on the war within the
confines of Nepal,

The objections to the advance of a concentrated British
force, in preference to assailing the Gorkha line at different
points, have also been adverted to. Testimony to its ju-
diciousness was borne by the best authority,—the Govern-
ment of Nepal. The Raja expressed his fears that the
British would endeavour to obtain & footing in the centre
of his country, in which case both extremities would be
thrown into disorder! This was the main object of the
first campaign ; and although its complete execution was
disappointed by the unfortunate failure before Kalanga,
yet the cxtremities of the Gorkha state were disordered :
the east was kept in a state of alarm by the demonstra-
tions of the British divisions ; in the west the best generals
and troops of Nepal were hemmed in, and finally overpow-
ered ; and a secure footing was obtained with little diffi-
culty in the centre by the occupation of Kamaon.
Although, therefore, the instruments employed by the
Glovernor-(eneral were not in all cases of the most perfect
description, yet it could not be said that his plans failed
becauso they were radically defective; as in truth, al-
though their success was delayed, they did eventually
succeed,—and succeeded, too, in a single campaign: for
when tho renewal of hostilities was provoked by the vacil-
lation of the cabinet of Khatmandu, the whole of the
Gorkha conquests and the disputed territories were in the
hands of the British, and little accession to their conquests
wx claimed or sought for when peace was at last estab-
lished.

Whatever doubts might have been entertained by the
authorities in England of the necessity of the war, or the
wisdom with which it was conducted, they were finally

! Nep. Papers, 533,
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dissipated by the close of the contest. Unanimous reso- BOOK II.
lutious of the Courts of Directors and Proprietors recog- cua. 1.
nised the prudence, energy, and ability of the Governor-
General, combined with a judicious application of the 1813
resources of the Company, in planning and directing the
operations of the late war against the Nepalese.! Thanks
were also voted to Sir David Ochterlony and the officors
and men engaged in the war. To the honours conferred
upon General Ochterlony by the Prince Regent, the Com-
pany added a pension of a thousand a year. The Earl of
Moira was elevated to the rank and title of Marquis of
Hastings.

Although the territory acquired by the British Govern-
ment was not of great extent or financial value, yet few
accessions have been obtained of deeper interest or greater
prospective importance. The territories actually appro-
priated, or those held under British authority by the
dependent hill Rajas, have given to British India the
command of an impenetrable barrier on the north, and of
a path across the loftiest mountains of the Old World to
the regions of Central Asia. Countries before unknown
have been added to geography ; and Nature has boen ex-
plored by Science in some of her most inacoessible retreats,
and most rare and majestic developments. The eloments
of civilization have been introduced amongst the rude in-
habitants of the mountains, and they have been taught
the value of industrious habits, and the advantage of
social intercourse. Roads have been cut along the sides
of precipices; bridges constructed over mountain tor-
rents ; stations have been formed which have grown into
towns; and the stir and activity of human life have dis-
turbed the silence of the lonely forests, and broken the
slumber of the eternal snows. Still mightier changes are
in progress. Barren as are the rocks of the Himalaya,
they are not wholly unproductive ; and they are fringed
at least by fertile valleys that want only cultivators to
become the seats of prosperous cultivation. Under a cli-
mate more congenial to European organisation than the
sultry plains of India, and with space through which they

1 Resolutions of the Court of Proprietors, 11th December, 1816, and Conrt
of Directors, 16th Nov. 1816, communicated to the Government of Bengal.—
Pol, Letter, 4th March, 1817; Nepal Papers, 991,
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BOOK 1L may freely spread, the descendants of & northern race may
cuar. 1. be able to aggregate and multiply ; and if British colonies

1815

be ever formed in the East, with a chance of preserving
the moral and physical energies of the parent country, it
is to the vales and mountains of the Indian Alps that we
must look for their existence,—it will be to the Gorkha
war that they will trace their origin.

CHAPTER III.

Transactions in Ceylon— Embassy to the King of Kandy.
— Aggressions by his People.— Declaration of War—
March of Troops and Capture of the Capital— Mutu-
sami made King— Force withdrawn.— Major Davie left
at Kandy.— Attacked by the Cingalese— Kandy evacu-
ated. — Europeans murdered. — Hostilities ' continued.—
Suspended.— Tyranny and Cruelty of the King.— Fear
and Hatred of his People.— British Subjects seized.—
War resumed.— The Copital again taken.— The King
captured, deposed, and sent Prisoner to Madras.—Cey-
lon subject to British Authority.— Universal Discontent
and Rebellion.— A Pretender to the Throne— Qreat Loss
on both Sides.— Rebels disheartened. — Leaders arrested
and the Pretender captured,— The Insurrection sup-
pressed— Change of System.— Affairs of Cutch.— Dis-
puted Succession.— General Anarchy.— Depredations on
the Gackwar's Territories— Disturbances in Kattiwar.—
Suppressed— Troops ordered into Cuich. — Anjar sur-
rendered.—Agreement with the Rao.— Operations against
the Pirate States— Intrigues at Baroda—Occurrences at
Hyderabad.—Disorderly Conduct of the Nizam's Sons.—
Put under Restraint— Disturbances in the City.—Criti-
cal Position.— The Princes sent to Golconda.— Disous-
sions with the Nawab of Oude.— Visws of the Governor-
General.— Deuth of Sddat Ali.—~ Succeeded by Ghazi-ud-
din—Visitto the Governor-General at Cawnpore—Loan
to the Company.— Complains of the Resident.— Retracts,
— Submits final Requisitions.— Principles of future
Intercourse.— The Nawab an Independent Prince in his
own Dominions.— Second Loan— Resident’s Vindication
~ of himself—His Removal.—Observations.— Internal Dis-



. TRANSACTIONS IN CEYLON. -

* turbances— House-Tax at Bareilly opposed by the Peo-
ple.—Tumults—Troops called in.—The Rioters defeated,
—Contumacy of great Landholders in the Western Pro-
vinces— Dayaram of Hutras—Shelters Robbers. — Re-
sists the Authorities—A Force sent against him.—Hatras
taken.— Disorders on the South-Western Frontier.— In-
surrection in Cuttack.— Causes.—Excessive Assessments.—
Sales of Lands—Corruption of Authorities.—Oppression
of the People— General Rising.— First Successes of the
Insurgents— Puri taken by them.— Recovered.— Commis-

sioners appointed.— Special Commission.— Cuttack tran-

quillised. :

THE successful termination of the war with Nepal,
"enabled tha Government of India to prepare for a
contest of a still more formidable description, with im-
proved resources, and augmented reputation : but before
we describe the occurrences which then took place, it will
be convenient to notice the transactions of foreign and
domestic interest which originated in the intervening
period, and were unconnected with the events of the
Pindari and Mahratta war.

Ceylon, although a dependency of the Crown, and unaf-
fected by the political circumstances of the Indian conti-
nent, may yet be considered, from its geographical
position and the general analogy of its connexion with
Qreat Britain, as a part of the British Indian Empire, and
some notice of the transactions of which it was at this
time the scene, may therefore be consistently offered. The
island, first colonised by the Portuguese, and subsequently
by the Dutoh, was finally taken from the latter, as identi-
fied with the Republic of France, in 1796, by an expedi-
‘tion fitted out from Madras, and was for a short interval
subject to the government of Fort St. George. In 1798
it was annexed to the colonial dominions of the British
Crown, and the Hon. Frederick North was nominated Go-
vernor on the part of Great Britain. The settlements
which were thus transferred extended along the sea coast,
forming a narrow belt round the centre of the island,
where native princes continued to rule over the remnants
of an ancient kingdom, whose origin was traceabls,
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BOOK II through credible records, for above two thousand years.
cHAP. 1. Deprived of a valuable portion of their'ancestral domains

1816.

by races which they despised as barbarians while they
hated them as conquerors, the kings of Kandy had been
almost always at variance with their European neighbours,
and had been principally protected against their military
superiority by the deadly atmosphere of the forests which
interposed an impenetrable rampart between the interior
of the island and the coast. The last but one of these
princes co-operated with the English in their attack upon
the maritime provinces held by the Dutch, in expectation
of advantages which were never realised. Hedied shortly
after the establishment of the British power. Leaving no
children, he was succeeded by the son of a sister of one
of his queens, who was elected to the throne by the head
minister, or Adigar, with the acquiescence of the other
chief officers of the state, the priests of Buddha, and the
ple.2

Shortly after the accession of the new Sovereign in the
beginning of 1800, the Governor of Ceylon deputed the
commanding officer of the troops on the island, General
Macdowal, on an embassy to the court of Kandy. The
avowed purpose of the mission was the establishment of
a friendly intercourse with the King; but there were
objects, also, of a political nature, the precise purport of
which does not appear, but which seem to have been based
upon an imitation of the policy of the Indian Govern-
ment/and to have had in view the formation of a subsidiary
alliance in Ceylon. In order to fulfil this project, advantage
was to be taken of the intrigues which agitated the: Kan-
dian Court. The Minister who had raised the Sovereign
to his present rank, is said thus early to have plotted his
deposal, and the usurpation of his crown. Forthe accom-
plishment of his treacherous designs, he sought the
assistance of the British Government, and although his
overtures were at first rejected, he was admitted to a
conference with the Governor’s Secretary,and the mission

1 See Turnour’s Translation of the Mahawanso,—a Buddhist Chronicle of
Ceyloh, and_various tracts by the same eminent Pali scholar in the Journal of
the Asiatic Society of Bengal and the Ceylon Almanack.

2 Davy, 310; also Turnour’s Epitome of the History of Ceylon. The new
King, 8ri Wikrama Rajasingh, ascended the throne in 1798.  Adigar is & pro-
vinclal corruption of the Sanscrit word Adhikéra, a superintendant.
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to Kandy was the result. To elude the arts of the Adigar BOOK 11,
and place the King, with his own consent, in security, are cmae. ur,
declared to have been the chief objects proposed: but
the security intended was to be provided for by the re- 1816
moval of the King to Colombo; and while his person
was safe in British keeping, the real power was to be
exercised by the Governor of Ceylon, through the agency
of the faithless Adigar.! That these designa could not be
accomplished without a display of force, was manifested
by the equipment of the mission, the strength and quality
of which denoted hostile, rather than friendly intentions.?
‘Whatever might have been the real objects of the plot,
it was frustrated by the timidity and suspicion apparently
of both the Minister and the King, Although met on the
frontier by the Minister, the troops were made to advance
by a circumscribed and difficult route : every step of their
progress was watched with extreme jealousy; no com-
munication with the country was permitted ; and finally
the greater part were obliged to halt, and General Mac-
dowall proceeded to Kandy with a much less numerous,
but & more appropriate, retinue. He was received with
civility, but without cordiality ; his audiences were few
and formal ; and he returned to Colombo without having
made any progress in the purposes of his mission, secret
or avowed. On the contrary, the proceedings of the
British Government seem to have excited the suspicion
and ill-will of both the King and the Adigar, and to have

1 According to Cordiner, the chief Adigar,to whom the King owed his eleva-
tion, was plocunﬁ against his power and his life, and had endeavoured to
persuade the English Government to assist in deposing him. Apparently, the
only difficulty was that of finding a pretext, as the acting Secretary to the
Government declared to the Adigar, that *“the Governor would never consent
to depose a prince who had not made any on on him, The Adigar then
asked what would be considered an , and whether an invasion of the
British territories by the Kandians would not come under that descr
tion.” Inferring that the King’s life was in danger, it was determined to elu:
the arts of the Adigar by a more perfect knowledge of the Court, and to send
General Macdowall with a sufficlent force to maintain his Majesty’s indepen<
dence. It was at the same time proposed, that if the King should approve of
it,; he should transport his person and his Court, for greater safety, into the
British territories, there to enjoy his royal "ﬁ:‘:"' and depute to Pilima Talawé
(his treacherous minister) the exercise of power in Kandy; also that a
British subsidiary force should be maintained there, and a sufficient indemnifi-
cation for its expense given by the Kandian Government either in land or
&roduee.—cordlner's Ooly"llon. 11, 162. Notable expedients for maintaining the

ing’s royal rights and independence |

3 The ambassador’s suit consisted of five companies of the 19th regiment, as
mun{ Sipahis, and as many of Malays, with four field-pleces, two howitzers,
artillery and pioneers,—Percival, Account of Ceylon, 876,
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BOOK 1II. united them against a common enemy ; while an excuse
cuar. ut. for an appeal to arms seems to have been solicitously

1815,

sought for by the British. At length some Cingalese
traders from the British territories, having been despoiled
of a parcel of Betel nuts which they had purchased, com-
plained to the Governor. Their case was advocated by
him with the King ; its truth was admitted, and redress
was promised but never granted. In the mean time
reports reached Colombo that the people of the villages
on the frontier were in training, and practising archery,
and that active preparations, of a menacing tenor, but
rather of a defensive than an offensive character, were in
progress. Upon these occurrences, Mr, North determined
to make war upon the King, unless he subscribed to a
treaty promising compensation for the expenses of mili-
tary equipments, and the plunder of the Betel nuts; to
permit the formation of a military road from Colombo to
Trincomalee, and suffer Cinnamon peelers and wood cutters
to follow their calling in the Kandyan districts. It was
intimated at the same time, that the aggressions which
had been perpetrated, had left the Governor at perfect
liberty to recognise and support the claims which any
other Prince of the family of the Sun might form to the
diadem worn by his Kandyan Majesty.! The intimation
was not likely to conciliate his accession to a friendly
convention, and was replied to by predatory incursions
into the British frontier, and the plunder and murder of
its subjects. To repress and avenge these injuries, & force
under General Macdowall was despatched from Colombo,
and another under Colonel Barbut from Trincomalee. The
two divisions encountering no serious opposition on their
march, met on the Mahavali-ganga, three miles from
Kandy, and on the 21st of February entered the capital.
The town, which was completely deserted, had been set
on fire by the inhabitants, but the ﬂa.mes were speedily
extinguished, and Kandy was in the occupation of the
British.

As the reigning monarch had been so little sensible of
the benefits to be derived from the British allmnce, a more
tractable sovereign was brought forward in the person of

! Proclamation by the Governor of Ceylon, Jan. 29th, 1803, also letter to
the King.—Papers printed for Parliament, 6th April, 1804,
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Mutu-sami, a brother of the late Queen, and:a competitor BOOK 1I.
for the throne, who had been obliged: to seek refuge in- the: cuar. 1.

colony. A treaty was concluded with him, by which he
ceded certain districts and immunities, and in requital
was acknowledged as monarch of Kandy, and promised,
as long as he might require- it, the aid of an auxiliary
force. Mutu-sami was conducted. to the capital, where
he arrived on the 4th of March. He brought no accession
«of strength, as the people were either afraid or disinclined
-to support his cause ; and hence perhaps its sudden aban-
donment bythe Governor,who presentlyafterwards engaged:
to invest the Adigar with regal authority, on condition of
his delivering up his master, assigning a pension. to Mutu-
sami, and making the same cessions which that unfortunate
Prince had consented to grant.!

After a short stay at Kandy, during which several skir-
mishes took place with the Cingaless, invariably to their
disadvantage, but without any decisive results, the preva-
lence of jungle-fever, generated by the pestilential vapours
of the surrounding forests, to which many of the men
and officers fell victims, compelled. the retirement of the
greater part of the survivors ; and, finally, the protection
of Kandy, and of Mutu-sami, was consigned to Major
Davie, with a body of 500 Malays and 200 Europeans of
the 19th regiment,—the latter almost incapacitated for
duty by sickness, and the former speedily thinned by
frequent desertions. In this state, they were attacked on
the 24th of June by the Cingalese in immense numbers,
headed by the King and the Adigar, and encouraged by
their knowledge of the enfeebled state of the garrison:
a severe conflict ensued, which lasted: for seven. hours,
when Major Davie was under the necessity of proposing
a suspension of hostilities. The proposal was acceded to,
and a capitulation agreed upon, by which: the garrison,
accompanied: by Mutu-sami; were to be permitted to.retire
with their arms, on giving up. Kandy and all military

L] .

¥ Parliamentary. Debate, 14th- March, 1804, The engagement is not men-
tioned by Cordiner, although he observes that at this time Pilame-Talawé had
the effrontery to carry on a deceitful correspondence, under the mask of friend-
ship, with the Commander of the British. forces; and no. art was left untried:
which might dupé or cajolo our Government. The engagements with the
églfn ;“;5 specitied upon the authority of Major Forbes.—Elsven Years in

ylon, 1. 25.
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BOOK IL stores. It was promised that the sick, who were incapable
cuar, 1. of being removed, should be taken care of until they

1815.

could be sent to & British settlement, Upon these stipu-
lations Major Davie evacuated Kandy, and marched to the
banks of the Mahavali-ganga, which, being swollen by the
rains, was no longer fordable : no boats were at hand, and
the enemy showed himself in force in different quarters.
On the following day, a mission came from the King,
demanding that Mutu-sami should be given up, when
boats would be furnished to the English, After some
hesitation, the demand was complied with. The unhappy
Prince, with several of his kinsmen, were immediately
put to death, That his abandonment, and the disgrace
which it entailed upon the British faith, might have been
avoided by a greater display of resolution than was ex-
hibited, is not impossible; but a determination to pre-
serve the Prince at all hazards, even if it had been
entertained by the officers, was little likely to have been
acquiesced in by the men, consisting almost wholly of
Malays, who saw in his surrender their only hope of
safety. -‘The hope was fallacious, as might have been
oxpected from the treachery of the enemy. The King
commanded the destruction of the whole party. The
Adigar is said to have manifested some reluctance to
violate the capitulation ; but at last consented to become
the instrument of his master’s revenge. He prevailed
upon Major Davie and his officers to accompany him out
of sight of the men, who were then told that that their
officers had crossed the river, and that, upon laying down
their arms, they would be also ferried across to join them.
Conducted in small parties to the edge of the river, at a
spot where they could not be seen by their comrades,
they were sucoessively stabbed, or butchered in various
ways, and their bodies were thrown into a contiguous
hollow. At the same time the whole of the sick, 4 hundred
and fifty, of whom a hundred and thirty-two were British
soldiers, were barbarously put to death, the dead and the
dying having been thrown promiscuously into a pit pre-
pared for the purpose! Most of the officers were also
murdered, or died shortly afterwards. Major Davie sur-
vived till about 1810, when he died af Ka.ndy, latterly
unmolested and almost unnoticed.®

1 Davy’s Ceylon, 3 Forbes, 1. 34, Heber’s Travels, il. 256.
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" The recovery of- his capital and the destruction of the BOOK 1I.
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garrison, inspired the Kandyan Monarch with the ambition cnir.m.’

of expelling the Europeans from the island ; and during

the remainder of 1803 and the ensuing year, repeated

efforts wore made to penetrate into the colony. At first,
during the exhausted state of the troops, some advantages
were obtained by the enemy; and on one occasion they
penetrated to within fifteen miles of Colombo, Their

_attempts were, however, repulsed. Reinforcements were
sent to the island,' and the British became strong enough
to retaliate.” Several spirited incursions were made into
the Kandyan territories, which served to check and in-
timidate the enterprises of the ehemy. In 1805, the first
" Adigar acquired additional authority by the indisposition
of the King; and a cessation of hostilities ensued, which
was continued by mutual acquiescence; without any express
armistice, for several years.?

Whatever may have been the designs of the Adigar,
Pilame Talawe, in his negotiations with the English, he
remained apparently faithful to his Sovereign, until the
King's tyranny and cruelty taught him fears for his own
life. He then engaged in open rebellion — was unsucces-
ful — was taken and beheaded. He was succeeded in his
office by Ahailapalla, who in his turn incurred and
resented the suspicion and tyranny of the King. He
instigated a rebellion in the district of Juffragam, over
which he presided: but his adherents fell from him upon
the approach of a rival Adigar with the royal forces, and

he was obliged to fly. He found refuge in Colombo: but"

many of his followers were taken and impaled. The
King’s savage cruelty now surpassed all that can bo ima-
gined of barbarian inhumanity. Among a number of
persons who were seized and put to death with various
aggravations of suffering, the family of the fugitive Mi-

nister, which had remained in the tyrant’s grasp, were-

sentenced to execution; the children, one of them an
infant at the breast, were beheaded, the heads were cast
into a rice-mortar, and the mother was commanded to

1 In 1804, two ts of volunteer Sipahis went n-om . Natlve
levies were also in the Madras districts. A regiment of s was
tomod. and his )Muty‘l 66th regiment arrived.

3 Cordiner's Ceylon, il. 209,

1915,
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BOOK II. pound them with the pestle, under the threat of being
onae. . disgracefully tortured if she hesitated to obey. To avoid

1815,

the disgrace, the wretched mother did lift up the pestle,
and let it fall upon her children's heads. Her own death
was an act of mercy. She, her sister-in-law, and some
other females, were immediately afterwards drowned.
These atrocities struck even the Kandyans with horror ;
and for two days the whole city was filled with mourning
and lamentation, and observed & period of public fasting
and humiliation. The King's ferocity was insatiable:
executions were incessant, no persons were secure, and
even the Chief Priest of Buddha, ' man of great learning
and benevolence, fell a victim to the tyrant's thirst for
blood. A general sentiment of fear and detestation per-
vaded both chiefs and people, and the whole country was
ripe for revolt.

The urgent representations of Ahailapalla, and a know-
ledge of the state of public feeling in the Kandyan pro-
vinces, induced the Governor, Sir Robert Brownrigg, to
prepare for a war, which was oertain to oceur, in conse-
quence of the disorders on the frontier, and the.insane
fury of the King. Occasion soon arose : some merchants,
subjects of the British Government, trading to Kandy,
were seized by the King's orders as spies, and so cruelly
mutilated that most of them died ; and about the same
time a party of Kandyans ravaged the villages on the
British boundary. The Governor immediately declared
war against the King, and sent a bedy of troops into his
country.! They wore joined by the principal chiefs and
the people, and advanced, without meeting an enemy, to
the capital. They arrived there on the 14th of February.
On the 18th, the King, who had attempted to fly, was
taken and brought in by a party of Ahailapalla’s followers.?
On the 2nd of March he was formally deposed;* and the
allegiance of the Kandyans was transferred to- the British
Crown. Vikrama Raja Singha was-sent a captive to Vel-
lore, where he died in January, 1832: -

1 Proclamation, 10th Jan., 1815, _As. Journal, Feb., 1816, Accoun
War in Kandy, Parl. Papers, 17th May, 1819, ' . b of the
; gamtlvo oful‘s’vent:(:n g:ylon. tha Go fc S
'3 By a convention made brtween the Governor of Ceylon on the f
King of Great Britain, and the Adigars, Dessaves, and gther. pﬂnﬂy';l.?h?el:»l::f
iy el St o i et o
men and of the people, arel «~—~Davy’s Ceylon, A .
Parl. Papers, 17th May, 1819, No.3. Y78 Geylon, Appendlz, L
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)

The change of authority, and the substitution of a new BOOK H.

and foreign dominion for that of the ancient native rulers,
‘however acosptable under the influence of popular terror
and disgust, began te lose their recommendations as soon
as .apprehension was allayed, and the chiefs and people
wero able calmly to consider the character of the revolu-
tion to which they had contributed. The chiefs found
that ‘their power was diminished and ‘their dignity im-
paired ; the priests felt indignant-at.the want of reverence
shown to them and to-their religion: and the people,sym-
pathizing with both, had also grievances of ‘their own to
complain of, in the-contempt displayed for ‘their customs
and institutions, and the disregard manifested for their
prejudices and feelings bythe English functionaries and
their subordinates. A general rebellion was ‘the conse-
quence. It broke out at the end of 1817, and was headed
by Kapitipalla, the brother-in-law of Ahax]apallo., who,
notwithstanding the protection he had received from the
English, was suspected of having secretly fomented the
insurrection, and was consequently arrested.

In the beginning of 1818, most of -the Kandyan pro-
vinces were in arms against the Britiéh-; and a pretender
to the throne was braught forward in the person of an
inferior Buddhist priest, who was falsely represented to be
a member of the royal family. Troops were sent against
the-insurgents, ‘but for some time with little success; as
albhough ‘they rarely met with open resistance, they were
perpetuelly harassed 'by:the natives, waylaid and cut off
in detall ; and ‘this system of warfare, combined with the
difficulty of the country, and 'the unhealthiness of the
climate, inflicted so much loss and discouragement, ‘that,
:after ‘some months of unavailing exertion, it became &
question whetherthe contest:should not-be abandoned.*

Reirforcements ‘were -earnestly applied for from ‘the
Presidencies -of :Bengal anl Madras; -and although the
state of affairs on the continent -of Todia rendered com-
pliance with'the requisition inconvenient, yet:the urgency
of thercase compelled the Indian:Governments to make an
‘éffort ‘for the ,purpose.; .antl one .regimerit of Eurgpeans
and several battalions -of native troops were despatohed

“1'Dr, Davy estimates the lossof the Brittih: ltmtlwmdmn. qu
the natives at fully ten:times that number.—p. 831,

-CHAP, 111,

1818,
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BOOK 1I. to Ceylon. Other circumstances contributed to encourage
cuar. 1, the Government to persevere: the people of the country

" 1818,

had suffered even more severely than the British ; their
villages were burnt, their fruit trees cut down, their crops
laid waste, and they were driven to the thickets and
mountains, among the wild tribes in the interior of thé
island. Exposure, hunger, and disease, were equally fatal
as the sword, which descended heavily upon them in re-
taliation of the cruelty they showed to stragglers who fell
into their hands, Equally disheartened by the aspect of
affairs, the chiefs quarrelled among themselves. The pre-
tender was disavowed and exposed, and even put in the

- stocks by one of his former adherents. Three of the

leaders of the insurrection were taken,—two of them,-
Kapitipalla and Madugalle, were tried and beheaded ; the
third, the son of Pilama Tulawe, was banished to the Mau-
ritius, as were Ahailapalla and several other chiefs of in+
ferior note. With their apprehension, the disturbances
ceased ; for although the pretender escaped and remained
at large until 1829, his cause found no supporters.! When
ultimately seized, he was tried and condemned to death,
but received a pardon from the Crown. Upon the resto-
ration of tranquillity, various alterations were made in the
mode of managing the Kandyan provinces calculated to
conciliate the good will of their inhabitants. The power
of the Adigars and Desawes was circumscribed by associ-
ating with them European civilians in the administration
of justice, and the collection of the revenue, The appoint-
ment of head men of the districts was taken from the
chiefs, and reserved to the Government. All taxes were
merged into a tax of one-tenth of the produce of the rice-
fiolds, payable in kind? Several minor provisions were
enacted of a similar purport. The immediate effect of
these arrangements was beneficial ; and the people gra-
dually came to be reconciled to the altered oircumatances
of their political condition.

Returning to the continent of India, we find that hos-

! Another event which contributed to the pacification of the fsland was the
recovery of the duluda, or tooth of Buddha, a sacred relic carefully preserveqd
in the principal temple at Kandy, and oemlomlly obemd to the devont.
According to the superstitious bellef of the peop g-uhn of ehla
tooth ensures umnlgnty ~—See an account of Itn exhlbmon Forbes, 1,

3 Praciamation by Sir Robert Brownrigg, 31st Nov., 1818.—Davy's Ceylon
App. ¥o. II. . N
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tilities were carried on almost simultaneously with the BOOK 1l
Nepal war in a different and distant quarter, in conse- cuar. .

quence of which a political connexion was first established -

with the state of Cutch. The country had long been the
scene of disorder. The authority of its nominal ruler, or
Rao Raidhan, had been superseded by that of two adven-
turers, — the one, Hans-raj, a Hindu merchant, the other,
Fatteh Mohammed, an officer of the Arab mercenaries in
‘the service of the Rao. These two disputed the post of
Minister, and divided between them the power of the
Prince. Application had been frequently made by each of
tho competitors for the interference of the British (lo-
vernment ; but as no advantage appeared likely to result
from such interposition, it was declined. The quarrel was
terminated by the death of Hans-raj, the Hindu, in 1809:
and his rival, Fatteh Mohammed, continued in possession
of the office of Minister until 1813, when his death, and
that of the Rao, his master, left affairs even in & more
troubled condition than had prevailed during their lives.

. The Rao, under the influence of Fatteh Mohammed, had
apostatized to the Mohammedan religion ; and left a son,
Manuba or Bharmalji, by a wife. of the same faith. The
Jhareja Rajputs, of whom the Rao was the head, and the
other military tribes of Cutch, disputed Manuba's succes-
sion, holding him to be illegitimate and an outcast ; and
raised to the throne his cousin Lakhpati, or Ladhuba, the
nephew of the late Rao.

Each of the competitors was supported by a party suffi-
ciently powerful to neutralize the efforts of his opponents,
and to prevent the establishment of any recognized au-
thority. The slender control to which the chiefs had ever
submitted was annulled, and a general state of anarchy
prevailed in the province. No attempt was made to re-
press the disorder, until it became necussary to prevent its
effects from extending to the territories, of which the
defence was a duty imposed on the British Government by
the terms of its alliance with the Gaekwar. The peninsula
of Kattiwar is separated from Guzerat by the Ran, an ox-
tensive tract of low saline land, inundated partially by the
sea, but at times capable of being traversed. It was
crossed at all times by marauding bands from Wagar, the
eastern portion of Cutch, the people of whioh, when the

1811,
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BOOK II, Ran was dry,.came over to Kattiwar in strong bodies of
cnar. 11, both horse:and foot, and ‘burnt the villages, carried off the

1816.

cattle, and murdered the inhabitants. ‘When 'the sea was
in, they crossed it in boats, and committed ‘similar depre-
-dations. The points of access were too numerous to be
all sufficiently guarded ; and the'movements -of the plun-
derers were too sudden and rapid to be effectively coun-
teracted by the two troops stationed on the frontier. Re-
monstrances and threats were alike unavailing in prevent-
ing the repetition of these inroads, and the people exposed
to them contemplated .abandoning the country ; when it
was resolved to givethem efficient protection by sending
a body of troops agminst Bhooj, the eapital of ‘Cutch,
where Bharmal-ji had been-established in some degree of
power by the acquiescence of ‘the .contumacious Jharejas,
and had been reconciled with his:cousin, ‘Who was & ‘mere
youth, and who resided also at the capital. Rao Bharmal-
i, however, manifested no-inclination te endeavour ‘to re-
press the imcursiens :6f the ‘Wagar -banditti, but.on the
contrary, contracted an .alliance with 'their chiefs, and
ordered the British native Agent 4o rétire from Bhodj.
Under the settlement made by Major Walkerin Katti-
war, the turbulent Rajputs of that provinee continued for
some years peaceable and submissive ; but towards ‘the
year 1814, the intrigues of the Peshwa generated a spirit.
of insubordination, which ‘hurried some of the subordinate
chiefs into acts of violence and rebellion. 'The troops -of
the Gaekwar, sent against them, were defeated, and Colonel
East, with .part -of the subsidiary force marched against
the :rebels: 'I‘hey were afraid to :encounter the British.
The chief of Juria, one-of the most considerable, gave up
his fort, and the rest following his example, order was
-quiokly restored.? .Bo easy a ‘suppression of ‘the dis-
turbances disappointed the 'policy of ‘the'Court of Cutch,
whioh had despatched:a'body of Arabs to 'the aid of the
Khwas of Juria;:and ‘to ;punish this act.of hostility, as welk
a8 -effectually to put & wtop to the :depredations -of ‘the
plunderers from Wagar, Colonel East was directed to

VThe. force was ‘his ‘lajesty’s 17¢h It dragoons .and 65th ‘foot. The
(ngmh.y) ‘regiment, aud 'the 6th, 7th, and 8th N, 1,, with:a: tnla of

.m]]pry' ‘three thousand of the ukmr $roops.
B.W -

Gazotts, Jen,, 1818,
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advance into Cutch;-and accordingly crossed the Ran, in BOOK IL
December, 1815, - CHAP. 112,
The first operations of the British were directed against -
Anjar, of which Hasan Meya, one of the sons of the late 1816,
minister Fatteh Mohammed, had possessed himself. On
the approach of.the force, this-chief professed to enter-
tain friendly senfiments ; but -it was discovered that he
had directed the wélls and tanks of the neighbourhoed to
be poisoned, &nd ip punishment of his treachery batteries
were opened against the fort. When a practicable breach
was effected, Hasan Meya gave up :Anjar and ‘the port of
Juner on the Gulph ‘of Cutch, one of its dependencies,
which were occupied ‘by a detachment of British troops.
The force then proceeded ‘towards Bhooj, but was met by
a pacific deputation from the Rao, and an agreement was
concluded, guaranteed by five chiefs,” by which the Rao
promised to indemnify the parties whohad rights in Katti-

-war for the losses suffered from the Wagar banditti, to
reimburse the Brifish Government the expenses of the
expedition, to prevent the commission of acts of piracy
and plunder, and to receive an-agent of the Bombay go-
vernment at Bhooj. The fort-and district of Anjar were
ceded in perpetuity,and an annual payment of two lakhs
of cowries (about 70,000 rupees) was pledged ‘to the Bri-
tish‘Government. On-their part, they undertook to assist
theRao in re-establishing his powerover those places which
had ‘been -nlienated from him by the insubordination or
treachery of his -officers, and to chastise the robbers of
Wagar and ‘demolish their strongholds, A definitive
treaty to ‘this effect was executed on the 16th-of Janu-
ary, 1816} The latter stipulations were ‘soon reslised.
The officers -of thé Rao hastened ‘to relinquish their
usurpations, and the plundering tribes of Wagar, retired
to ‘the north to the great sandy desert of Parkur before
o British detachment. To prevent their return, the
troops ‘of the Rao were posted in commanding situa-
tions, .and ‘the ‘marauders were for some time -deterred
from :a repefition -of their destructive inroads.
Having thus restoted tranquillity in Cutch, and brought

the principality ‘within -the spule :of the system -of sub-

1 Treaties:with Native powers, priblished by-orderof the ‘House “nomm.
‘27th May, 1818, p. 33,
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sidiary alliances, Colonel East was directed to take the
only measure which experience had shown to be effective
for the final suppression of piracy on the southern coast
of the Gulph of Cutch, by dispossessing the chiefs of the
district of Okamandel of their forts and towns, and placing
them under British authority. Little opposition was
offered. The fort of Dingi was taken by storm ; batteries
were opened against the sacred city of Dwaraka, but the
chief surrendered himself before the assault was given,
and a Sipahi garrison took the place of his Sindhian mer-
cenaries. The Raja of Bate also gave himself up on con-
dition of an adequate provision being made for himself
and family, and protection being assured to private property
and the religious establishments on the island, At Wasaye
a skirmish occurred, in which Nur-ud-din, a notorious
pirate and ringleader, was slain,—an event which materi-
ally accelerated the submission of the district. Colonel
East then proceeded in the beginning of March, to Junar-
gerh, where order was in like manner restored. The
objects of the armament were thus accomplished, and the
force returned to cantonments early in May, The district
of Okamandal was in the following year transferred to the
Gaekwar. :

The connexion with the Court of Baroda had undergone
no material alteration. The debts of the Gaekwar, for
which the British Government had become the guarantee,
although considerably reduced, had not yet been liqui-
dated, and the incapacity of the Prince still continuing
undiminished, the administration of affairs by Fatteh Sing,
under the general superintendance and control of the
Resident, remained unaltered, with the express sanction of
the Court of Directors.! The administration had been
strengthened by the addition of Gangadhar Sastri, Colonel
Walker's able native assistant, as thc associate of Fatteh
Sing,

fctive intrigues wore kept on foot by a powerful party
in the Court, for the restoration of the discarded minister
Sitaram Raoji to power, and every proposal to send him to

1 Letter to Bengal, 19th March, 1815, ¢ We haveno hesitation in declaring
that at least the time of our eu:ll::’g to interfere In the internal affairs of the
Barods ?It:“ should be extended to the period when the debt should be
liguidated. o .
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a distance was successfully resisted, although his removal BOOK II.
to Bombay was at length consented to. In the mean ciar.m.
time, he had opened secret communications with the
Peshwa, in which the Raja himself was implicated, the
consoquences of which were fatal to the head of the
Muhratta state, as will be hereafter described.

Passing to the Mohammedan allies of the Company, with
whom the oxisting relations were unaffected by the subse-
quent hostilities, we find that the friendly intercourse
with the Court of Hyderabad was threatened with some
interruption, towards the close of 1815, The Nizam, and
the minister of his nomination, Munir-ul-Mulk, had alike
withdrawn from all concern in public affuirs, and devoting
their whole time to low and sensual gratifications, com-
mitted, with sullen indifference, the charge of the state to
the minister’s nominal deputy, Chandu Lal, who, depend-
ing for his power entirely upon British support, was
agsiduous in cultivating the good will of the Resident.
Txcluded from offices of credit and activity, the sons of
the Nizam, abandoned to their own discretion, followed
the example of the Court, and became notorious only by
their excesses. The two youngest, Samsam-ud-dowla and
Mubarik-ud-dowla, distinguished themselves in this. out-
rageous career ; and, surrounded by a band of profligate
retainers prompt to execute whatever their masters en-
Jjoined, these young men filled the city with tumult and
alarm, and excited the aversion and terror of the peaceable
citizens by their contempt for all authority and law.
Repeated representations of the evil consequences of their
conduct were made by the Resident, and' the Nizam was,
after some time, prevailed upon to direct that they should
be placed under restraint, and that guards should be sta-
tioned at their dwellings, Captain Hare, with a party of
the Nizam’s regular infantry, was commanded to execute
the order; but, on his approach to the palace, he was

16.

! Among other lawless acts, they established a tribunal of their own, in
which judgment was avowedly given in favour of those who most liberally
bribed the judges, notwithstanding the groundlessness of their claims. The
rightful owners of houses and gardens were dispossessed of their property in
behalf of any one who chose to assert a claim to them, and who purchased
the award of the Prince and the services of his myrmidons, The Nizam him-
self and the members of his family were not safe from their insolence, and the
immunitles of the Resident were invaded by the seizure and corporal castiga-
tion of one of his servants.
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BOOK 1II received with a -heavy fire of matchlocks from the tops of
cuAr. ut. the houses, by which several of his men and Lieutenant

1816.

Darby, an-officer of the Resident's escort, were killed. The
party made their way, nevertheless, to the palace, and
blew open the gates, but the resistance they -encountered
from the Prince’s'adherents was too formidable to be over-
come, and :Captain Hare deemed ‘it prudent to retreat.
He was reinforced by 100 European:and 400 native troops,
who took up their station for the night at the residence of
the minister. Much alarm was felt by the Nizam and his
prinaipal courtiers at the advance of the European detach-
ments ; but this subsided when its weakness was known,
and some of the principal Omras urged the Nizam to fall
upon tho Residency, and exterminate its .defenders, A
general ferment pervaded the city, and & popular senti-
ment was expressed that Mubarik-ud-dowla was alone a
worthy descendant of Nizam-ul-Mulk, and -thatif he would
hold out he should not want support. The moment was
critical. 'The -subsidiary force had been sent into the
field, and & small division only remainedin - cantonments.
In addition to ‘the numerous population of Hyderabad,

‘there remained in 'the neighbourhood ten thousand Patan

soldiers, whom :the minister was -engaged in .disbanding,

‘and who would gladly ‘have joined in any :tumult. The
" firmness.of the Nizam, who, on this occasion showed, that

when ‘roused to action 'he did not want ability, and the
prudence of the Resident .prevented -a collision. The
Europeans were withdrawn froin the city—~no movement
of the people or of the chiefs was sanctioned or encou-

raged, and measures were ‘promptly taken ‘to -dbtain rein-

forcements. ‘General Doveton was summoned from Akole,
and troops were ‘dlso required ‘from Bellari. Although
Chandu-Lul ‘was -dfreid ‘to :press -the -confinement of the
Princes, the measure was insisted on, and, with some
reluctance, was nccetled to ‘bythe Nizam, The interval
that elapsed hefore the troops could arrive, allowed the
‘Princes an opportunity of discovering ‘the dangerous pre-
dicament in ‘which theyslood, and they nolonger opposed

.the Nigam's pleasure. They-were ‘sent off ‘to ‘Golconda,
‘where wers the remains-of & pelace «f the Mobammedan

*kings df ‘the:country, and:an extensive fort. ‘Tranguillity
was restored before the arrival of theamdiitional troaps,
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and their march was countermanded—an extensive rising BOOK I1.
of the Mohammedans of Hyderabad, headed by the princes, cuar. ur,
or by the Nizam, would at this season have seriously :
embarrassed the Government of India. 1814
The discussions whioh took place with the Nawab of
Oude during the latter years of Lord Minto’s administra-
tion have: been described. Approving entirely of the
menner in which the Resident had urged. the reforms
which the Government of Bengal pressed upon the Nawab’s
adoption, one of that nobleman’s last acts was, as we have
seen, the expression, in strong terms, of his determination
to uphold the measures and enforce the recommendations
of the Governor-General's representative at the Court
of Lucknow. Nothing seemed to be left to the Nawab
but to submit, when the arrival of Lord Moira suggested
the hope that a less unrelenting policy might be pursued.
He was not disappointed. The habits of his past life had
taught the Governor-General to sympathise with royalty
in distress: and although he conourred in the principle of
reform, and in the expedience of the particular arrange-
ment which had been devised for the administration of
Oude, he conceived that the Nawab had been treated with
Jess deference than was due to his rank, or was consistent
with: the nature of the connection which united him with
the East India Company. He determined, therefore, to
adopt & tone of conciliation,’ and enjoined the Resident to
refrain from agitating questions of minor consideration,
which, while they led to no important result, could not
fail ta excite irritation and dissatisfaction in the mind of
the Nawab, - Finally, perceiving that the Nawab’s consent
and co-operation in the proposed measures of reform were
not to be hoped for; and believing that to insist upon
their being carried .into effect without his. cordial con-
currence, would amount to a dissolution of the existing
relations between the two states, the Governor-General
determined to relinquish the specific plan proposed by
Lord Minto, and confine the object of the-Government to
enunly of the Govecaments to rivets {afisonce and Intignes & Ceiouta: s
negotiation was carried on there, he says, for his removal, for effecting which,
the Vizir offered twenty-five Jakhs of: rupees. An English gentleman was
Tokiced as an ngnt in.the negotiation without mention of his name.—Letter

from the Resident, 3rd Nov , 1816, Onde Papers, printed for the use of the
Proprietors of Iudia Stock, Juno, 1824, p. 563.
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BOOK 1L. obtaining from the Nawab such measures of reform as he
cuar. nr. should himself propose, although of more limited scope:

1814,

and efficacy. Compliance with such suggestions, coming
from the Prince himself, would, his Lordship expected,
have a beneficial effect, and would prepare the way for
more advantageous innovations. A letter to this purport
was addressed to the Nawab Vizir ; and for the remainder
of his life, which was not long protracted, the question
was at rest. Sadat Ali died on the 11th of July, 1814. He
was succeeded by his eldest son, who assumed the desig-
nation of Ghazi-ud-din Hyder.!

The gratitude which was felt by the new Sovereign
towards Major Baillie, for the prompt and judicious
arrangements by which upon the demise of Sadat Ali
he had guarded against all risk of opposition? to the suc-
cession, rendered the Nawab at first amenable to the
advice of the Resident. His Ministers were chosen upon
the recommendation of that officer, and as they looked to
him for support, they were ready to become the instru~
ments of accomplishing his wishes. No time was lost in
instituting the revenue reforms which he had so strenu-
ously advocated. The Principality of Oude was portioned
out into Zillas and Mahals, and collectors on the part of
the (fovernment were deputed to the latter, subject to the
superior authority of the Zilla-dar Nazim, or Lieutenant-
Governor of the larger district. Arrangements for the
administration of justice were also proposed, and an
attempt was likewise made to introduce an armed -police ;
but the opposition of the villagers to this part of the
project was so universal and vehement, that its prosecution
was suspended. The new system of collection was scarcely
less unpopular, and was far from realising the benefits
which were expected to result from it. It was, in fact, an
injudicious repetition of the mistake committed in the

! The success with which Sadat All prosecuted his favourite project of
amassing wealth, was proved by the accumulated treasure found in his coffers ;
his hoards amounted to thirteen millions sterling, the accumulation of cleven
years.—Comm, Committee, 1832. Political Evidence of Col. Bafllie.

3 Some had been expected from Shams-ud-dowla, the second and favourite
son of Sadat Ali, who, during his father’s life-time, had been appointed the
Deputy (Naib) and Representative (Kaim Mokam) of the Nawab, and to whom
Sadat All had apparently desired to bequeath his power. No time was given
for a party to be formed in his favour. To prevent subsequent dissension he
was persuaded to retire to Benares upon a pension from Lucknow, guaranteed
by the British Government.—OQude Papers, 869,
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Company’s territories, that of prematurely forcing upon BOOK 1.
the people institutions foreign to their habits, strange to cuar. .

their notions, and repulsive to their feelings. Troops
were still required, therefore, to compel payment of the
revenues, and their collection was as uncertain and irre-
gular as before ; while to the imperfect apprehension of
the Nawab the payment of the collectors by a per-centage
rate upon the amount collected, appeared to be an un-
necessary and- unreasonable deduction from his own
receipts. (hazi-ud-din, therefore, soon withdrew his
confidence, both from the Resident and from his own
Ministers, looking upon them as the creatures and spies
of the former. There were not wanting in his court
intriguing individuals to aggravate the Nawab's dissatis-
faction, and, he became no less anxious thun his father
had been to accomplish Major Baillie’s removal from
his councils. :

The Earl of Moira, in order to be near the scene of
action in the Nepal war, had repaired to the Upper Pro-
vinces, and arrived at Cawnpore in October, 1814. He
was immediately visited by the young Nawab, and returned
with him shortly afterwards to Lucknow. On this occa-
sion, the Nawab offered to the Company, as his free gift,
a crore of rupees, about a million sterling! Acceptance
of the gift was declined ; but the money was received as
a loan, which the charges of the approaching campaign
rendercd highly opportune. The amount was accordingly
registered as an item of the public debt, bearing interest
at 6 per cent.,—the current rate; the interest being
applied to the acquittance of sundry pensions which
were payable by the Nawab, under the guarantee of the
government of Bengal. The arrangement was advan-
tageous to the pensioners as well as mutually convenient
to the contracting parties. On this occasion? the Nawab
presented a paper, which, although obscurely worded,
manifested some degree of dissatisfaction with his actual
condition ; expressed a desire that the system of collection
should be suspended in favour of a plan to be subsequently

1 Political Letter from Bengal, Aug. 1815.—Papers, 846. The offer was not,
however, an original idea., The Resident says, * I was instructed to open a
negotiation with the Vizir for the loan of a crore of Tupees to the Honourable

Company, to appear as a voluntary offer to Lord Moira."—Papers, 953,
3 Minufe of the Governor-General, 30t Nov., 1814.—Oude Papers, 920.

1814.
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BOOK II proposed ; and clearly intimated the wish of the Nawab
<nar. 11, to be made more independent of the Resident’s control,

1815,

although professing a personal attachment to Major
Baillie, and a firm reliance upon the reciprocity of his
regard.'

Private information having reached the Governor-Gene-
ral that the Nawab had not unreservedly and sincerely
communicated his wishes and sentiments with respect to
the Resident, having been deterred from so doing by Lerd
Moira’s having recommended to him to place implicit
reliance upon Major Buillie’s counsels, some pains were
taken to induce him to be more explicit. Several con-
ferences ensued, not only with the Governor-General, but
with members both of his civil and military staf? From
the former the Nawab continued to withhold his entire
confidence ; but to some of the latter he imparted with
different degrees of explicitness his anxiety for Major
Ballie's removal. He also delivered to Mr. Ricketts, the
chief secretary, and to the Governor-General two several
statoments, alike in tenor, in which he preferred a number
of complaints against the conduct of the Resident on
various occasions, as disrespectful and vexatious, or us
cencroaching upon the rights and derogatory to the dignity.
of the Nawab. Both these documents were presented in
the course of the 31st of October. On the 1st of Novem-
ber they were retracted. A confidential agent was sent
by the Nawab to disavow the averments of the preceding
day — declaring that the statements delivered by him did
not express his sentiments, and that they had been pre-
pared and put into his hands by Kuropean gentlemen
attached to his service, who had persuaded him that any
representations unfavourable to the Resident would be
agreeable to Lord Moira. A similar disavowal was re-
peated by the Nawab, in a letter to Lord Moira, and in a
conference with Mr. Rlcketts Mr. Adam, and Mr. Swinton,
in which the principal subjects of complaint, as exhibited.
in the papers, were deliberately canvassed. They were all
disowned, and were referred to the advice of evil eoun-

1 13th Oct.—Papers, 870.

3 Conversation with Captain Gllbert, about. 29111 Oct., Oude Papers, 922.
Confercnce with Mr. Ricketts, 31st Oct., ibid. p 875, ' Ditto with Messrs.
Ricketts, Adaw, and Swinton, 4th Nov. Ibid. 885, )
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sellors, who had led him to believe that their tenor would BOOK 11.
bo acceptable to the Governor-General. Inferring, how- cuar. m,

ever, from the language and deportment of his Lordship,
that this information was erroneous, and actually enter-
taining no cause of complaint against the Resident, the
Nawab hastened to withdraw the accusations which ‘had
been put into his mouth, and declared his readiness to
punish his prompters by their immediate dismissal.
They were accordingly dismissed, although they unequivo-
cally denied having had any concern in preparing the
documents, or in having influenced the Nawab to present

them to the Governor-General. It cannot be ‘doubted .

that their assertions were true, although they had been
repeatedly the confidants of the Nawab’s grievances ; had
apparently sympathized with him ; and had assured him
that a candid and open exposition would command the
Governor-General's attention.? The motives of the Nawab’s
sudden change of purpose are among the worthless secrets
of an intriguing Court : his first representations may not
have been free from sinister influences, but there is no
reason to question the reality of his desire to get rid of
the Resident, or to doubt that he sacrificed both his friends
and his veracity to a sudden and ungrounded dread of
having incurred the Governor-General’s displeasure by tho
open avowal of & wish which, contrary to his expectation,
appeared to be unacceptable to his Lordship.’ The man-
ner in which he pursued and abandoned his design is
characteristic of Asiatic duplicity, as well as of unsteadi-
ness of purpose and irresoluteness of execution.

Tho charges made by the Nawab were communicated
to the Resident, and were shown by him to be, in many

! Papers, 885,

2 Papers, 905.—The Resident ascribes this attempt to have him removed t)
a conspiracy set on foot by Hakim Mehdi Al Khan, who had been removed
from the office of Prime Minister to the late Nawab, at the Resident’s sugges
tion, as he was a principal opponent of the plan of reform, being a farmer of
the revenue to a considerable extent. Iis object was to be restored to his ap-
pointinent, which he knew was impossible while Major Baillie held office.—

Papers, p. 955. On the other hand, it appears probable the Nawab’s retracta- .

tion was owing to a panic inspired by the Aga Mfr, a personal friend of the

Nawab, who, besides his apprehensions of the consequences of his masiei’s

complaints, since they had failed to imnpair the Resident’s credit, probably

expected by this means to secure the Resident’s support in his appointment a3

the successor of Mehdi Ali. The interested rivalry of these two personi

seems to have been the pivot round which the other parts of the plot revolved.
3 Sce Baillie’s account.—Oude Papers, 957. . e
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ROOK 1I. instances, frivolous, unfounded, or false.! Some originated,
cnar. . apparently, in misunderstanding, and others. out. of the

1815,

ungracious duties inseparable from his office under the
instructions of the Gowvernment. As, however, they were
withdrawn, no further investigation was considered neces-
sary. A final representation was made by the Nawab,
the objects of which were to secure the integrity of his.
dominions, and to reserve the right of ruling his own
territories, of determining the course to be followed in
his fiscal and judicial administration, and of electing the
persons to be employed ; to deprecate the attention of
the Government to complaints against his measures pre-
ferred by his relations and dependants, to be allowed
permiasion to bestow. charitable- endewments, and to have -
the privilege of going out on hunting-parties whenever so
inclined. The requests were generally granted, and, in
communicating the correspoudence to, the Resident, in-
structions were added with regard: to. the spirit in which
his fanctions were to bo exercised, and the connexion
with the Nawab maintained. Acecording to Lord Moira’s
view of that connexion, the right to jnterfere with advice
or remoustrance. upon any mismanagement of affuirs with-
in the Nawab’s reserved dominions was confined to such
occasions as might injuriously affect the British interests.
In all other respects the administration of the Nawal»
was to bo absolutely free, for it seemed evident to the
Governor-Glencral, from the whole tenor of the treaty,
that an uninterrupted exercise of his own authority
within the reserved dominions was assured to him in
order to qualify the very strong step of appropriating, in
exchange for the subsidy, so large a portion of his terri-
tories. The Nawab was consequently to be treated in all
public observance as “ an independent Prince.” Agrec-
ably to this recognition, the conduct of the Resident was
to be regulated by the deference due to regal rank, and to
be characterised by a respectful urbanity and a strict ful-
filment of established ceremonials. In an especial man-
ner he was to refrain from countenancing or encouraging
any servant of the Nawab in contumacious opposition to
his master, and from recommending any persen frora his

1 Letter from the Resident, 9th Nov.—Payers, p. 96,
DPapers, 919, .
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own heusehold for reception into the Nawab's immediate BOOK 1.
service. By adherence to these, and similar injunctions, cuar.im.
the Governor-General hoped that both the actual Resident :
and his successors would obtain from the Nawab a willing 1813
compliance on every occasion where it might be neces-

sary to interpose advice: With these monitory instrue-

tions: the inquiry terminated, and cordiality was appa-

rently restored. It was not of long duration.

In the thonth of Mareh following, as:the war expenditure
still continued, recourse to the hoards of Sadat Ali again
beeame c¢onvenient, and the Resident, acting in obedience
to the orders of the Governor-Beneral, extracted from the
Nawab a second' crore of Rupees. Although Ghazi-ud-din
complied with the application, his unwilling consent
seems to have confirmed his estrangement from the Re-
sident, and rendered: him still more' than ever hostile to
all projects of reform. The Resident, ascribing their im-
perfect success to underhand opposition, offended by the
removal from the Nawab'’s councils of persons whom he
supported, and. upon whom he relied, and weakened in
influence as well as wounded in feeling by the distrust
implied in Lord Moira’s private inquiries, and public in-
junctions, ecould no longer restrain his indignation: A
letter, dated the 29th of April, but not transmitted till
the 20th of September, was addressed by him to the Go-
vernor-General, in which he vindicated his conduct, and
ascribed the- proceedings of the Nawab to factious in-
trigues, encouraged by the prejudice cherished against
him by Lord Moira. The Governor-General thought it
incumbent upon him to reply, and exonerate himself from
the imputation of unfairness, or prejudice against the Re-
sident : doing justice to the character of that officer for
integrity and zeal, but avowing his conviction of his
having, in his intercourse with both the late and present
Nawab, exhibited a grasping and domineering disposition,
which justified the jealousy and resentment felt by both
the Princes; As it was impossible that the confidence
and harmony which should subsist between the Governor-
Generaliand' Ris representative at the Court of Lucknow
could longer be maintained, the Governor-General, with
the concurrence of his' council, removed Major Baillie
from- his office; and left the: Nawab of Oude to the uncon-
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BOOK II. trolled constitution of his own cabinet, and the absolute
ciae, 11 direction of his own domestic administration.

1816,

Thus terminated a dissension which is deserving of
record for the illustration it affords of the incidents likely
to trouble the equable current of a connection of the
nature of that established with the sovereign of Oude.
That Major Baillie should be an object of dislike to Sadat
Ali and his successor was inevitable, from the irksome
duties he was appointed to discharge, and the zeal with
which he engaged in them: it was impossible, whatever
they might profess, that these Princes could have felt a
sincere regard for an individual who pressed upon them
with unchanging pertinacity, reforms which they were
secretly resolved never to carry into operation. They
might,.perhaps, have made a distinction between the indi-
vidual and the functionary, and folt for Major Baillie the
regard which they withheld from the Resident: but it is
clear from Major Baillie’s own language, as exhibited in
his correspondence, that he took little care to soften the
harshness of his public acts by the suavity of his private
manners. He is ever importunate and dictatorial; not
unfrequently disrespectful ; and oceasionally . insulting.
This is most manifest in his intercourse with Sadat Ali.
The evideice is less ample in regard to Ghazi-ud-din, but
the precipitancy with which the projected reforms were
seb on foot, and the interference exercised with the court
patronage, combined with his ordinary deportment to inti-
midate and offend the Nawab. The want of candour and
consistency in the latter, which nullified his own purposes,
were in part inseparable from the Asiatic character, but
were in part also attributable to his inability to discrimi-
nate between the private feelings and public principles of
an individual exercising the high offico of Governor-
(General. Undoubtedly Lord Moira was prejudiced against
Major Baillie, and had imbibed and strengthened his pre-
Judices from sources scarculy worthy of his exalted sta-
tion—the private information of unofficial persons. This
bias was not, however, derived solely from this cause, and
was taken, in part, from the tone of the Resident’s corres-
pondence which jarred with his high sentiments of loyal
deference to princely rank. Whatever were his preposses-
sions, however, he founded upon them no public proceed-
ings injurious to the Resident ; and, entirely satisfied with
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fidence in his judgment and friendship. It was not to be -
expected, however, that the degree of independence which
he had acknowledged in the Nawab, would dispose that
Prince to follow his recommendation, or would be palatablo
to the political representative who, long fortified by the
unqualified confiderice of the Government, had possessed
little less'than regal sway throughout the principality of
Oude. His retirement was, therefore, unavoidable for the
preservation of a good understanding with the Court of
Lucknow, and was followed by a perfect cordiality which
was cemented by the cvents of succeeding years.!

- The internal tranquillity of the British dominions suf-
fered at this time partial interruptions, which, although
not affecting the permanent preservation of public order,
or impairing the credit and authority of the Government,
exhibited characteristic illustrations of the difficulty of
legislating for a people imperfectly known by those who
enacted or administered their laws,and who as imperfectly
appreciated the real objects and intentions of their rulers ;
in other words, of the difficulty of governing a people
without admitting them to any participation in the con-
duct of their own affairs, Disturbances; which for a time
assumed a serious’ aspect, broke out in the Western pro-
vinces, and in Cuttack. The former was speedily re-
pressed by a prompt and vigorous exertion of the power of
the Government : thelatter were of more protracted con-
tinuance, and were at last quelled ra.ther by concnlmton y
than rigorous measures.

- It was noticed on a former occasion, that in consequence
of the opposition mado to the imposition of a tax on
houses, the Government of Bengal had adopted a different
mode of providing for the cost of the municipal police,
and had empowered the chief inhabitants in several of
the towns to assess themselves in the amount nccessary
to defray the support of a sufficient number of watchmen,
or choukidars. The plan being found to succeed in the
cities in which it was first introduced, was extended inthe

1 The second loan was commuted by treaty with the Nawab for Khyraghur
and ‘;he oi)untry between the Gogra and the North Kastern Loundary of Oude,
1st May, 1816,

8

that officer’s ability and uprightness, retained him in his BHox 11,
post, and recommended to the Nawab to place entire con- cuap. mi;

1815,
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BOOK IIL beginning of 1814 to other tewns in the Lower Provinces,
omar.m. and in the course.of the same year to these places in the
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districts of Benares and Bareilly, which were the.stations
of the magistrates, to whom was entrusted the duty .of
cffecting the requisite arrangements.!

The regulation thus enacted by the Gevernment was
not at all palatable to the towns to which it was to be
applied, but, after some little delay, the repugnance of the
people was overcome everywhere, exoept in Bareilly. This
city was the residence of a.considerable population, many
of whom were of Afghan descent, and were notorious for
their military propensities and impetuous disposition.
Among them, also, were the representatives of families
formerly of rank and consideration, which were reduced to
comparative insignificance by the change.of Government,
and the members of which were consequently discontent-
od with the present state of affairs. A similar spirit per-
vaded the class of Mohammedans throughout the provinge ;
and, although no acts of eppression or injustice could be
charged against the Government, yet a systom that sought
to render all alike amenable to public justice was peculi-
arly distasteful to men who regarded themselves superior
to alllaw, and able to protect their own rights and avenge
their own wrongs. The defects of the judicial adminis-
tration — its expensiveness and delay — the nnrelenting,
and, in some instances, excessive assessments on the land,
and the procrastination of a settlement either for a stated
period, or in perpetuity, enhanced the unpopularity which
difference of origin and religion affixed to a foreign Go-
vernment. Neither was the past forgotten; and the
defeat of the Rohillas at Bithora, twenty-two years before,
which was currently attributed, not to the superior valour
or discipline of the victors, but to the treachery of their
own leaders, still rankled in the hearts of the people of
Rohilkhand. Local causes of popular animosity also pre-
vailed. The Kotwal, or head of the Police, was a Hindu
of an overbearing and tyrannical disposition; and the
Buropean magistrate, by reserved and uncourfeous man-
ners, had given so much offence to the most respectable
of the inhabitants, that they avoided as much as possible
all private and friendly intercourse with him. He had

1 Reg. fi., 1814, and xvi., 1814.
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thus deprived himself of the most natural and efficacious BOOK II.
means of influencing the feelings and conduct of the cmar.um

people.

In this temper of men's minds the new regulation was
premulgated. The repugnance felt by the natives of
India to any new impost was immediately displayed, al-
though in the present instance it could scarcely be regarded
2s & novelty, as in those parts of the town, where the
principal-shops were situated, the inhabitants had been
long accustomeed to assess themselves with a mederato
1ate for the express purpose of maiataining a municipal
police. The only grounds of objection were, therefore, the
aungmented amount of the tax, and its universal application,
falling upon those who had been hitherto exempt, and who
wore chiefly the more respectable and inflnential house-
holders — the impoverished gentry of Bareilly. To these

circumstances were to be added the fear, that if this im--

post were introduced, it would be & prelude to others, and
the knowledge of the success with which resistance to the
house-tax had been attended at Beunares, further encouraged
the people of Bareilly to resist the exccution of the law.
Few of the principal men would undertake the apportion-
ment and collection of the tax in their respective divisions,
and those who at first assented, were compelled by pasquin-
ades and popular songs, by abuse and threats, toevade or
decline the fulfilment of the duty. Irequent assemblages
of the people were held, especially at the house of the
Mufti Mohammed Aiwaz, an individual of great age and
reputed sanctity, who was held in profound veneration
throughout Rohilkhand, and who was induced by the per-
suasions of some designing and discontented persens of
consideration in the town to countenance the popular
excitement. The proceedings of the people seem at first
to have been modelled after those at Benares; business
stood still, the shops were shut, and multitudes assembled
near the magistrate’s office to petition for the abolition of
the tax; but as their application was unavailing, they
were soon weary of such moderate means of seeking re-
dress, and in harmony with their natural temperament,
assumed a more menacing and formidable attitude.
Finding that the opposition of the people was not to be
overcome through the agency of the higher classes, tho

1816.
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‘BOOK 11, magistrate, Mr. Dumbleton, commanded the assessment to
ciar. ut. be made by the Kotwal, who aggravated the popularindig-
———— nation by threatening the lower orders with the stocks,

1514,

and the superior with chains and imprisonment, if they
continued refractory. Theactual collection of the tax was

-commenced by the magistrate in person, and by his orders

the shop of a recusant trader was forcibly entered, and
property to the amount of the sum assessed was distrained
for sale. In the oxecution of his commands, a woman in
the shop received a wound from some of the Police Peons,
and as soon as the Magistrate had withdrawn, she was
placed on a bed, and carried by the people to the Mufti.
By his direction she was conveyed to the residence of the
Magistrate, who ordered that she should lodge her com-

‘plaint in due form in the chief criminal court. The peo-

ple carried her back to the Mufti, who exclaimed, that if
such was the Magistrate’s justice, no man’s life or honour
was safe in Bareilly ; and that it was high time for him to
leave the town. It does not appear that the injury in-
flicted on the woman was very severe, but the little regard
paid to the case exasperated the angry feelings that pre-
vailed. - : o

As the excitement continued to increase, and numerous
mobs of both Mohammedans and Hindus, assembled: in
the streets of Bareilly, and in the vicinity of the Mufti's
residence, the Magistrate apprehended a serious breach of
the public peace, and deemed it necessary to disperse the
multitude. For this purpose he repaired on the 16th of
April to the city, attonded by a few horsemen and about
thirty Sipahis of the provincial battalion. Upon his ap-
proach, a rumour spread abroad that he was coming to
apprehend the person of the Mufti, and place him in con-
finement ; and the old man, either approhending, or
feigning to apprehend, the disgrace of being dragged to
prison, left his home to take sanctuary in a shrine in the
suburbs of the city, held in peculiar reverence by the
Mohammedans. The mob fell back as the magistrate’s
party advanced, but when near the Mufti’s residence they
turned, and in order to cover his flight, barred further
access.. The horsemen who were sent to clear the passage

,were resolutely resisted by the people, who were armed

with swords and pikes, and two of the troopers were
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killed and several wounded. The Sipahis then fired, but, BOOK 11.
although many fell, the rioters stood their ground until cnar.in.
the escape of Mohammed Aiwaz was secured : they then —
dispersed. The Mufti received a slight wound in the
affray, but he effected his retreat to the shrine of Shah-
dara, and there his associates hoisting the green flag of
Islam, proclaimed that the religion of the faithful was in
danger. He was immediately joined by a great part of
the armed population of the town, and letters having been
despatched to the surrounding districts, numbers of reso-
lute and enthusiastic Mohammedans flocked to his rescue,
particularly from the towns of Pilibhit, Shahjehanpur, and
Rampur, the two last being comprised in the independent
Jagir of Ahmed Ali Khan, the Nawab of Rampur. Reli-
gious enthusiasm, national aversion, and the love of tu-
multuous excitement, thus combined to attract recruits to
the standard, and, in the course of two days, sssembled
some five or six thousand men, armed with swords and
matchlocks, scarcely knowing for what they were about to
contend, but not the less resolved to peril their lives in
the contest.!

On their part, the European functionaries were active
in preparing for the encounter. The force at their dispo-
sal consisted only of about two hundred and seventy men
of the 2nd battalion of the 27th regiment of Native in-
fantry, with two guns, under Captain Boscawen, and one
hundred and fifty of a Provincial Battalion commanded by
Lieut. Lucas. Two companies of the former were imme-
diately posted near the mosque to keep the Mufti and his
adherents in check, while the cantonments and European
residents were under the protection of the remainder.
Application for reinforcements was despatched to the
nearest stations, and Captain Cunningham, with a regi-

1816,

1 Great exaggeratlon prevailed in the reported numbers of the insurgents.
They were said to amount to five thousand matchlockmen, seven thousand
swordsmen, and a large body armed with spcars and clubs, One thousand
five hundred matchlocks were said to have come from Pilibhit alone, the whole
of the Pilibhit party not exceeding three or four hundred. About the same
nuniber moved from Rampur, but did not all arrive in time. There is nowhere
any exact report of the number engaged, but that stated in the text seems to
be most probable. Had time permitted, the multitude would have greatly
increased, as many bodies were on the march, when news of the result of the
action sent them back.—Asiatic Monthly Journal, Jan. 5, 1817. In the evidenco
of Major Macan, he states that ten or fifteen thousand men assembled in 1816

at Bareilly.—Comm, Comm. Evid, Military, p. 209,
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BOOK IL. ment of irregular horse, and Major Richards, with the
cuar. . 2nd battalion of the 13th N. I, marched immediately

1516.

from Moradabad ; both ocorps made forced marches, and
the former arrived on the ground om the 19th, the latter
on the 21st. In the mean time, repeated conferences were
hold with the Mufti and his chief adherents by officers
deputed by the magistrate. The Mufti would willingly
have listoned to terms, but he could not allay the sterm
which he had been so instrumental in rousing; and
many of the more respectable individuals, including the
members of the family of Hafiz Rehmat, who had at first
Jjuined the insurgents withdrew, and left them to the un-
governable passions, which listened to no controul. The
rioters declared that they would not be satisfied, nor re-
tire, unless the Choukidar tax was abolished — the Kot-
wal was delivered up to them to suffer the law of retalia-
tion for the blood shed on the 16th ; provision was made
for the families of those who fell on that eoccasion, and a
general pardon was proclaimed. As compliance with these
demands was refused, they hastened to a decision of the
struggle before the junction of the 13th, of the approach
of which they were aware. On the morning of the 21st,
they signalized their purpose by murdering a young gen-
tleman, the son of Mr. Leycester, one of the Judges of the
Court of Circuit, as he passed peaceably and unarmed from
one military post to another. This was followed by an
onset upon the troops who were drawn out to receive
them., A short distance divided the encampment of the
infantry from that of the irregular horse ; the intervening
space, a plain covered with Mohammedan tombs, was oc-
cupied Ly the rioters. Their first attack was made upon
the Sipahis, whom they greatly outnumbered and sur-
rounded. Being formed in a square the troops repulsed
every charge, although the assailants fought with fury ;
some of them making their way into the square, whero
they were cut down or bayoneted, On his side, Captain
Cunninghata’s horse charged the masses of the multitude,
and threw them into confusion. Repulsed in their for-
ward movements, they took up their ground in a grove
defended by a low wall, but were soon driven out of it by
the troops, who pursued them into the old town and set
fire to the huts in which they had taken shelter. This
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put an end to the cenflict. The insurgents dispersed, BOOK II.
leaving between three and four hundred dead, and a cmar. s
greater number wounded and taken prisoners. The loss
of the troops was inconsiderable.! The arrival of the13th 1816
goon after secured the victory. The result of this en-
gagement was a legitimate subject of congratulatien, as
the success of the rioters would, in all prebability, have
been a signal for the rising of the whole province, and
the .commencement of an insurrection, whioh could not
have been suppressed without much loss of life and the
aggravated hatred of the people. The town submitted
peaceably to the regulations. Of the rioters, the Mufti
and some of the principal ringleaders quitted the Com-
pany's territories, and were never allowed to return. A
few of those who were apprehended were brought to trial
before the Court of Circuit, but were dismissed, after
some detention, for want of evidence to convict them;
the greater number were at once pardoned, and set at
liberty en promise of good behaviour at the suggested in-
torcessian of their countrymen in the ranks both of the
Provincial corps and the Rohilla horse, who had faithfully
discharged their duty, although in deadly conflict with
many of their relatives and friends ; the principles of mil-
itary honour and allegiance siloncing, in a remarkable
manner, -on this eoccasion, the promptings of natural
affection. Great courage and constancy were displayed in
the suppression of the tumult ; but it would probably not
have oocurred had the people of Bareilly been taught to
regard those placed. in authority over them with confi-
dence and good-will? _

‘The other proceedings in the western provinces, although
of a more imposing character, involved considerations of
inferior importance, as popular feeling was rather in unison
with, than arrayed against, the measures of the Govern-
ment. The ferbearanoe or negligence of former adminis-
trations had allowed a few of the great Talukdars of the
Doab to retain many of the privileges which the most

1 Twenty-one killed, sixty-two wounded.

2 A Committee of Inquiry was appointed by the Government to investigate
the causes of the disturbance, the conduct of the public ufficers, nnd the stato
of public feeling in Rohilkhand. The details in the text are taken chiefly
from the report made in consequence in August, 1316, and from the accom«
panying documents furnished.—MS. Records. .



92

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

-BOOK I1. considerable of their order had usurped, during the pre-
cuar. u. ceding times of anarchy ; and although the distriets, for
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the revenues of which they were held accountable, were
not intended to be exempted from the jurisdiction of the
Company's officers, yet no measures had been formally
adopted to bring them within the sphere of the regula-
tions, The Talukdars were silently suffered to exercise
supreme judicial authority within their own estates, to
regulate their own police, to kesp up large bodies of
military followers, and to convert their places of residence
into fortresses of formidable extent and strength. Of
these petty chieftains, one of the most considerable was

‘Dayaram, Talukdar or Zemindar of a number of villages

in the Doab, in the district of Aligerh. His residence
was at the fort and adjacent walled town of Hatras. The
fort was of the usual construction of similar strongholds,
built of mud, or rather of sun-dried clay, having walls of
great height and thickness, with towers at the angles,
mounting a number of guns, and defended by a very broad
and deep ditch. The town was also protected by & wall
and o ditch. The force kept up by Dayaram was about
eight thousand strong, of which three thousand five hun-
dred were horse, . : -

The consequence of possessing so many of the attributes
of independence were a belief in its reality and a spirit of
opposition to any interference with its exercise. While
professing obedience to the will of the Government, the
authority of its officers was perpetually evaded or defied,
and although the revenue was duly discharged, yet the
means by which it was collected were often gppressive
and tyrannical, and the villagers in vain appealed to the
protection of the paramount power: any attempt to
enforce cither civil or criminal justice within the Taluk
was baffled or resisted: criminals were either openly
sheltered, or covertly enabled to escape from punishment,
and "gangs of robbers were permitted to fix their head-
quarters in the country of the Talukdar, on condition of
paying him a share of the spoils, levied from the adjoining
districts. These evils had been frequently noticed by
the Government, the Landholders menacéd with its dis-
pleasure, and the judicial officers directed to carry the
regulations into effect ; but the demolition of their forts
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was an indispensable prehmmary to the humiliation of BooK 1I.
their possessors, and this it had not hitherto been found ouaw, 11,
convenient or deemed prudent to attempt. The Governor- —--—

General in Council now determined to take advantage of
the concentration of troops in progress in the Western
Provinces, and to accomplish the extinction of the power
of the contumacious landholders, if necessary, by military
operations. Dayaram, as the most powerful and most
audacious, was accordingly required to testify the sincerity
of his profession of allegiance, by disbanding his troops
and dismantling his fortress of Hatras; and a strong
division,! under the command of General Marshall, took
the field in the beginning of the year, to show that the
requisition was not to be trifled with.

The troops employed against Hatras marched from the
several military stations of Cawnpur, Muttra, and Meerut,
early in February, and the fort was completely invested
by the 12th of that month. Overtures of submission
were made by Dayaram, but the demolition of his strong-
hold was a condition to which he could not be prevailed
upon to yield, and recourse being necessarily had to com-
pulsion, batteries were opened against the town and fort,
and a vigorous bombardment was kept up upon the latter.
A practical breach was effected in the walls of the town
by the 23rd, but the garrison avoided a storm, and evacu-
ated the place on the following morning. The bombard-

ment of the fort continued with increased activity, and'

most of the buildings were in ruins, On the 2nd of March,
a shell made its way into the powder magazine, and was

followed by a tremendous explosion, which completed the

work of desolation within the ramparts, The besieged
still maintained a show of resistance, and returned tho
fire of the batteries ; but Dayaram, now convinced of the
futility of resistance, and alarmed for his safety, effected
his escape at midnight with a small body of retainers.
They were encountered by & party of the dragoons, but

1 It consisted of the 8th and 24th light dragoons, 3rd and 7th N, C., lat and
2nd Rohilla horse and mket troop; his Mﬂeuyl 14th and 87th reglmems,

and of Native Infantry, the 2nd battalion of the lIat, 1st battalion of the 1ith, -

2nd battalion of the 12th, !nd battalion of the lﬁth ﬁnd battalion of the 23th,

21st battalion of the 29th, and 2nd grenadier battalion, Besides artillery and

neers, the ordnance comprised seventy-one mortars and howitzers, ard

four battering guns (34 and 18-ponnders), besides 12+ ponnders for enfil -
dln;. the whole under the direction of Major Anbury as chief engineer.

1816.
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BOOK 1I. made good their retreat, after inflicting more loss: than
omar. i they suffered, being armed with back and breast-plates

1816.

and gauntlets of steel. The alarm being given, the troeps
were. immediately ordered to. the gates, and, after over-
coming some resistance from those of the garrisen who
were endeavouring te. escape; they gained pessession of
the fortress, The capture of Hatras secured the ready
submission of the other refractory landhelders ; and such
anomalous structures; as mud forts, and fortified villages,
disappeared from among the dwellings of a peaceful pepu-
lation. Dayaram took refuge. with Amir Khem, but, in
the course of two years, was allowed to return to the
Company’s territories; upon his premise of submission,
and ultimately received n pension in lieu of the: emolu-

. ments he had formerly derived from his fiscal’ agency

botween the village community and the state.

The countries extending along the Western frontier,
from. the south of Behar to the Northern Circars; partake
of the same general character, and: consist, for the most
part, of low ranges of hills, offshoots. from the Vindhya
ehain, covered with dense forests, and thinly inhabited: by
barbarous tribes. The inhabitants, under various desig-
nations, may be regarded, perhaps, us: fragmentary rem-
nants of the original occupants. of India, dispossessed of
the level lands by foreign races, and driven to contend
with the beasts of the forests for a seanty sustenance, and
with the pestllentml malarin of the thickets for a brief
and precarious existence. Nor had they been suffered to
enjoy these haunts in peace; adventurers from the con-
quering stock had penetrated inte the most accessible
spots, and established their sway over petty prindipalities;
the lands of which were distributed among their adherents
on the tenure of military service; On the habits of the
savage and the hunter were thus grafted the turbulence
and insolence of militaryadventure; and the communities
were only prevented: from degeneratmg into-utter anarchy
by the personal consideration enjoyed by those who were
descended from the original leaders, and were regarded as
their natural chiefs. The Rajag, although often at fend
with each other, or with their own dependents, formed
the main cement of the ill-combined structure, It wam
among. these people, with. very little knowledge of their
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character, er of their wants, that it was attempted to BOOK I1.
introduee judicial and fiscal arrangements, borrowed from cnar. nr:

the prineiples and practice of highly civilized society.
The consequences were perpetual breaches of the public
peace, insurrections on a petty but mischievous scale, and
the employment, of troops in districts where the climate
was the most.formidable enemy to be encountered. At
the time at which we are arrived, the attention of the
Government of Fort St. George was occupied by three
different risings in the Northern: Circars, while that of
Bengal was called upon to suppress a violent but short-
lived outhreak in Ramgerh, and & still more extensive and
protracted disturbance in Cuttack.

The Northern Circars were generally in the occupancy
of such chiefs as have been above noticed, hereditary Rajas
or Zemindars, claiming political as well as territorial
rights, and paying a tribute to the Government of the
day, but never acknowledging themselves as its function-
aries in the collection .of revenue. They had been so
treated by the British Government, and & permanent
settlement was made with them for the amount of their
tributes. With the settlement, however, came arrears,
the sale of their lands, and the consequent insurrection
of the chiefs, powerfully abetted by their adherents and
tenants. There came, also, the introduction of the judicial
system and the Daroga police, and the infliction of fraud
and violence upon a rude and barbarous race. Resistance
and disorder were the necessary results, and after fifty
years’ occupation the authority of the Government could
ncarcely be considered as established. There was con-
stantly some petty rebellion on the part of the Rajas, or
there were disturbances arising out of their mutual quarrels
or intrigues among their own people, which it was neces-
sary for the Government to suppress. The task was
arduous, for a great part of the country, consisting of hill
and thicket, was as fatal as inaccessible, and order was
riever re-established, without a prodigious sacrifice of life.
In the first of the transactions under remark, the heredi-
tary manager of Kimedi had been driven out by an adverso
party,and his removal had been confirmed by the Govern-
ment. In defiance of the sentsnce he. endeavoured to
recover his authority; and a civil war distracted the district.

1816.
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NOOK II. which led to serious outrages, and was only tranquillized
cuar, ut. by the seizure of the ringleaders and the ‘confinement of
~——— the manager. In the Moheri estate, the Rani, the repre-

1817,

sentative of an ancient family, had been dispossessed by
a fraudulent sale of the lands she inherited: although
she was personally engaged in no commotion, yet her
tenants took up her cause, and not only expelled or mur-
dered the people of the intrusive purchaser, but the officers
of the Police, and committed extensive depredations on
the neighbouring lands. The Raja of the hill country of
Gumsar, in like manner was irritated by the attempts of
the Police to bring him before the tribunal of the Com-
pany’s courts, and, in the frenzy of his resentment,
perpetrated acts of violence which led to his forcible
imprisonment. The people of Gumsar, a highly barbarous
race, continued, nevertheless, in arms, and committed the
most atrocious excesses upon the peaceablo population of
the lowlands, which were retaliated by the despatch of
troops into the district. These disturbances were not
repressed without the employment of five battalions of
infantry and a regiment of cavalry, under the command
of General Rumley; and, although the presence of so
large a force deterred the insurgents from assembling in
any strength, yet they long lurked in the impenetrable
thickets on the borders of Cuttack and Ganjam, prepared
to resume their depredations in the latter, and lending
their aid to the troubles which agitated the former pro-
vince in 1817

The wish of the Government to be relieved from the
irksome task of managing the turbulent Cherus and Khar-
wars, the military cultivators of Palamu, upon the sale of
the Zemindari for arrears ‘of revenue, induced them to
transfer it, in 1816, to a neighbouring Zemindar, who
consented to be responsible for the revenue at a reduced
rate, and to superintend and manage the police. The
villages were generally held by tenants who had been
accustomed to consider themselves permanent occupants,
at o fixed rate of assessment. Their new chief began his
reign by raising the rents of some and wholly dispossess-

! Reports on the State of the Northern Circars, ‘l;y Mr. W. 'l‘lnckéray, in
March, 1819, Selections from the Records, i. 974. Visit of Sir Thomas Munro
to the Northern C'rears, January, 1823, Ibid. 1ii. 555 ; also MSS. Records.
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ing others: a general rising ensued: the officers of the BOOK 11,
Zemindar were attacked, some were killed, the police cuap. .,
stations were demolished, and the riot was not put down —80

without the employment of a military force. "As rights
sanctified by long prescription and popular estimation
had undoubtedly been invaded, contrary to the intention
of the Government, the renter was removed, and the
management of the district taken under the immediate
superin{endance of the Company, by which means order
was, for a season at least, restored.

In Cuttack the insurrection was more extensive, and its
suppression longer delayed. It arose out of the operation
of the revenue enactments of the Government; but its
immediate and exciting cause was the manner in which
those enactments were executed, the flagrant extortion
and cruel oppression practised by the subordinate func-
tionaries of every department of the state. The natives of
Orissa had always beén proverbial for mental dulness, and
their inaptitude for public duties occasioned, even under
their own princes, while the country was yet a Hindu king-
dom, the employment in all offices of trust of foreiguers from
the neighbouring countries of Telingana and Bengal. The
latter chiefly filled the public stations under the English
magistrates and collectors, and, under a succession of supe-
riors, who seem to higve exercised little vigilance or activity
in controlling their subordinates or in punishing corruption,
preyed with impunity upon the helpless and bewildered
population of the province, and rendered the Government
itsclf dreaded and detested.

The rigorous exaction of the Government assessment
on the land everywhere calculated, in combination with
the improvidence of the Zemindars, to lead to their im-
poverishment and ruin, was peculiarly mischievous in
Cuttack. The amount, originally calculated on an erro-
neous principle, was excessive, and,* in order to discharge

1 The original assessment was computed on an average of that which ap-
peared to have been paid for some years to the Mahrattas, but tho Mahratta
assessment was liable to many deductions which were not admitted into the
British. Even then it exceeded the average amount by 1,65,000 rupees, the
Mahratta being Rs. 10,15,000, the British Hs. 11,80,000. ° Under the periodical
and progressive assessments, however, this amount had been raised, in 1816-17,
to Rs. 13,82,000. The augmentation had been made at random, In Khurda
the highest assessment under the former system never exceeded five annas per
biga; under the later arrangement it amounted to seven and a bhalf,

YOL. 1L H

1817,
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BOOK 1I, it, the Zemindars were compelled to raise their demands
cuAr. 1. upon the people, who were generally wholly unable to pay
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them. The Zemindars, consequently, fell speedily!® into
arrears, and their estates were sold to new men, either to
the revenue officers themselves, or their Bengali country-
men, whose means of gratifying the cupidity of the public
functionaries rendered many of their sales wholly collusive
and fraudulent;? and sacrificed the original proprietor not
so much at the shrine of public good as of private emolu-
ment.® The intrusive Zemindars, odious from their very
intrusion, and the sinister -course well known to the
people, by which their end was attained, cager to make
the most of their purchases, incurred by their unsparing
extortions still more intense hatred. By their exactions
the rents of the tenants were raised to the highest possible
amount, and those who claimed to hold their lands on
easy texms, in lieu of certain ‘services, were either fully
hssessed, or were turned adrift.t These latter were, for
the most part, the only persons in the province familiar
with the use of arms ; the Paiks, or militia and police of
the country under the Native Government ; and they were
little inclined to submit with patience to the loss of their
property and annihilation of their privileges.

To these subjects of public distress and discontent was
added another pressure upon the people, in the extreme
enhancement of the price of an article of first necessity,
Salt, in consequence of the precipitate introduction of the
Company’s monopoly. The price was injudiciously fixed
at a rate far beyond the means of the inhabitants of the
province, being six or seven times that at which it had
been ordinarily sold.® The state benefited but compara-

1 Of 3,000 Zemindars who had contracted for the revenue in 1803, only 1450
were in possession in 1817-18,

3 The Munshi of one of the Collectors purchased an estate, asscssed at an
anm;lul Jumma, of 50,000 rupees, for 23,000 rupees,—less than half a year's
purchase.

3 The estate of Hamishpore, although one of those held at a quit-rent, was
sold for arrears and bought by an opulent Bengali; the dispossessed Zemin-
dar was, of course, one of the lenders of the insurrection.

4 Such were the cffects of these measures that the people sold everything,
even to their wives and children, to obtain sustenance, and when all was in-
sufficient they abandoned their homes and fled into the forests. In the course
of 1816 between flve and six thousand houses were thus deserted, and the
country was becoming depopulated.

6 On the extension of the monopoly to the southern divisions of Cuttack,
the price in Khurda rose from about fourteen anas to six rupees per maund.
This was peculiarly oppressive to the people of Orissa, as they were accus-
tomed to eat their boiled rice on the tecond day, when it was stale and moré
than originally insipid. .



SALT MONOPOLY INTRODUCED. 99

tively little, for smuggling was almost openly practised by BOOK ‘1L
the very persons appointed to prevent it. Yet, as the gyap. 11,
illicit traders kept up the prices, the people suffered
severely, and were ripe for a revolt against the Govern.  1817.
ment, by whose measures and whose agents, they were
deprived of the means of procuring the necessaries of life.
Nor were the judicial arrangements of their new rulers
less obmnoxious to the simple and ignorant inhabitants,
accustomed to summary and informal decision. Unac-
quainted with the very language of the regulations,’ and
incapable of comprehending the forms of the courts, they
found themselves entirely at the mercy of the public
ofticers, and were made to pay hoeavily for justice, which,
in the end, they seldom attained. The police was a still
more insufferable grievance ; in lieu of the native Paiks,
Darogas and their myrmidons were introduced, and were
as rapacious as they were inefficient. Property was anni-
hilated, and little security for person survived.?

The province of Cuttack was distributed between two
classes of occupants; those who cultivated the Mogul-
bandi, the open and most productive part of the country,
and the people of the Rajwara, which, on one side of the
Mogulbandi, extended in a narrow slip along. the sea coast,
and, on the other hand, spread westward over a broad
expanse of hill and wilderness. The estates of the Mogul-
bandi were assessed on the same principles as those in
Bengal; the Rajwara estates, consisting of tracts ill adapted
to cultivation, were held at a low quit rent, and on the
condition of military service.® One of the most consider-
able was the district of Khurda, lying a short distance
west of the celebrated shrine of Jagannath. It was the
Zemindari of the Raja of Khurda, who was dear to the

1 They were in Bengali. .

2 The police Daroga of Khurda contrived, in the course of a few years, to
extort a lukh of rapees (10,000/.) from the villagers. ‘The Serisitadar of the
Civil Court of Cuttack was convicted of having taken bribes to the extent of
about 60,000 rupees (6,0004,) in a few cases, and had realised a very large pro-
perty by an unchecked course of similar corruption. It is worthy of note that
the officers of the courts who were punished for their malpractices were all
Mohammedans. Hindu functionaries wonld not probably have been more
honest under such a system,but they would have been less daring, less
tyrannical, and might have been less insatiable ; at any: rate, they wonldl have
been less obnoxious to the Uriya population, although a dislike of Bengalis
seems to have beon a national feeling. One of the grievances urged by the
insurgents was, that ** a parcel of Bengalis pretended to be their masters.”

3 Account of Orissa, by A, Stirling.—Asiatlc Researches, vol. xv.
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BOOK II people, as the hereditary descendant of the once powerful
onar. 11 Gajapati kings of Orissa, the acknowledged head of the
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several petty chiefs, and who was invested with additional
sanctity from his having the hereditary privilege of being
the sweeper of the temple of Vishnu. The estate of
Khurda had been held under the Mahrattas, at a light quit-
rent ; under the English authorities, it was assessed at a
rate at which the Raja declined to hold it,' and he was
accordingly allowed to reside at Puri, in discharge of his
duties in the temple, upon a yearly malikana, while his
lands were taken under the management of the revenue
officers. Their management, in the course of a fow years,
reduced the people to poverty and despair, and this pro-
vincé was consequently the seat of the first and most
violent disorders.

The dispossessed Paiks and Ryots of Khurda found a
bold and active leader in Jagbandhu, who was the here-
ditary Bakhshi, or paymaster and commander of the Raja
of Khurda, and proprietor of a landed estate in the pro-
vince. By a course of chicanery and fraud, in which the
native officers were chiefly concerned, he was deprived of
his patrimony, and told to seek redress in the courts of
law. He was too poor and too impatient of wrong to
appeal to such tardy and uncertain protection, and rashly,
though pardonably, attempted to vindicate his own rights
by the instrumentality of popular insurrection. Assisted
by a body of the wild tribes of Gumsar, and joined by a
number of Paiks and unhoused Ryots, he appeared in the
chief village of Khurda, attacked and put the police to
flight, and killed some -of the people ; set the station on
fire, and plundered and burnt the office of the government
collector. No injury was done to any one unconnected
with the Government. The success of this attack was
soon spread abroad ; the whole province was in a state of
insurrection, and Jagbandhu, in a few weeks, was at the
head of above three thousand rioters, armed with swords,
spears, bows and arrows, and a few matchlocks,

! The Raja paid to the Mahrattas, when they could compel him to pay any-
thing, 15,000 ru a-year, but he often evaded the payment. He was willing
to engage for double the amount to the British Government, but a lakh, or
100,000 rupees was demanded. This he declared himself unable to disch: .
It was, however, raised, and in 1816 augmentod to 1,38,000 rupees, of which
25,000 rupees were pald to the Raja for subsistence,
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As soon as news of the tumult reached Cuttack, a BoOK i.
detachment of troops was despatched to Khurda ; a party cmae. ur,

from which, sent out to collect provisions, was surprised
at the pass of Ganjpura, and was driven back on the main
body, with the loss of an officer, Ensign Faris, command-
ing it. The rest of the detachment fell back to Pipli
losing their baggage and cattle. A second attempt made
by the magistrate, with a military guard, to enter Khurda,
failed, and the party retreated to Cuttack, harassed by the
insurgents. Jagbandhu was, in consequence, emboldened
to advance to the town of Jagannath, of which he took
possession. The only force at this place consisted of
about eighty Sipahis, while the rioters were estimated at
four thousand. The town was plundered ; the fort, build-
ings, and bungualows were set on fire, and the troops sta-
tioned for the defence of the collector’s house and treasury,
were attacked ; they repulsed the assailants, but the officer
commanding judged it expedient to retreat with the
public treasure to Cuttack. This affair contributed to
extend the insurrection, and every district in which the
ancient proprietors had been deprived of their estates, was
in arms. The triumph of the rebels at Puri, was short-
lived. One of their objects in marching thither had been
to place their Raja at their head ; but his fears or his
prudence deterred him from connecting himself with the
disturbance, and one material element of opposition was

thus defective. At the same time, Capt. Lo Fevre, with

the greater part of the 1st battalion of the 18th N. I,
marched from Khurda to recover Puri. At Devendra, the
battalion was encountered by the Uriyas, and an action
ensued, which speedily terminated in their defeat. Puri
was re-occupied, and the person of the Raja being secured,
he was removed to Cuttack.

Although the affair at Devendra showed that the insur-
gents were wholly unable to cope with the regular troops,
the disturbances were far from being allayed. Khurda
was entirely in their possession, and in the beginning of
May, a body of above two thousand mado an attack upon
a detachment at Pipli in the neighbourhood. It was
repulsed, and the rebels never afterwards appeared in
force ; but risings took place in Limbai, Kurdes, and Ku-
jang, which the civil power was unable to restrain, and to

1817,
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BOOK IL suppress which it was necessary to station troops in the
OmAr.uL provinces. Martial law was proclaimed, reinforcements

1818.

were despatched to Cuttack, and General Sir Gabriel Mar-
tindell was ordered to take the command, with additional
authority, as joint commissioner with the judge and
magistrate. By the military dispositions which were
made, and, in a still greater. degree, by the assurances held
out to the people by the military commissioner, that their
grievances, if peaceably represented, would be listened to
and redressed, tranquillity, through the greater part of
the troubled districts, was restored by the end of the year.
Jagbandhu, and some of the leaders, still, however, kept
aloof, and lurked for a while in the wild tracts along the
upper course of the Mahanadi ; but driven from thence by
the combined operation of detachments sent from Cuttack
to Boad, and others from Sambhalpur, they retreated to
Khanpur, in the south-west angle of the province, where
the Khunds of Gumsar gave them shelter; and, although
large rewards were offered for their apprehension, none of
their adherents proved treacherous, none of the people of
the country were tempted.to betray them.

The tranquillity of Cuttack was confirmed by the
appointment - of a special commissioner,! with extensive
powers; and by the measures and enactments of the
Government, adopted at his suggestion; large remissions
of arrears and reductions in the assessment were made,?
and the revenue officers were authorized, at discretion, to
suspend the sale of the estates of defaulters, and rather
subject their persons to imprisonment.? A new settle-
ment was made for three years:* such of the native officers

1 Mr. Ker, and afterwards upon his death, Mr. Blunt. Besides the functlonal
henefits derived from this arrangement, through the employment of intelligent
and upright Commissioners, we owe to it a descriptive and’ historical account
of Orissa, of great interest and value, drawn up. by the Secretary to the Com-
mission, Mr. Andrew Stirling, a member of the civil service of Bengal, and
one of its brightest ornaments, although his career was cut short by a too
early death, The account is printed in the Asiatic Researches, vol. xv.

2 {Vhen the Commissioner reached Cuttack, the balance of arrears exceeded
nineteen' lakhs of rupees, (£100,000) of which about six were remitted; the
consequence was the realization of the revenues of the year 1818-19, with a
very trifling balance, and with a very limited recourse to the measure of a
public sale, The revenue on the tributary Mehals was reduced from Rs.
333,000 to 206,000. More attention than heretofore was paid to the tenures,
and in the estates held under the Government, settlements were made with
the Ryots. Revenue Letter from Bengal, 30th March, 1821. Selections from
the Records, iii. 68.

3 Reg. x, of 1818 4 Reg. xlii, of 1819,
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as had been most notorious for extortion and oppression, BOOK II.
were deservedly punished, and such of their European oiuar. 1.

superiors as were considered to be implicated in the causes
of the insurrection, were removed. Some of the unhappy
people who had been driven into rebellion lost their lives
in action, and others, taken with arms in their hands,
suffered death under the operation of martial law: when
that ceased, the offenders were transferred to the civil
power, and many were condemned to a prolonged. period
of confinement and hard labour. By these several means
of severity and conciliation, the province was so entirely
tranquillized, that in August, 1819, a goneral amnesty was
proclaimed, with the exception of a few of the leaders,
Some years clapsed before they were considered to be
objects of clemency; but, in 1825, Jagbandhu was induced
to surrender himself, and was allowed to reside in Cuttack
upon a pension from the Government. This event extin-
guished the last spark of rebellion in which the people
were much less to blame than the functionaries of the
state, whether native or Europcan, the former having
remorselessly aggravated, by corruption and tyrauny,
intolerable burthens; the latter having permitted free
soope to their subordinates, neglected to mako themselves
acquainted with the institutions of the country and the
circumstances of the people, and having omitted to
bring to the knowledge of the Government the utter
inapplicability to Cuttack of arrangements which, whether
applicable or not, had been imposed upon the ugncultuml
population of Bengal !

These transactions, however illustrative of the state of
Indian society, and instructive to the British Government
in regard to their future relations with their native sub-
jects, attracted little notice; and may, perhaps, excite
little interest amidst the mdre momentous political and
military transactions which, about the same period, con-

-vulsed the whole of Hindustan.

) Printed Correspomlence relating to Cuttack, Selections from the Records,
1il. 66 ; and M.S Record:

1818.
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CHAPTER 1V.

Relations with Poona. — Designs of the Peshwa.— In-

Jluence of Trimbak Rao.— Claims on Baroda. — Mis-
sion of Gangadhar Sdstri to Poona.— Coldly received.
— Other Agents. — Change of Treatment. — Apparent
cordiality.— Offence given to the Peshwa.— Journey to
Pynderpur, — Murder of Qangadhar. — Inquiry de-
manded, — Trimbak implicated, — Resident demands
kis Arrest. — Peshwa reluctant. — Compelled to give
him up. — Trimbak confined at Thanna. — Discon-

" tent of Mahratta Princes.— Objection of the Raja of

Nagpur to a Subsidiary Alliance.— His Designs upon
Bhopal. — Unites with Sindhia against the Nawab,—
Stege of Bhopal. — Gallant Defence. — Besiegers retire.
— Preparations of Sindhia.— DBritish Interference.—
Sindhia indignant, but suspends Operations.— Alliance
not formed. — Death of the Nawab, and of the Raja of
Nagpur. — Apa Sakeb Regent.— Subsidiary Alliance
concluded. — Sindhia. — His Intrigues.— Disorders of
his Government. — His Policy. —Son and Successor of
Mulhar Rao Holkar adopted.— Tulasi Bai Regent.—
Balaram Seth Minister. — Put to Death. — Troops
Mutiny.— Flight of the Regent and Young Raja.—
Tantia Jog Minister.— Reconciliation negotiated, —
State of Affairsin Rajputana.— Chand Sing defeats the
Mohammedans. — Defeated by them.— Jaypur ravaged
by Amir Khan.— Rajas of Jaypur and Jodkpur recon-
ciled by his Mediation. — Fresh Quarrels, and both
States laid waste.— The Khan marches to Jodhpur.—
Domestic Intrigues.— The Minister and Family Priest
of the Raja assassinated. — Man Sing feigns Imbecility,
and abdicates. — Continuance of Amir Khaw's Depreda-
tions. — Distracted State of Central India.

HE political relations established with the court of
Poona, had borne, as we have remarked, for some time

past, an uneasy complexion. The claims of the Peshwa
upon Baroda and Hyderabad, still remained unadjusted,
and he ascribed the delay to the purposed procrastination
of the British authorities, Their intervention also pro-
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tected the estates of his feudatories from his secret or BOOK II.
open encroachments, and his title to be regarded as the crae.1v.
head of the Mahratta confederacy, which the other leading
members were willing to acknowledge, was avowedly 1814
withheld from him by the British Government. Notwith-
standing the unequivocal tone in which their determina-
tion to disallow the resumption of this supremacy was
declared, Baji Rao had never desisted from unavowed
intrigues for its attainment, and, in violation of the terms
of the treaty of Bassein, had constantly maintained agents
at the Courts of Gwalior, Indore, and Nagpur, and carried
on, with little affectation of concealment, negotiations
with the Bhonsla, Sindhia, and Holkar. It may be doubted,
however, if he ever entertained a design to engage in any
serious collision with the British Government. Although
bold in plotting, and tenacious of his purposes, Baji Rao
was utterly deficient in personal intrepidity, and trusted
rather to persevering and secret intrigue, than to resolute
and open defiance. The Peshwa was not without ability,
nor incapable of exertion, but his abilities were counter-
acted by habits of vicious indulgence, and a disposition
naturally indolent, rendered his fits of activity unfrequent
and of short duration. His ambition might have over-
come his love of pleasure and ease, had not his excessive
timidity deterred him from enterprises involving a hazard
of personal safety, and induced him to have recourse to
profound dissimulation for the furtherance of his designs.
Suspicious and jealous of his principal officers, the Peshwa
gave them but a partial and imperfect confidence, and
placed his sole reliance upon individuals ¢f low origin and
inferior station, who were entirely dependent upon his
favour for distinction, and who repaid his patronage with
unhesitating submission to his will. Although arrogant
and self-sufficient in general, he allowed himself some-
times to be controuled by the boldness of his advisers, and
to be hurried into astions which were contrary to his own
plans, and repugnant to his nature. Not unfrequently
feeble and capricious, Baji Rao was remarkable for his ad-
herence to any favourite project, and for the perseverance
with which he pursued it, although it might be laid aside
occasionelly for such considerable intervals, that it seemed
to have been abandoned or forgotten. Nor was he less
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BOOK II. constant in his malignity — an offsnce was never-forgiven,
cnrar.1v. however remote the suspension:of his resentment, and his

1814,

vengeance was sure, however long its infliction might be
delayed. When not under the influence of vindictive
feelings, he was mild and rarely cruel: he was scrupulous
in his pecunmry dealings, frugal though not parsimonious,
cautious in his conduct, and dignified in his deportment,
and gifted with singular powers of insinuation and per-
suasion. As a Brahman he professed a strict observance
of the forms of the Hindu faith, and, a slave to the
grossest superstition, he devoted a large portion of his
revenue to the support of religious individuals and insti-
tutions ; and a-large poertion of his timo to the practice of
religious rites and pilgrimages to various holy places
within his dominions, to the great interruption of the
public affairs and diminution of the public resources.
The latter were also seriously impaired by the vicious
system which prevailed of farming the revenues; but,
upon the whole, the country was not badly a.dmmlstered,
and the people were prosperous and contented under the
Peshwa’s government. It was only necessary for this
ruler to have submitted resignedly to a cendition from
which he could not hope to extricate himself, to have
been- one of the most opulent and independent of tlie
princes who had been compelled to submit {o British
supremacy.

The prospects which clouded the commencement; of the
administration of Lord Moira, and the pessibility that the
war with Nepal might lead to hostilities on a wider scale,
emboldened some of the confidential advisers of Baji Rao
to assume a more lofty style of language, and to talk of
their master's rights, not only to the first among the
Mahratta chiefs, but even to the tribute which former
Peshwas had levied from Bengal. At the head of the
party was Trimbakji Danglia, the principal favourite of
Baji Rao, and a devoted servant, though a most unfit and’
mischievous counsellor. He had been originally & courier
and spy, in which capacities he attracted the notice of
Baji Rao by his intelligence and activity: he rose ra-
pidly to wealth and authority —became the associate of
Baji Rao in his private pleasures; and the confidant of all
his feelings and designs—and the object — the only one



PESHWA’S CLAIMS ON THE GAEKWAR.

107

~— of his affection. In requital: of the Peshwa’s attach- BOOK 11
ment, Trimbak adopted unhesitatingly all his views and cuar.1v.

sentiments, imbibed all his aversions for his allies, and in
the fervour of his devotedness, as well as in the ignorance
of his-origin, and the presumption generated. by his sudden
elevation, dropped the veil of Mahratta diplomaocy, and
gave utterance to his opinions, with a degree of hardihood
which, however, gratifying to the Peshwa’s pride, was most
detrimental to his interests.! The licence of expression
which was allowed to Trimbak by the Peshwa, was a vica-
rious expression of the thoughts which were cherished in
the bosom of the latter.

The adjustment of the Peshwa’s claims upon the Gaek-
war, described in a former page, although yet undeter-
mined, was still professedly under investigation, and
about this time other claims were advanced. A participa-
tion in the tribute payable by the chiefs of Kattiwar, had
always been demanded by the court of Poona, and had
been, in some cases, realised through the Gaekwar, as the
Peshwa’s representative, It was now insisted that the
collection should be made direct, and in what manner, and
to what extent, the government of -Poona should' think
proper; but this was held to be inconsistent with the
engagements which had been entered into by the British
Government with the chiefs of Kattiwar; and although
the right to a defined amount of tribute was recognised,
yet a claim of an indefinite extent was denied ; and in
order. to- prevent any unauthorised exactions, the Peshwa
was told that the collection would be retained in the hands
of the British officers, Another subject of dispute was,
the farm of a pertion. of the revenues of Ahmedabad,
which had been held by the Gaekwar of the Peshwa for
ten years, expiring in 1814, The court of Baroda
desired its renewal in perpetuity, in order to obviate the
chance of disputes arising from a division and conflict of
.authority, and the object was too reasonable not to be
supported by the British Government. On the other
hand, it was the policy of the court of Poona to keep open
so fertile & subject of contest, and so plausible a plea. for

} It is mentioned by Mr. Prinsep, that in a conference at which the rights of
the Peshwa were discussed, this man asserted their comprehending the Chouth
of Bengal ceded by Aliverdi Khan, and that of Mysore, agreed to by Hyder
All.~Transactions, 3, p. 320, note.

1814.



108

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK II. negotiation with the Gaekwar, and the Peshwa, therefore,
cuar.1v. declined to renew the lease. In the hope of adjusting this

1814,

matter, as well as of accelerating an amicable settle-
ment of the other points in dispute, the despatch of
an agent from Baroda to Poona was sanctioned by the
government of Bengal, and Gangadhar Sastri, who was
familiar with the subjects in dispute, and who possessed
the confidence of the British residents at both courts, was
selected for the office. The formal guarantee of the
British Government was engaged for his personal safety, —
a precaution with which he thought it necessary to be
armed, before he trusted himself within the treacherous
circle of the court of Poona.

The choice of the negotiator was by no means agreeable
to the Poshwa and his advisers, as they well knew the
acumen and firmness of Gangadhar, and his steady devo-
tion to the British. His reception was accordingly cold
and discouraging, and, for some time, no disposition was
shown to enter into any communication with him upon
the subjects of the mission. Nor had the Sastri to com-
plain alone of the unfriendly spirit manifested by the
Peshwa and his ministers, —a powerful party in his own
court, with the concurrence of the imbecile sovereign of
Guzerat hirnself, undertook to counteract his negotiations ;
and Govind Rao Bandoji Gaekwar, an agent of the dis-
carded minister Sitaram, — with Bhagavant Rao Gaekwar,
an illegitimate brother of Anand Rao, and representative
of the interior of the palace of Baroda, also in the interest
of Sitaram, were sent to Poona, almost simultaneously
with the Sastri, to assure the Peshwa, that if he would
bring about the restoration of Sitaram to the office of
Dewan, all his claims should be immediately complied
with, and his supremacy be acknowledged. The bait was
tempting, and although success was little probable, yet an
additional inducement was thus supplied to treat the
Sastri with neglect, and the very institution of the intrigue
was too congenial to the Peshwa’s character, for him to
resist the temptation of plunging into its dark and dan-
gerous labyrinth.

Well acquainted with the counteracting forces which
were secretly at work, and despairing of obtaining an au-
dience, Gangadhar applied for permission to return to
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Baroda, when afraid of exciting the serious displeasure of BOOK IL.
the British Government by the abrupt close of negotia- cuar.1v.

tions, undertaken at their earnest recommendation, and re-
called to a sense of the risk, by the carnest remonstrances of
the British Resident ; projecting too, even at this season,ap-
parently, the catastrophe which finally closed the transac-
tion,! the Peshwa's advisers adopted a total change of
conduct, and exhibited towards the Sastri a degree of
cordiality, which constituted a marked contrast to their
previous inattention. Private intorviews took place be-
tween Trimbak and Gangadhar, in which the former
avowed that he had been actively opposed to the latter,
and had even listened to devices against his life ; but he
asserted that the Peshwa had now become convinced, that
it was for his advantage to have the Sastri for his friend,
and was willing to pay that deference to his opinions to
which they were entitled by his acknowledged sagacity
and experience. Great pains wero taken to act upon the
negotiator’s vanity — which was as remarkable as his
ability—and, for a time, with success. Ie was made to
believe that the Peshwa was most anxious to engage his
services, and nominate him as his own minister ; and a
matrimonial alliance was concerted between his ‘son and
the sister of the wife of Baji Rao. On his part, he en-
gaged that the Gaekwar should assign to the Peshwa lands
yielding seven lakhs a-year in lieu of his claims, and should
conclude a treaty of amity with Poona, without the inter-
vention of the British Resident. The question of terri-
torial cession was, however, referred to the government of
Baroda, and pending the reference, Gangadhar accompa-
nied the Peshwa to the sacred shrine of Nasik?> where
extensive preparations were made for the celobration of
the nuptials.

‘Whether it was the result of his own reflections, or of
the suggestions of his friends, Gangadhar Sastri soon be-
came apprehensive that he had been cajoled into commu-
nications incompatible with the interests of his court, and

1 Reports were current at Poona, that designs were on foot against the life
of the g:strl. An intercepted letter to Sitaram from one of his correspondents
at Poona, dated August 1814, remarks, * Every one here says that the Sastri
cannot come back again.”—-MS. Records.

3 Nasik is a place of considerable sanctity, as the reputed scene of one of
Rdma's adventures, when in exile, and is said to derlve its namo from his
cutting off the nose (Ndsiké) of a Rakshas) or Ogress. It appears under the
same name, Ndsikd, in Ptolemy, and its importance is thercfore of some
antiquity, as well as the legend.

1814,
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BOOK 1L injurious to his reputation, and was not displeased, there-
cuAr. 1v. fore, when he received the refusal of the Qaekwar to

1814.

ratify the proposed territorial concession. As the condi-
tions of the treaty could not be fulfilled, he considered it
incumbent on him also to decline the honour of the in-
tended alliance, The defeat of hisintrigues was even less
galling to Baji Rao, than this indignity to his person and
connections ; and the affront was aggravated by the Sastri
preventing his wife from visiting ‘the :ladies of the Pesh-
wa’s family, in consequence of the licentious orgies which,
it was said, were commonly enacted in the interior of his
palace. The destruction of the offender was, no doubt,
immediately decreed, and impunity and assistance were
assured to the instruments of the Sastri’s enemies, who
had come from Baroda to frustrate his negotiation, to
effect his disgrace, and to prevent, by any means, his
return to-power: an opportunity was soon afforded.
Notwithstanding the acerbity of the resentment with
which the Sastri’s rejection of the alliance with Baji Rao
had inspired the Peshwa and his agents, no feeling of dis-
satisfaction was manifested. On the contrary, Trimbak
was more profuse than ever in his professions of regard,
and in the display of unimpaired cordiality and confidence.
A visit to the shrine of Wittoba, & form of Vishnu, at
Punderpur being undertaken, Gangadhar was invited to
accompany the Peshwa, and accepted the invitation ;
leaving behihd him the principal part of his followers,
and his colleague, Myral Bapt, a cautious man, who had
vainly endeavoured to put the Sastri on his guard agmnst
the machinations of Trimbak and the Peshwa. The invi-
tation was not extended as usual to the British Resident.
Soon after the arrival of the party at Punderpur, a report
was raised that the life of the Peshwa was threatened by
assassins ‘from the territory of the Nizam, and on this
pretext the guards were increased, and precautions were
taken for Baji Rao’s safety. On the evening of the 14th
of July, Gangadhar, after returning home from an enter-
tainment given by a Mahratta chief to the Peshwa, com-
plained of indisposition, and was about to retire to rest,
when a messenger came from Trimbek to invite him to
repair to the temple and perform his devotions there ; as
on the ensuing morning it would be engaged for the PeSh-
wa and his attendants, The excuse of being unwell was
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pleaded for declining the invitation, when it was more BOOK 1I.
urgently repeated by a second messenger. The excuse was cuar.1v;

repeated, but two of the Sastri’s friends repaired to the
temple and were requested by Trimbak to use their influ-
ence and induce Gangadhar to come. Unwilling to give
personal offence, the Sastri yielded to their importunity,
and with a few attendants walked to the temple. After
performing his devotions he proceeded on his return home,
escorted by a small party of Trimbak's soldiers, about
twelve paces in advance, and preceded and followed at
short intervals by his own servants, some of them bear-
ing torches. Suddenly three men came running from
behind, and forcing their way past the servants in the
rear, struck the Sastri with the swords with which they
were armed, and threw him on the ground; two more
came to their aid and wounded some of the Sastri's people,
when the whole of the latter fled and left their master to
the assassins, by whom he was barbarously mangled. Be-
fore any effective assistance was-procured the murderers
had escaped. The body was afterwards removed, and
burned by the Sastri’s people, and application was made
to Trimbak and the Peshwa for the apprehension and pu-
nishment of the assassins, Whatever professions and
promises were made, no measures, whatever, were taken
for the discovery and seizure of the culprits; nor was any
sorrow expressed for the unhappy fate of the Sastri.!

The connexion which subsisted between the British
Government and the Gaekwar, and the special guarantee
under which Gangadhar Sastri had consented to trust
himself within the reach of individuals so notoriously
treacherous and revengeful as the Peshwa and his minister
rendered it the imperative duty of the Resident to insist
upon a full investigation of the circumstances of the mur-
der, and the detection and punishment of the murderers.
An enquiry, conducted with the means at the command
of the Peshwa, could not fail to bring the truth to light ;
and it was called for, no less by the reputation of the Bri-
tish Government, than by the honour of the Peshwa him-
self. An accredited minister had been murdered in his

1 Letter from the Honournble Mountstuart Elphinstone to the Governor-
General, 11th August, 1815.—Papers respecting the Pindari and Mahratts war,
printed by order of the Court of Proprietors, p. 75.

1814,
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BOOK II. immediate vicinity, almost in his presence ; and such an
omAr.1v. outrage, under such circumstances, could not be perpe-

trated with impunity, without involving his Highness in a
suspicion of having sanctioned its commission. The re-
monstrances of the Resident were backed by a letter of
admonition to the Peshwa from the Governor-General, but
nothing could induce either him or his counsellor to insti-
tute a serious enquiry. It was affirmed that no clue to
the perpetrators could be obtained, that the Sastri had
many enemies, and acted imprudently in moving abroad
so scantily attended ; in short his death was the work of
destiny, and no good could result from further investiga-
tion. European notions of public obligations were not so
easily satisfied. Although it was probable that the active
instruments in the murder were the emissaries from Ba-
roda, one of whom, Bandoji, was known to have been in
Punderpur at the time of the assassination ; yet it was
clear that Trimbak, at least, was deeply implicated in the
occurrence. His repeated and earnest invitations to the
Sastri to repair to the temple, could be accounted for only
by his being a party to a scheme for affording to the mur-
derers an opportunity of executing their design ; and the
indifference with which he received the intelligence, his
private conforences with Bandoji, both before and after the
assassination, and the entire absenco of any attempt to
discover the murderers, were unequivocal proofs of his
participation in the crimo; of the participation, indeed,
of the Peshwa himself;! but as the punishment of the
latter was embarrassed by obvious political considerations,
the agent and accessory was made responsible for the act ;
and the arrest of Trimbak, and his delivery to the British

! Trimbak on one¢ occasion, after his apprehension, accused the Peshwa of
having instigated the murder, as part of a plot to secure the restoration of
Sitaram to office, on condition of his subservience to the interests of the
Peshwa, at Baroda. At another time, he &m)fem«l not to know who the
author was, but he belleved Bandoji was chiefly concerned. The truth seems
to have been that Bandoji was the principal instrument of the crime, but no
onec would have dared its commission, unless assured of the concurrence of the
Peshwa and the co-operation of Trimbak. The share of Bandoji in the murder
was not doubted at Baroda; he was known to have gone secretly to Punderpur
with armed followers, about the time, and.to have given a very considerable
sum of money to his servants, professedly for their expenses on the journey ;
to have held also several secret interviews with ‘I'rimbak, both at Punderpur
and Poona. A letter from him to the Rani, Takht Bhai had, shortly before,
conveyed the intimation that * the Sastri would never return to Baroda.” On his

return to the Gaekwar’s territory he wasconfined for life in irons, in the fort of
Gundiswari on the Taptl. Bhajavant Rao was also inprisoned.—MS. Records.
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Government, were declared to be the indispensable condi- BOOK 1I.
tions of preserving undisturbed amicable relations with cuae, 1v.

the Peshwa.
The demand made for the delivery of his favourite was

for some time strenuously resisted by the Peshwa, who
urged that the imprisonment of an individual against
whom no proof could be produced, was an act of manifest
injustice, and professed his readiness to place Trimbak in
confinement himself, could the charge of his being acces-
sory to the murder of the Sastri be substantiated against
him., However plausible the objection, it was not entitled
to any consideration, for Baji Rao well knew that none of
bLis people would venture to prefer an accusation against
his minister while at large : upon his being removed, the
Resident pledged himself to bring forward the evidence
which had seemed to the British Government sufficient to
involve Trimbak in the transaction. It was with great
difficulty that the reluctance of the Peshwa was overcome,
and for a moment he seemed to contemplate the alterna-
tive of open hostility. Ilis fears of the result, however,
prevailed, and he consented to give up the person of
Trimbak, on condition that his life should be spared, and
that his imprisonment should not be attended with any
unnccessary severity. Trimbak was accordingly delivered
to a detachment of the Poona brigade, on the 17th of Sep-
tember, and was immediately marched off to Thanna,
where he was confined. The emissaries from Baroda
were at the same time apprehended, and sent to Guzerat.
The communications which had been carried on by the
Peshwa, with the several Mahratta courts, had not been
unattended by consequences unpropitious to the continu-
ance of tranquillity, and the maintenance of British influ-
ence. The chiefs were generally discontented with their
position. Forgetting the peril in which their former cn-
mity had involved them as its effects ceased to be felt,
and misunderstanding the motives of the forbearance
which the victors had exercised, they were alone sensible
of the comparative insignificance to which they had been
reduced, and impatient of the restraint which the pre-
dominating power of the British imposed upon their
carecr of universal spoliation. The instigations of the
Peshwa fomented these feelings, and rendered them more
VOL. IL. 1

1816.
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BOOK II. than ever anxious to concentrate and combine their
cuar.1v. Strength under the direction of a prince, whom they ac-
knowledged to be the legitimate head of the Mahratta
1816,  federation. Various subjects occurred about this period to
aggravate their dissatisfaction and excite their animosity.

The object of maintaining a military division perma-
nently in the field, for the protection of the frontiers of
Berar from the incursions of Amir Khan, and the ravages
of the predatory bands, known as Pindaris, in consequence
of the inefficiency of the troops of the Bhonsla, imposed
an extraordinary burthen upon the government of Bengal,
which Lord Minto had conceived it incumbent upon the
Raja of Nagpur to defray. The charge was incurred for
his benefit, and the defence was an act of voluntary aid,
unprovided for by any subsisting engagements. The most
ready method of reciprocating the service and the cost
would be a subsidiary alliance, and, with the entire con-
ocurrence of the home authorities, the British Government
had, for some years past, endeavoured to prevail upon the
Raja to contract a connexion of this description. Raghuji
Bhonsla, however, felt assured that he would not be left
to fall a sacrifice to hordes of plunderers, who would then,
with additional credit and resources, be brought more im-
mediately into contact with the British possessions, He
was possibly of opinion, that even if unassisted, he might
by policy or force, provide for his own protection ; and he
prized too highly the privilege of exemption from foreign
control to barter his independence for military succour.
The submission of his internal relations with other native
princes to the interposition of a British Resident, would
also have put a stop to the execution of his designs against
the principality of Bhopal, a portion of which he expected
to be able, in concert with Doulat Rao Sindhia, to annex:
to his own dominions.

Shortly after the repulse of Amir Khan, and the with-
drawal of the British forces, Raghuji Bhonsla entered into
an alliance with Sindhia, for the annihilation of the Nawab
of Bhopal, and the partition of his country between the
confederates ; and at the end of the rainy season of 1813,
an army from Nagpur, commanded by Sadik Ali, and a
force from Gwalior, led by Jaggt Bapt, entered the Bhopal
territories, Unable to face such superior forces, Vizir
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Mohammed threw himself, with such troops as he could BOOK 1i:
assemble, into the city of Bhopal, where he determined to omar. 1v.
defend himself to the last extremity. Bhopal was situ-
ated on high and uneven ground, not far from a portion  1815.
of the Vindhya range of mountains, and was about four
miles in circumference. It was surrounded on three sides
by a tolerable wall, but was without a ditch, or other
defences. The south side was protected by a citadel,
placed on the high. bank of an artificial lake, formed by
embankments, connecting contiguous hills, extending on
the west of the town, about five miles in length, and one
in breadth. Most of the inhabitants had been sent away.
The garrison, including a body of three thousand Pindaris,
amounted at first to eleven thousand men, but when the.
besiegers had occupied most of the approaches to the city,
the deficiency of forage compelled the retreat of the Pin-
daris, and other mounted troops, leaving no more than five
or six thousand men to defend Bhopal, against the united.
armies of Sindhia and Nagpur, exceeding at least ten times
that number.t The siege commenced at the end of.
October, 1813. The operations of the. besiegers were
tardy, and their fire of little effect ; but in the course of
December they had completed the investment- of the
town, except on the side of the lake, across which supplies
wero for some period longer conveyed to the garrison, In
the course of December and January, repeated attempts
were made to carry the place by escalade, but they were
met by Vizir Mohammed, and his son Nazar Mohammed,
with undaunted intrepidity, and resolutely repulsed. The
most formidable enemy the garrison had to encounter was.
famine, for the Mahrattas had bribed the boatmen who'
had been employed to carry provisions across the lake,.
and this source of supply being cut off, the troops were
exposed to the severest suffering. The Mohammedans
assuaged their hunger by the flesh of the animals that
perished of want, while the Hindus endeavoured to ap-
pease the cravings of nature with decayed vegetable
matter — bruised tamarind stones, and the leaves of trees;
—numbers, unable to endure these privations, deserted ;

1 According to native authority, cited by Sir J. Malcolm, the united armies
amouuted to seventy thousand, which, however, he thinks way be exaggerated
by ten or, fifteen thousand men, but * the force,” he adds, “Il acknowledged
bynlltoluvelmnnrycnu. "—Central India, 1. 398,
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BOOK 11, and the desertions, with the casualties of the siege
caar.1v. reduced the garrison from about six thousand to as many

1815.

hundreds.

In the month of March, 1814, the death of JaggG Bap1,
and the ceremonies which followed, suspended the opera-
tions of the besiegers, and afforded the garrison an interval
of repose, and an opportunity of repairing the walls of the
town. In the following May, one of Vizir Mohammed’s
officers, a Rajput, was tampered with by Sadik Ali, and
introduced a party of five hundred of the Nagpur troops,
by night, into the post which he commanded. Conceiving
themselves already masters of Bhopal, the Mahrattas
awaited day-light for the resumption of their operations,
and, halting at the mausoleum of one of the Nawabs of
Bhopal, put aside their arms, and laid down to rest. Their
entrance was discovered, and reported to Vizir Mohawn-
med, who, perceiving that no time was to be lost, immedi-
ately attacked the enemy, although not having more than
thirty men about his person. The attack was led by
Nazar Mohammed ; the Mahrattas were taken by surprise,
and many fell undor the first fire of the Patans, who,
allowing them no time to recover from their confusion,
rushed among them with their swords, and put them to
flight. They evacnated the post with precipitancy, leav-
ing behind above a hundred killed and wounded. Fither
the failure of this attempt, or some motives unavowed,
induced Sadik Ali to weary of the enterprise; and pre-
tending that he had been prohibited from its prosecution
by a dream, he broke up his camp, and deaf to the remon-
atrances of Sindhia’s officers, marched back to. Nagpur.
The secession of Sadik Ali, and the losses which the
Mahrattas had suffered, left them little prospect of con-
tinuing the siego with advantage, and a fortnight after-
wards thoy withdrew to Sarangpur, where they were
cantoned for the rains,

Although Bhopal, after a siege of nine months, was
relieved from present danger, the peril was not passed.
Great exertions were made by Sindhia to recruit his forces,
gnd an army, more efficiently equipped, was prepared to
resume operations as soon as the weather permitted. They
were further delayed by a quarrel between the Mahratta
leaders, Jeswant Rao Bhao, and Jean Baptiste Filoze, a
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person of mixed European and Indian descent, who had BOOK II.
succeeded to the command of one of Sindhia’s disciplined cnar. 1v.

brigades, consisting of eight battalions with forty guns.
The quarrel came to blows, when the Bhao was defeated,
and driven to take shelter under the walls of Bhopal. The
forces of Baptiste, however, wero of themselves adequate
to the reduction of the city, when the interposition of the
British Government saved Vizir Mohammed from destruc-
tion. The interposition was based upon a double motive,
gratitude for past, and expectation of future service. That
the march across central India, by General Goddard, in
1778, was successfully accomplished, was in main attribut-
able to the friendly treatment which the detachment ex-
perienced from Hyat Mohammed, the Nawab of Bhopal.!
The position of tho principality, its contiguity to Berar on
one hand, and to the chief seats of the Pindaris on the
other rendered the co-operation of the Nawab of essential
importance in the measures which were contemplated by
the British Government for the suppression of the pre-
datory system. Vizir Mohammed earnestly entreated to
be taken under British protection, and a prudent regard
for British interests rccommended compliance with his
request. A negotiation was accordingly entered into with
the Nawab, of which notice was given to the Mahratta
princes. The Peshwa and the Raja of Nagpur professed
their cordial concurrence, but Sindhia reccived the an-
nouncement with a greater manifestation of resentment
than he had ever expressed upon any similar occasion,
ILe declared that the Nawab of Bhopal had been tributary
to the Peshwa, and that the tribute had been transferred
to him ; that he would not submit to any interposition in
his behalf, and that he would pursue his designs against
the Nawab, be the consequence what it might. His oppo-
sition was, however, restricted to these menacing declara-
tions. A force was assembled at Dellari, under Sir Thomas
Hislop, and a division in Bundelkhand, under General

V In the published Journal of General Goddard’s march, it is mentioned that
the detachments halted at Bhopal scven days, and found provisious cheap and
plentiful. No obstruction to-their march occurred after enteririg the Bhopal
territory. See also the notices of this transuction in Malcolm, Grant, and
Prinsep, as collected by Major Hongh in his Brief History of the Bhopal
Principality, p. 13.
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.BOOK II. Marshall, while detachments from the subsidiary forces of
.cHAPR.1v, the Nizam, the Peshwa, and the Gaekwar, were moved

1816

towards the frontiers of their respective territories: and
these movements, with the successes which had followed
the first reverses of the Nepal war, induced a change of
tone, and a silent acquiescence in the arrangements of the
British Government. The meditated alliance did not at
this season take place. Vizir Mohammed, with genuine
Afghan duplicity, adopted the perilous policy of playing
one negotiation against another ; and when by the inter-
ference of the British Government its intentions towards
him were notorious, entered into secret negotiations with
Baptiste to induce him to retire, recalling at the same
time his agents from Delhi and Banda, and showing no
disposition to contract an alliance, which involved the
appropriation of part of his revenues to the support of a
foreign force, and some diminution of his independence
and credit. Whether the terms demanded by Baptiste
were more unreasonable than the Nawab expected, or
whether he began to doubt the sincerity of the Mahrattas,
Vizir Mohammed again intimated a desire to resume the
negotiation with the British, but the Governor-General,
indignant at his want of faith, declined to receive his
agents, and announced to the Courts of Gwalior and
Nagpur that, although he held himself at liberty to enter
into any engagements with Bhopal, which might consult
the interests of his Government, as well as those of the
Nawab, yet that at present all intercourse with that
state was at an end. This determination was in accord-
ance with the policy of the home authorites, from whom
a positive prohibition of any alliance with Bhopal was
about the same time received, and in conformity to the
injunctions of the Secret Committeo, the Resident at
Gwalior was instructed to throw no obstacle in the way
of any projects which Sindhia might set on foot against
Bhopal ; but before he could avail himself of the license
thus granted, events occurred which occupied and per-
plexed the counsels of the Gwalior cabinet, and ultimately
placed the principality of Bhopal beyond the reach of its
Mahratta enemies. Vizir Mohammed died in the be-
ginning of 1816, and was succeeded by his second son,
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Nazar Mohammed, the gallant partner of his dangers and BOOK II
his glory.! CHAP. 1V,

Whatever might have been the real feelings with which
Raghuji Bhonsla received the intimation that he must
forego his hostility to Bhopal, and whatever projects he
may have concerted with the other Mahratta princes, his
death, which occurred imnmediately after that of Vizir
Mohammed, removed him timely from the troubled scene
which was about to ensue. He was succeeded by his son,
Parswaji: but as this prince was of infirm body and weak
intellect, although of years to conduct the Government, it
was necessary to entrust the authority to more competent
hands. Parties at Nagpur were divided, but after a short
struggle, Modaji Bhonsla, commonly called Apa Saheb,
the nephew of the late Raja, obtained the ascendancy.
and, with the concurrence of the British envoy, assumed
the office of Regent. As the opponents of Apa Saheb,
who were persons of considerable influence, were opposed
also to the British alliance, he considered that he should
best secure his newly acquired honours, by adopting a
different policy, and by entering into an intimate con-
nexion with the British Government. The subsidiary
alliance which it had so long been the object of the latter
to cffect, was now, therefore, concluded without further
difficulty or delay; and in the same month, May, in which
Apa Saheb was firmly seated in the Regency, the treaty
was signed by him in the name of the Raja. 1t was stipu-
lated that the subsidiary force should consist of one regi-
ment of native cavalry, six battalions of infantry, one
complete company of European artillery, with the usual
proportion of ordnance : and that the cost of it should be
defrayed by an annual payment of seven lakhs and g half
of Nagpur Rupces. That a commutation of territory for
the pecuniary payment shonld be demanded, if tho latter
fell into arrear, not else, although the expedience of such
an exchange might be reserved as the subject of subse-
quent consideration. That the British Government should
protect the Raja against all foreign and domestic enemies,
and that, on the other hand, the Raja should never

1816.

1 Malcolm's Central India, i. 412, Prinsep’s History of Transactions in Indla,
i. 245. Summary by the Marquis of Hastings, printed by order of the Court
of P’roprietors, 23rd June, 1824, p. 10.—Hough, 89.
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‘BOOK II. commit any hostilities against the DBritish allies, nor
CHAP.1v, commence or pursue any negotiations with any other state

1816.

whatever, without giving previous notice to, and entering
into mutual consultation with, the Company's Govern-
ment, That tho Raja should wnaintain at all times, and in
a state of efficiency, a force consisting of not less than
three thousand cavalry, and two thousand infantry, with
their necessary equipments ; and to attend and conform
to whatever advice and recommendation might bo afforded
by the Resident, respecting the Contingent, allowing it to
be mustered und inspected, or reviewed by that functionary,
or the officer commanding the subsidiary troops, whenever
the former should think fit. The Raja was further to
maintain such a number of troops as he might think
necessary, and the resources of his country might enable
him to support, to be at all times ready to assist tho
British Government. The treaty was ratified by the
Governor-General, in the following month, and, to all
appearance, Nagpur had become identified in political
interests with British India.’

Although taking no ostensible or personal share in the
distractions which pervaded Malwa and Rajputana, Doulat
Rao Sindhia was unworthily busied with intrigues, tending
to promote their perpetuation and extend their mischief.
The disappointment of his views upon Bhopal rankled
deeply in his breast, and confirmed his natural disposition
to co-operate in any scheme which proposed the diminu-
tion of the British power. Active, though secret nego-
tiations wore carried‘on with the ministers of the Holkar
State, with the Bhonsla, and with the Peshwa, for the
establishment of the supremeo authority of the latter, and
the consolidation of the remaining fragments of the
Mahratta empire,— vakils were received privately from
Nepal,and from Ranjit Sing, and constant communications
were maintained with the Pindari leaders, who promised
implicit obedience to Sindhia’s orders, and declared them-
selves ready, with his sanction, to carry fire and sword
into the Company’s possessions. 1lis own circumstances
were, however, most unpropitious to any military under-

‘! Treaty of perpetual defensive alliance with the Raja of Nagpore, 27th
May, 1816.—Collection of Treatics, 27th May, 1818. Sce also Report, Com-
mittee House of Comumons, 1832.—Pol. Ap. p. 236.
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taking. His dependants and tributaries were everywhere BOOK IL
in a state of contumacy and rebellion, and his own troops cmar.1v.

ill-paid and ill-governed, were mutinous and disobedient,
His chief commanders yielded him little more than
nominal allegiance, and receiving their pay in assignments
upon impoverished and exhausted districts, they aggra-
vated the discontent of the people, and drained tho
resources of the state by their oppression and extortion.
Converting their commands into a plea for pillage, they
moved through the country at their pleasure, and levied
contributions at will upon their sovereign's subjects, and
dependants ; or when these failed, carried their bands into
the territory of the princes of Rajputana, and, under
pretext of assisting one or other of the contending parties,
plundered both friends and foes. To add to these sources
of disorder, the mountainecrs on -the south and west of
Malwa, the Bhils and Mhers, and the petty Hindu chicfs
on the south and cast of the same country, wero com-
mitting unchecked ravages in retaliation for invaded rights,
or disregarded claims. A weary contest was also in pro-
gress with the Rajputs of Kychewara, whose prince,
Jaysing, the Raja of Raghugerh, had been dispossessed by
Sindhia of his patrimony, and at the head of a resolute
troop of followers, laid waste the adjacent country, sur-
prised Sindhia’s forts, and occasionally worsted his dis-
ciplined brigades. All these embarrassments paralysed
Sindhia’s power.

Although he could not resist the temptation of mixing
himself up in the intrigues that were so rife, and no doubt
had sufficient nationality to desiro their success, Sindhia
was evidently aware of the danger of provoking the
resentment of the British Government, and, in all proba-
bility, never entertained any settled purpose of exposing
himself to its irresistible infliction. However incompati-
ble with his secret practices, his professions of unwilling-
ness to incur the displeasure of his allies were probably
as sincere as they were earnest, and reiterated. 1lis
policy was naturally and excusably unfriendly,—but he
saw the consequences of its prosecution too distinctly to
defy them.

All intercourse with the court of Holkar had been
suspended for several years, during which it had been
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BOOK II, but little in communication with the other native powers
cuar. tv, of Central India. Its transactions were almost entirely

1816.

domestic, and exhibited a career of disorder and infamy
seldom paralleled even in the annals of the most profligate
Indian Durbar. Tulasi Bai, having no child, adopted
before the death of Jeswant Rao, and with his presumed
sanction, his son by Kesari Bai, a woman of an inferior
station in his household, As the boy Mulhar Rao was yet
an infant, his adoptive parent continued to hold the reins
of government, being assisted in the civil administration
by Balaram Seth as minister, and by Ghafur Khan, the
brother-in-law and representative of Amir Khan, as the
head of the military department. Tulasi Bai was a woman
of natural intelligence, and of a resolute spirit, but of
profligate inclinations, and remorseless vindictiveness. The
former qualities extricated her from repeated dangers,
arising out of intrigues against her authority, or the
insubordination of the troops. The latter lost her the
respect and adherence of the firmest friends of the Holkar
family, and ultimately caused her ruin,

A breach soon occurred between the Bai and the minis-
ter,—Balaram Scth had provoked her resentment, by his
plain spoken expostulations against the licentiousness of
her conduct, and had excited her fears by being suspocted
of secretly instigating tho mutinous clamours of the
soldiery, the violence of which had endangered the safety
of the Bai, and compelled her to fly for refuge, with the
young prince, to the fortress of Gangraur. The like
suspicion extended to Amir Khan, who had always given
Balaram his support : the former was beyond her power :
the latter was summoned at midnight to her presence,
and in her sight, and by her orders, was cruelly murdered.
The crime aroused the indignation of Ghafur Khan, and
the Mohammedan leaders in the service of the Holkar
State, whose troops were encamped on the outside of
Gangraur ; and they assembled in arms, and threatened
to storm the fort. They were anticipated by Tulasi Bai:
she sallied from the town with the Mahratta horse, who
were attached to her person, and an action ensued, the
result of which was for some time doubtful. The Bai
displayed remarkable self-possession, until a cannon ball
struck the houda of the elephant on which the young
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‘Raja was riding. This shook her courage, and mounting pooK 1I.
a horse, while she placed the child upon another in charge cyap.1v.

-of Ganpat Rao, her treasurer and paramour, she gallopped
‘from the field to Allote, a town sixteen miles distant,
where she and the Raja found shelter. Her troops dis-
persed, Gangraur was stormed, and plundered by the
Mohammedan mercenaries.

The authority of Balaram devolved, after his death,
upon & Brahman, named Tantia J6g, who had been origin-
ally employed by Balaram, but had subsequently connected
himself with Ganpat Rao. Although personally obnox-
‘ious to Tulasi Bai for the reasons which had excited her
displeasure against his first patron, and which had, at one
time, compelled him to fly to Kota, the abilities and
resources of Tantia J6g, rendered him necessary to her
favourite and to herself, and he was therefore suffered to
take an active part in the administration. He became
the head of the national or Mahratta party, in opposition
to that of the Mohammedans, headed by Ghafur Khan, or
rather by Amir Khan, of whom the former was the agent.
Amir Khan, who was occupied in Rajasthan, was desirous
of effecting a reconciliation, and oftered, with the Bai's
concurrence, to come to her aid, and prevail upon the
brigades to be contented with a portion of their arrears.
The Bai, however, declined to receive his visit, unless
Ghafur Khan were at once recalled, and the mutinous
troops reduced to subordination. Both partics at length
agreed to refer their differences to the arbitration of
Zalim Sinh. Negociations were in progress at Kota for the
friendly settlement of the dispute, when the advance of
the British armies diverted the attention of all the parties
to objects of more vital importance.!

The dcath of the princess of Udaypur, although it had
removed the immediate cause of quarrel, had failed to
restore to the Rajput principalities the blessings of
peace. A state of confusion and discord was indispensable
to the maintenance of the “Free Companies,” whom Amir
Khan, and other soldiers of fortune, both Mohammedan
and Hindu, commanded ; and the establishment of order
and tranquillity was hopeless as long as these predatory

"bands moved over the face of the country, like flights of

1 Malcolm’s Central India, 1. 289.

1816.
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BOOK II, locusts, leaving famine and desolation in their track. A
cuap.1v, plea for their ravages was never wanting. The feebleness

of the Rajput princes compelled them to bribe the for-
bearance of the mercenary chiefs by promises, which they
could only imperfectly fulfil; each breach of promise
generated fresh exactions ; engagements were again made,
and again broken, and the failure was followed by repeated
retribution. There appeared to be no prospect of shaking
off the vampires that had fastened themselves on the
princes of Rajputana, as long as a drop of blood continued
to circulute in the veins of their vielims.

After completing his arrangements at Udaypur, Amir
Khan marched towards Jaypur, levying contributions by
the way, on the.Rajas of Krishnagerh and Bundi, and
other petty princes, as well as upon the principal towns
and feudatory chiefs of Jaypur. Large sums were thus
collected, but either the funds were so wasted by mal-
versation, or the oxpenses of the battalions so much
exceeded the contributions, that the troops were con-
stantly in a state of mutiny for arrears of pay; and,
detaining their commanders in the sort of arrest termed
dharna, treated them with indignity, and menaced them
with violence, until some settlement could be effected.
Every such transaction was a signal for the reiteration
of pecuniary demands upon the princes and people near at
hand, and for fresh exactions from both friend and foe.

In the middle of 1812, the absence of Amir Khan in
Jodhpur, whither he had been sminmoncd by ‘the Raja
Man Sing, and tho reduction by mutiny and desertion of
the division in Jaypur under his colleague, Mohammed
Shah Khan, encouraged Chand Sing, the commander of
the Rajput forces to assume the offensive. Falling un-
expectedly upon Mohammed Shah, he defeated that officer,
and compelled him to scek refuge in Tonk, a town which
belonged to Amir Khan, and where he had constructed
a fort, named after him, Amir Gerh, to which Chand Sing
laid siege. The siege was soon raised by the approach of
another of Amir Khan's leaders, Raja Bahadur, and the
troops of the Mohammedan captains having effected a
junction, pursued the retreating Rajputs into the Jaypur
territories, which they ravaged without mercy. Amir
Khan soon after joined and took the command, and the
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army of Jaypur retired to the shelter of the capital, BOOK II
leaving the rest of the country undefended. It was cuae. 1v.

everywhere plundered and occupied by the invaders, and
the ncighbouring principality of Shekhawati was obliged
to purchase, by a large sum of money, exemption from the
devastating incursions of Amir Khan's brigades.

Having thus brought the Raja of Jaypur to the brink
of destruction, Amir Khan, with his usual policy, refrained
from completing the work of extirpation. He agreed to
accept an annual tribute of twelve lakhs of rupeces, on
the realisation of which, the forts that had been taken
were to be restored. Chand Sing, the only officer by whom
the Mohammedans had been encountered with any suc-
cess, was to be expelled the city, and dismissed from all
concern in public affairs. Amir Khan also promoted
negotiations for an alliance between the Rajas of Jodhpur
and Jaypur, which were in progress, and which ended in
Man Sing’s agreeing to give his daughter to Jagat Sing,
and to espouse that prince's sister. The Rajas mot at
Mirwa and Rapnagar, and the double nuptials were solem-
nized with suitable pomp and festivity, Amir Khan was
presenb at the ceremonial, at the invitation of the Raja
of Jodhpur, who received him with every mark of honour.
At his instance, also, the Raja of Jaypur, although very
reluctantly, consented to meet the Khan as an equal;
and the Afghan adventurer, who had commenced his carecr
as a trooper, took his seat on the same throne with the
two haughty potentates who derived their titles to sove-
reignty from a long line of royal ancestors, and from a
dynasty claiming a descent from celestial progenitors.!

The apparent cordiality which united Amir Khan and
ihe two Rajput princes was of no long duration. The

1 The insolence of Amir Khan was fully a match for Rajput pride. In his
own account of the transaction, it is said, **The Amir sat on the Musnud with
both Rajas, and the Jaypur chief decemed it an honour, and a proud day for him
and his destinies, 0 to be placzd with the Amir.” ‘This may, however, be a
rhetorical flourish of his panegyrical amanuensis.—Mcmoirs, p. 424. This
seems to have been the period of Amir Khan’s highest prosperity. According
to his own acconnt, his reputation had extended so widely, that his assistance
was carnestly implored by Shah Shuja of Kabul, by the widow of a dis-
possessed chief fn Balnchistan, and by one of the Talpura princes of Sindh,
who was at variance with the rest. Ile was, however, too cautions, or too well
advised, to engage in enterprises which promised more peril than profit, or his
accession might have given the y to wh ver he befriended.  His
muster-roll at Merta exhibited a strength of fifty thousand foot and twelve
thousand horse, well provided with ordnance.—1Ibid, 432,

1816.
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BOOK II. ordinary occasion of a rupture, failure in the discharge of
CHAP, 1Iv. pecuniary engagements beyond their means, carricd the

Mohammedan brigades in less than a twelvemonth from

1816. , this scene into the territories of both the Rajas. Their

first operations were directed against Jaypur. The Amir
advanced, plundering the country according to custom, to
within ten miles of the capital, when his further progress
was arrested by the payment of a portion of his demands.
Ho then marched to Jodhpur, whither Mohammed Shah
had preceded him, on a like errand, and had taken posses-
sion of Merta. To redeem this place, the ministers of
Jodhpur made a present payment of three lakhs of Rupees,
but the withdrawal of the troops was suspended by the
illness and death of their leader, and by the arrival of
Amir Khan, who, assuming the command, applied the con-
tribution to tho discharge of the pay of the army. The
sum being sufficient but for a short period, the troops
were quartered in various places, with instructions to pro-
vide for their own subsistence, while Amir Khan pro-
ceeded with a strong division to Jodhpur, where he was
received by the Raja as a friend.

The march of Amir Khan to Jodhpur was, in fact, con-
nected with a domestic intrigue, which threatened the
authority and life of the Raja. The exclusive and infatu-
ated reliance which Man Sing placed on the counsels of
his winister, Induraj, and of his spiritual guide, Deonath,
and the arrogance and rapaciousness of the latter, had
excited against them a powerful party in the-court of
Jodhpur, at the head of which were the Rani and the
Rajuw's son. The reputation of Amir Khan for. dexterity
in schemes of assassination, suggested to the discontented
nobles the purchase of his services for the removal of the
objects of their detestation and fear, and an offer of a con-
siderable sum! secured his aid, on condition that the Rani
and the prince should join their solicitations to those of
the Thakurs ; the condition was promptly complied with,
and hence the meeting between Amir Khan and the Raja,
the latter little suspecting the real object of the visit,
which the former professed orviginated in the hope of

! Tod says scven lakhs of rupees, Amir Khan himself thirty-five, he actually
received but ten (.£100,000), but he made up the balance, at least in part, by
contributions from the country.—Mem. 440.
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coming to an amicable adjustment of his claims upon Man BOOK 11.

Sing. .
After some days of seeming friendly discussion, Amir
Khan contrived to persuade the minister and the priest,
that their personal representations would easily pacify the
discontents of his soldiers, and that he should then be able
to withdraw his army. They consequently agreed to
admit a deputation of the Amir’s leaders, and two of his
captaing, with a dozen resolute followers, waited upon
Induraj, at his official residence, where the Guru, Deonath,
was also present. After some altercation, the Moham-
medans appeared to become indignant, and, protending
ungovernable wrath, drew their swords and put both the
Jaypur functionaries to death. They then secured them-
selves in the building, which the Rajputs attempted in
vain to forco, and remained on their defence, until Amir
Khan came to their rescue, threatening to fire and plunder
the city if his men were harmed. The chiefs who had
instigated the perpetration of the crime were also earnest
with the Raja to sanction the dismissal of the murderers,
lest the city should be sacked ; and Man Sing, alarmed for
his own safety, allowed them to act as they pleased, and
they restored the troopers to their chief. The Rajput
nobles paid the Amir a portion of the stipulated sum, and
prevailed upon him, by entering into engagements for the
remainder, to march out of the Jaypur territory. Man
Sing, conscious that he was surrounded by domestic
encmies, more dangerous than those he had encountered
in the field, thenceforth simulated intellectual imbecility,
and withdrew from all participation in the government in
favour of his son, Chatur Sing ; abdicating the sovereignty
of Mewar until the death of the prince, and his alliance
with the British, restored him to personal security, to his
senses, and revenge.!

1 According to the report of the Resident at Delhi, the Vakils of Jodhpur
asserted that the murder of Induraj and Deonath was perpetrated with the
knowledge and concurrence of the Raja, but they belonged to the usurping
party. Tod, in his Personal Narrative, adverting to a sarmise that Man Sing
was privy to the murder, observes, that there are but two who, In this life, can
reveal the mystery—the Raja and the bourrean-en-chef of Rajputans, Amir
Khan ; the latter has spoken out in his Memoirs, and exonerated the Raja.
Man Sing, when he thought it safe to lay aside his assnmed idlotcy, inflicted
severe punishment upon the members of the faction, as we shall hereafter
have o«;c:asion to notice.—Memoir of Amir Khan, 433.—Tod's Rajasthan, i.
715, ii. 150,

CHAP. 1V,

1816,
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From Jodhpur, the Amir led his forces into the Sheka-
wati country, where he levied contributions, and then
returned towards Jaypur. The administration of affairs
was here, also, the object of dispute between two powerful
factions, at the head of ono of which was the Purohit, or
family priest of the Raja : his competitor for the ministry,
and tho nobles opposed to him, repaired to Amir Khan
and encouraged him to advance to the capital. The
minister, Manji Das, with Amir Khan's former opponent,
Chand Sing, made a vigorous defence, and resolutely re-
fused to purchase the Amir's retreat, and calling upon the
Thakurs for their contingents, they collected a respectable
force, and harassed the besiegers with repeated, and often
successful, sallies. Irritated by their opposition, Amir
Khan ordered a bombardment of the town, by which ex-
tensive injury was done to the hesieged, and the shot
reached even the palace of the Raja. Jagat Sing was
now seriously alarmed, and was preparing to evacuate his
capital, when his Rani, the daughter of Man Sing, of Jodh-
pur,availing herself of the connexion which had subsisted
between her father and Amir Khan, sent an humble
message to him to supplicate his forbearance. Not sorry,
in all probability, to have a fair excuse for desisting from
a siege in which success was distant, if not doubtful, Amir
Khan retired from before Jaypur, and placed his troopsin
cantonments for the rains, The following scason wit-
nessed a repetition of the same course of predatory war-
fare ; but the operations of Amir Khan, with his principal
division, were confined to the siege of Madhurajpur, a
dependency of Jaypur. After several repulses in his
attempts to carry the fort by storm, the siege was con-
verted into a blockade, which had lasted for nine months,
when the policy of the British Government interfered to
put an end to the sufferings of Rajputana.

The state of affairs had come to a crisis. Central India
presented a chaotic mass of social disorganization ; order
was no where attempted, and the only semblance of sub-
stantial power that remained was exercised by roving
armies, belonging to no one government, but controlling
and distracting all.  In Malwa, the troops of Sindhia and
Holkar acted independently of their mominal masters;
and, provided with assignments on the rcvenues of the
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provinces, in liquidation of their pay, employed them as BOOK II.
an excuse for despoiling the agricultural and commercial cHar.1v.

classes of the products of their industry. Whatever
scanty residue was spared by them, was gleaned by the
dependents and tributaries of the state, armed to defend
themselves from the extortionate demands of the prince,
and his unsparing instruments, to lay waste the lands of
which they had been despoiled, or to inflict retaliation
upon.the spoilers. The princes of Rajputana were in a
still more helpless condition, and aggravated the evils of
political humiliation by personal incompetency. The
Raja of Udaypur, indolent and improvident, was bearded
in his capital by military adventurers, and robbed of his
domains by his own feudatory chiefs and clansmen. The
Raja of Jodhpur, affecting idiotcy, abandoned the reins of
government to the hands of a dissolute prince, whose
career was soon after cut short by the hand of an assassin.
The Raja of Jaypur, a slavo to an infatuated attachment
to a Mohammedan dancing girl, preserved only a portion
of his hereditary possessions, by the sufferance of Amir
Khan. All three princes wero objects of \contempt to
their nobles, who were split into factions, and struggled
with their sovereign, or each other, for the miserable
relics which the rapacity of the Mohammedans had left to
be scrambled for. The country was everywhere a prey to
numerous bands of merciless marauders, who, moving
about in all directions, domanded the revenues which were
due to the crown, and appropriated or wasted the re-
sources from which the rovenues were payable. Every
vestige of regular and orderly government had disappeared,
and a complete dissolution of the bonds of society must
have ensued, had not the Government of British India
obtained, by persevering representation and remonstrance,
from the authorities in England, a reluctant and qualificd
permission to effect the extirpation of that part of the
_predatory system which consisted in the peculiar organi-
zation of the plunderers, termed Pindaris, as preliminary
to the overthrow of the whole scheme of military depre-
dation.

VOL. IL. K
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‘ CHAPTER V.

" Organized Plunderers termed Pindaris,— Their Origin. —
- Settlements on the Nerbudda.— Sindhia Shahi, and.
Holkar Shaki.— Their Leaders.— Cheetoo. — Karim. —
Dost Mohammed.— Plan of their Incursions. — Cruelty
und Brutality. — Annually plunder the Territorics of the
Nizam, the Peshwa, and the Raja of Berar.— Invade the
British Territory.— Threaten Mirzapur. — Plunder the
Masulipatam District. — Gantur. — Tha Northern Cir-
cars.— Their Parties surprised or overtaken.— Many
killed. — Defects of a defensive System.— Offensive
Operations contemplated by the former Government.—
Policy of Lord Moira.— Total Suppression of the Pre-
datory System.— Expected Conduct of the Mahratta
Princes.— Proposal to annul the 8th Article of the
Treaty with Sindhia, and renew an Alliance with Jay-
pur.— Prohibition of the Board of Control.— Modified.
— Opposition in the Council.— Perseverance of the
Governor-General.— Raja of Jaypur secks the renewed
Alliance. — Hesitates. — Conclusion of Treaty deferred.
— Alliance with the Rajput Princes, with Amir Khan,
with the Nawab of Bhopal. — Sindhia’s Concurrence.—
Co-aperation of Nagpur.— Death of the Raja.— Suc-
cession of Apa Saheb.— Disposition of the Peshwa, —
Regrets abandonment of Trimbak.— Requires the Charge
of kim.— Many Grievances.— Escape of Trimbak.—
Insurrection raised by him.— Its Existence denied. —
Secretly encouraged by the Peshwa. — Subsidiury Troops
of Poona and Hyderabad in movement.— Insurgents
dispersed at Maswar.— Lieutenant Warre murdered —
Insurgents routed in Kandesh.— Proceedings of the
Resident, — Poona  surrounded. — Peshwa promises to
give up Trimbak and disband his Levies.— Proclama-~
tion of Rewards for Trimbak's apprehension.— Orders
of the Government.— New Treaty, ~ Conditions. — Ad-
ditional Subsidiary Force.— Territorial Cessions. —

- Arrangements with the Gackwar.

BOOK 1I. THE freebooters, known as Pindaris, although frequently
CHAP. V. acting in detached bodies, along with the predatory
oohorts of the Mahratta and Patan leaders, had a loosely
1816  independent activity of their own, and were little impli-
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cated in the outrages committed upon the Rajput princes. BOOK I.;
Their field of action lay more commonly on the south of* cuae. v.
the Nerbudda, where they perpetrated frequent and de-
structive ravages on the territories of the Nizam, the 1816:.
Raja of Berar, and the Peshwa. They were bold enough
at last to trespass upon the boundaries of the British
frontier, and passing to the east and south-east, spread:
terror and desolation over the villages and towns, that had.
till then reposed securely under the protection of a civil-
ized and powerful government. These daring incursions.
proved the signal of their destruction.

The Pindaris, as a body of irregular horse, serving with-
out pay, and receiving in lieu of it, license to plundery
appear to have originated in the south of India, constitu-
ting an element in the composition of the armies of the
last Mohammedan dynasties of the Dekhin, After their
downfall, the services of the Pindaris were transferred to
the Mahrattas, with whom they served against Aurangzeb,
and at a still later date, they shared in the disastrous
defeat at Panipat. After that event, their leaders settled
chiefly in Malwa, aud, attaching themselves respectively
to Sindhia and Holkar, became distinguished as Sindhia
Shahi, and Holkar Shahi Pindaris, receiving grants of land
chiefly in the vicinity of the Nerbudda, for the main-
tenance of themselves and their followers in time of peace,
on the condition of gratuitous co-operation in time of
war. ~

As the power of the Mahratta princes declined, the dis-
tinctions drawn from either became little more than nom-
inal, and the Pindaris were not unfrequently engaged in
hostilities against the chief of whom they were professed-
ly retainers. When first known to the British authorities,
the Sindhia Shahi Pindaris, who were by far the more
numerous of the two,! were under the leading of a number
of Sirdars, of whom Cheetoo, Karim Khan, and Dost Mo-

_hammed were ‘the principal. None of the Holkar Shahi

' Tn 1812 the Sindhin Shuhis were estimated nt four times the number 6f
the Holknr Shahis, ‘I he whole number of the Pindaris was at ditferent times
differently reckuned, but the most probuble computation made them sbout
twenty or twenty-five thansund horse, of whom six or seven thousand were
eftective cavalry, about three or four thousand middliing, and the rest bad.
Memoranduin by Cupta n Sydenham, 1809, und 1814. Papers Pindari war,

P.24.  Also Memoir of the Pindarls and account of their leadors and settle-
ments, by Mr. Jenkins, resident ut Nagpur, 1813, 1vid. 25,
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BOOK 1L, chiefs were leaders of much note. Cheetoo was by birth
caar. v. & Jat, and, when a child, was purchased during a famine,

1816.

by a Pindari horseman, by whom he was brought up to a
sumlar line of life. His patron rose to the command of
the troop to which he belonged, and Cheetoo shared with
his two sons, the elder and younger Rajan, the succession
to his command. His superior abilities gave him the
ascendancy, and brought him to the notice of Doulat Rao
Sindhia, who, in 1804, conferred upon him a Jagir, and the
title of Nawab. This did not prevent his being thrown
into confinement by Sindhia, two years afterwards, and
detained a prisoner for four years, until he paid a heavy
ransom,' on which he was restored to favour, and to his
Jagir. Sindhia also, subsequently enlarged the latter, con-
ferring upon Cheetoo five districts lying east of Bhopal,
commanding several of the fords: of Nerbudda. Satwas,
near Hindia, was Cheetoo’s usual place of residence,
Karim Khan was by descent a Rohilla, the son of a Pin-
dari leader ; he early entered the service of Doulat Rao
Sindhia, and was present at the battle of Kardla, where
he collected much valuable booty. He, equally with.Chee-
too, obtained the title of Nawab from Smdhm, with some
terntorml assignments on the Nerbudda, in which situa-
tion he had previously received grants of land from the
Nawab of Bhopal. These possessions he extended by
successful encroachments on the districts of both Sindhia
and Holkar ; and in 1805 had attained a degree of power,
which only required consolidation to have become the
foundation of a substantive state. It was not, however,
Sindhia’s policy to permit such a result; and having, by
professions of friendship and esteem, induced Karim
Khan to visit him, he caused the Pindari to be apprehend-
ed, and confined him in the fortress of Gwalior. The camp
of "Karim was attacked and plundered, but - his principal
treasures were carried off by his aged mother, who found
an asylum with Zalim Sing, of Kota. His districts were
all sequestrated, but his followers were kept together by
Namdar Khan, his nephew, with others of his leaders;
and they maintained themselves by the indiscriminate

'l!elsuldhhmmldwrddntl with Karim, who had been also in
dmm ;:dwummmd mypoﬂod. - lakhs of rupees.—Papers
33
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plunder of Sindhia’s territories. Karim Khan, after four BOOK 1.
years' detention, was liberated] upon payment of a con- cuar.v.

siderable sum of money ; and an effort was made to efface
the memory of his degradation by additional honours.
The resentment of the Pindari was not to be thus ap-
peased, and settling himself at Shujawalpur, he was soon
in possession of lands more extensive than those which he
had occupied before his captivity. In his measures of

retaliation he was at first joined by Cheetoo, who had.

similar injuries to avenge, and their united force present-
ed an array sufficiently formidable to awaken the serious
apprehensions of the Mahratta chiefs.! Jaggu Bapu was
sent against the Pindaris by Sindhia, and he and the Raja
of Nagpur prevailed upon .Cheetoo to separate himself
from his colleague and rival. Karim thus deserted, was
entirely defeated at Manohar Thana, and obliged to fly
 with a few followers to the camp of Amir Khan. He ac-
companied Amir Khan to Bampura, and was there placed,
with his own consent, under seeming restraint with Gha-
fur Khan, with whom he remained three years longer,
when he was allowed to depart2 During his absence, his
Pindaris, under the same leaders as before, assisted Vizir
Mohammed, of Bhopal, and Durjan Sal, of Kichi, in their
hostilities against Sindhia, and committed unsparing
havock upon his estates. Their head quarters still con-
tinued in the neighbourhood of Bhopal, and Karim joined
his adherents at Barsia, not long before the might of
British India was arrayed for the destruction of his

race.

1 The Dasahara of 1811, was celebrated by an assemblage of not fewer than
twenty-five thousand cavalry, besides several battalions of infantry. Prinsep,
i. 45. Malcolm makes the number still more considerable, not less than sixty
thousand horse. Cen. India, vol. 1, p. 456. .

3 Prinsep says the strong representations of Sindhia and Holkar, obliged
the Patan to place Karim in a kind of restraint, in which he remained till
1810. Aecorch:f to Malcolm, i. 457, Amir Knan, pretending to recommend
him to Tulasi Bai, made him over to Ghafur Khan, with whom he remained
under confinement. Amir Khan's own story is, that Karim was placed with

Ghafur Khan under nominal restraint with his own consent,—as being in safety,
whilst his nephiew and chief Sirdars continued their depredations at the Amir’s
recommendation as the allies of Bhopal and Raghugerh, Mem. 409. That he
was actually detained by Tulasi Bai, was, however, the notion entertained by
the Government of Beugal, and the Residents with Sindhia and the Peshwa
were Instructed to prevail upon them to exert their influence with Holkar's
court, to prevent Karim'srelease. The.Resident at Delhi, also, was directed to
communicate with the Bal's vakiels at that city, and urge the detention of
the Pindarf, Letter from Bengal, 16th Aug. 1811, Papers Pindari war,

P 14,
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Dost Mohammed and Wasil Mohammed were the sons
of Hiru, at one time a leader of distinction in the service
of the Raja of Berar. They succeeded to their father’s
command, and added considerably to their followers by
the misfortunes of Karim. They commanded about 7,000
horse of all descriptions, and occupied districts in the
neighbourhood of Bhilsa. The several chiefs of the
Holkar Shahi Pindaris were cantoned chiefly in the neigh-
bourhood of Chestoo’s possessions, and looked up to him,
notwithstanding his nominal connection with Sindhia, as
their friend and ally.

- The resources of a Pindari chief were not to be esti-
mated by the lands which he occupied, nor were the
numbers of his Durra, or company, restricted to any par-
ticular limit. The principal means of maintaining both
himself and his followers, consisted of plunder levied in
periodical incursions into those territories which were
considered likely to yield the most abundant booty ; and
the numbers of his retainers depended especially upon
the frequency and success of the predatory excursions
which he instigated or conducted. The Chief himself
rarely headed a merely plundering foray, but when not
engaged with his main body in the service of a regular
state, delegated to his Sirdars the plan and conduct of the
excursion, expecting a portion of the prey as the price of
permitting what he had neither the will nor the power to
prevent. The direction of an inroad was generally con-
certed at the Hindu military festival of the Dasahara,
when the leaders met and consulted upon the course to be
pursued during the ensuing cold season. As saon after
the cessation of the rains, as the roads became practicable,
and the rivers fordable, the leader who had been chosen
for the expedition, moved out with his immediate adherents
generally well armed and mounted. In proportion to his re-
putation he was joined as he proceeded by plunderers from
every quarter and of every caste, by disbanded soldiers
and fugitives from justice, by the idle and profligate and
unprincipled of every country and creed: some of them
were respectably mounted and equipped, and formed an
efficient body of cavalry, but the greater part rode ponies
or horses.of inferior quality, and were indifferently armed
with pikes, swords, or even with clubs and sticks pointed
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with iron: a few had matchlocks. When four or five BOOK II
thousand horse were thus assembled, the party marched cuar. v,
to the destined scene of spoliation. The men carried no

baggage of any description, and supported themselves and ~ 1817.
their horses on the grain and provision which they plun-
dered, both horses and men being trained to endure great
privation and fatigue. Correct information of the state
of the country, and its means of defence having been
previously obtained, the Pindaris moved with great secrecy
and celerity to a centrical spot in the proposed sphere of
action, where those best armed and mounted remained
‘round the person of the leader, to constitute a rallying
point, while the mass, in parties of a foew hundred each,
were despatched to sweep the country through a circle of
many miles, and to bring in with the least delay, whatever
valuables they could collect. The object of the incursion
being pillage, not fighting, an encounter with ‘regular
troops was carefully shunned, and attempts to overcome
prolonged resistance were seldom persisted in. Great loss
of life therefore seldom attended the movements of the
Pindaris, but their haste and rapacity tolerated no hesita-
tion, and whoever was supposed to possess property, and
was either unable or unwilling to satisfy the demauds of
the robbers, was put to the most cruel torture, and nob
unfrequently died under its infliction! Their brutality
was equal to their cruelty, and the women escaped viola-
tion. aud murder only by a voluntary death. What the
Pindaris could not carry away they destroyed, and their
movements were to be tracked by the flames of the vil-
‘lages which they had set on fire after they had rifled them,
As soon as the plunder was brought in, and the party re-
assembled, it moved off with the same secrecy and rapidity
with which it had advanced, and all were safe within their

1 One mode of torture, was to enclose a person’s head in a baz of ashes or
duat, und beat them on his face till he was suffucnied ; sometines hot ashes
were applicd, and ocvaslonally pounded chillies were mixed with them. A
couple uf lhieavy pestles or yokes were taken, und one being placed under the
mt of the prostrate victim, the other was crossed upon his breast, and 8
Pindari seated himselt at either end, whilst & severs beating was inflicted.
Boiling o1l was sprinkied over the naked budy, or straw was tied round the
limbs and set on fire. Infunts were torn from their mothers' arms, and.
thrown into wells, or dashed on the ground, and an Instance is menifoned of
a child having been tossed up into -the air, and sabred asit was fulling. Re-

port of Cummission. Fupers 65,
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BOOK II. accustomed haunts, before an adequate force could be
cuar. v. collected for pursuit.

1817,

The depredations of the Pindaris were, during many
years, confined to the neighbouring frontiers of the Nizam,
the Peshwa, and the Raja of Berar, and in these they were
in general annually repeated. The presence of the sub-
sidiary force, although it could not prevent their ravages,
yet limited the range of them in the dominions of the
two former, but the territories of Nagpur, defended alone
by the inactive and inefficient troops of the Raja, lay
entirely at their mercy. Their depredations were carried
with fearless audacity to the immediate precincts of Nag-
pur, and the Raja was repeatedly alarmed for his own
safety, and that of his capital! For a long time they
refrained from trespassing upon the British boundary, but
the desolation which they had spread in the adjacent
countries, obliged them to seek for harvests more remote,
and a confident belief that they would not be unsupported
by the native potentates,and a persuasion that the British
Government was unable or disinclined to oppose an ener-
getic resistance to their inroads, induced them to make
an experiment, how far they might venture to plunder
its villages, and murder its subjects with impunity. In
January, 1812, a body of Pindaris? belonging to the party
of Dost Mohammed, penetrated through Bundelkhand and

"Rewa, plundered and destroyed & number of villages

under British authority, and excited great alarm for the
safety of Mirzapur, a town of great commercial -wealth.
They desisted from the attempt upon learning the advance
of troops from Benares and Allahabad, and turning to
the south, passed through South Behar, into the province
of Sirguja, a dependency of Nagpur, whence they safely
reached their homes, with such an amount of ‘booty, as
to hold out an irresistible temptation to repeat the foray.
Extensive mischief was inflicted, many lives were lost,
and a general feeling of terror pervaded the population of
the province of Bahar.

'} In November, 1811, the main body of the Pindaris estimated at five thou-
sand horse, and drawn up in regular order, was visible from the British
Residency. Papers, 26. On that occasion they set fire to one quarter of Nag-
pur. Papers 2.

3 The number was variously computed from one thousand -two hundred to
twelve thousand. Letter from Bengal, 25th March, 1812, Papers 9.
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The complete success of their incursion encouraged the BOOK II.
Pindaris to project its early repetition. Raports of their cmar.v,

design were received by the Government of Bengal, divi-
sions of troops were arrayed in such positions as were
thought likely to cover the frontier, but it was impossible
to station detachments along the whole line from the
limits of Bundelkhand to the Gulph of Cambay, and the
constitution of regular troops unfitted them for competing
with the unincumbered, rapid, and desultory movements
of the Pindari horse. The Government of Bengal, how-
ever, had not yet fully learned the futility of the pre-
cautionary measures which had been adopted, and, in their
communications to the Court of Directors, expressed
themselves relieved from the apprehension of a second
Pindari inroad, on auy part of the frontier, from Bun-
delkhand to Cuttack.! The arrangements were not wholly
nugatory, as the attempt to ravage the Bengal frontier
was not renewed in the following season; although this
was partly attributable to the diversion of the opera-
tions of the plunderers in other directions. A party
under Cheetoo, between four and five thousand in num-
ber, proceeded westward, and laid waste the dependencies
of Surat, while other bodies burst into the dominions of
the Nizam and the Peshwa, and menaced the districts
subject to the Presidencies of Bombay and Madras, Their
depredations were, however, arrested by their own dis-
sensions, ending in actual hostilities between Cheetoo and
the Sirdars of Karim Khan, in which the former was
defeated and obliged to take shelter in Ujayin.

The domestic quarrels of the Pindaris having been
composed, and the vigilance of the British Government
somewhat intermitted, they again made their appearance
within the British frontier. At the ond of 1815, they
advanced southwards to the banks of the Krishna, and
entered the confines of the district of Masulipatam, whence
they carried off a valuable booty. Early in March of the
following year, & still more formidable body, estimated to
be five thousand strong,? penetrated to Gantur, Cuddaps,

1 Letter from Bengal, 18th November, 1812. Papers Pindari war, p. 15.

3 These seem to have belonged to one of three divisions which had at this

time invaded the territories of the Nizam; one body was reported to be ten
thousand strong, the two others five thousand each. Papers Pindari war,

p. 40,
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BOOK 1I. and Masulipatam, and for a series of ten days committed
cuar.v. fearful destruction, aggravated by the worst features of

1816

Pindari ferocity. They spread themselves in different
directions, but moved rapidly at the rate of thirty or forty
miles a day, never halting long enough in one spot toallow
the regular troops to come up with them, and finally
quitted the scene of their devastations without suffering
any material loss; although they were occasionally re-
pulsed by the firmness of the provincial guard, and by the
resolution of the villagers, or their cruelties were disap-
pointed by the despair of the inhabitants.!

During their short stay the Pindaris plundered above
three hundred villages, and wounded, tortured and mur-
dered above four thousand individuals of both sexes and
of all ages. The barbarous atrocities which they perpe-
trated filled the whole country with terror,and distrusting
the ability of the Government to provide for their se-
curity, the people in many places unvisited by the plun-
derers, abandoned their villages and repaired to the
principal stations for protection.?

The impunity with which this inroad was attended,
stimulated the marauders to venture upon a second at-
tempt, and in December of the same year, a considerable
body suddenlyappeared in the northern Circars, and sacked
and burned the town of Kimedi and the adjacent villages.
They were checked in the midst of their operations by
the approach of a dctachment of the 6th Madras N.
Infantry, under Major Oliver, and hastily retreating from
his pursuit, moved towards the north, where they suc-
ceeded in laying waste nearly the whole of the district,
and in partially plundering the town Ganjam. The alarm
was universal and the population generally fled to the
neighbouring hills and thickets, and hid themselves until

1 At Ainavote, in Gantur, where the people after a desperate defence were
overpowercd by their assailants, they set fire to their own dwellings, and
perished with their families in the flanes. Papers, p. 37

2 A commission was appointed to ascertain aud report upon the extent of
the mi~chiet committed. They reported the number killed to be one hundred
and eighty-twn: wounded, sume severely, five hundred and five; and tortured,
three thousand, six hundred, and thirty-three, It is scarcely possible that
these numb rs should be as accurate as their minuteness of detail would re-
present them, but they may be taken as a probable approximation. The report
specitied various cases of atrocity : in many places the women, either to avaid
pollution, or unable to survive the disgrace, threw themselves into wells and
perished.—Papers Pindari war, p. 37.
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the danger had passed. Apprchensions spread even to BOOK 1I.
tho town of Puri and temple of Jagannath, the sanctity of cuare.v.

which would have been no defence against Pindari rapa-
city. The plunderers, however, having intelligence that
troops were advancing against them, suddenly quitted the
province, and disappeared for awhile amid the rugged
country north west of Kuttack, until they emerged in the
vicinity of their haunts along the upper course of the
Nerbudda, Their retreat was not unmolested. In Kut-
tack, Lieut. Borthwick, with a detachment of the 2nd
Bengal N. infantry, followed close upon their rear, cut
off their stragglers, and repeatedly put the main body
to a precipitate flight ; and when they had arrived be-
tween Sohagpur and Mandalar, they were surprised by
a detachment from the division commanded by Colonel
Adams, consisting of a squadron of the 5th N. C,
under Captain Caulfield. le came upon their bivouac
on the night of the 24th of January, 1817, killed above
four hundred, and dispersed the rest. Tho fugitives
fell upon the main body of the cavalry under Major
Clarke, and again suffered just retribution. Similar dis-
asters befel other parties of these plunderers,

The invasion of Kuttack was simultaneous with other
movements of the Pindaris which had been directed
against the territories of the British allies. Notwith-
standing that the chief strength of the Nagpur subsidiary
force, consisting of five battalions of foot and a regiment of
cavalry, had been moved into the valley of the Nerbudda,
and occupied positions considered most favourable for pro-
tecting the frontier, a numerous party of Pindaris turned
the right of the line, and, about the middle of November,
made their wayinto Berar. They then separsted into two
bodies : the one marching eastward behind the subsidiury
force was that which ravaged Ganjam ; the other, said to
be six thousand strong, proceeded to the south, and pas-
sing within twenty wmiles of Nagpur crossed the Warda
into the territories of the Nizam, and pursued a westerly
direction with the purpose of laying waste the British
districts south of the T'umhadhra, The march was, how-
ever, retarded by the indecision of the leaders, and oppor-
tunity was afforded to a detachment of the Hyderabad
subsidiary force, commanded by Major Macdowall, to come

1816.
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BOOK 1I. unexpectedly upon the freebooters, in the vicinity of
cuar.v. Beder. The division reached the Pindari camp before

1816.

daylight, on the 15th of January,and a volley was the first
intimation which the plunderers had of their approach:
— an immediate and total rout ensued : many were killed,
and a thousand of their best horses were captured.

A division from the Durra of Cheetoo had about the
same time passed to the westward of the British posts,
and, following the road by Burhanpur, had penetrated
through the passes into Berar, proceeding thence between
Jalna and Aurangabad towards Ahmedabad. Unluckily
for the invaders, it happened that Major Lushington, with
the 4th Madras Cavalry, was on his return from the
Peshwa’s country to the cantonments at Jalna, and on
the 25th of December, heard on his arrival at Pipalwar,
of their presence at Logam. He moved in pursuit of
them at one in the morning of the 26th. The Pindaris
had been repulsed from Logam, and had retreated towards
the ecast, whither they were followed by the cavalry.
After a rapid march of above fifty miles, Major Lushington
came upon them at one P.M., when they were enguged
in preparing their noon-day meal. They were about
three thousand strong, but attemrpted little opposi-
tion. They fled in all directions, and were pursued for
ten miles, when the fatigue which the troops had under-
gone compelled their recall. About two hundred of the
best mounted of the Pindaris escaped, but the main body
was completely broken up with the loss of between seven
and eight hundred killed, and of a still greater number
of their horses captured. The only casualty on the side of
the British was that of an officer, Captain Drake, who was
run through by & spear.! The transactions that now took
place put an end for ever to Pindari incursions.

The impossibility of permanently guarding against the
predatory inroads of the Pindaris, by a system purely
defensive, had not escaped the observation of the late
Governor-General, and in his address to the Secret Com-
mittee of the 2nd of October, 1812, the Government of
Bengal distinctly declared their conviction that “the
arrangements and measures of defence which they had
adopted were merely palliatives,” and that “they antici-

1 See official despatches, Asiatic Journal, December, 1816, pp. 186, 120,
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pated the necessity, at some future time, of undertaking BOOK II.
a system of military and political operations calculated cuae.v.

to strike at the root of this great and increasing evil.”!
As, however, they considered that any system of measures
adapted to the effectual attainment of the object must be
of a complicated and extensive nature, they could not be
undertaken without much previous preparation, and the
subject was therefore left for further inquiry and delibe-
ration. The ovil could not be denied, but the Board of
Control clung to the notion that it might be checked by
defensive arrangements, and, in a letter from the Secret
Committee, the Government of Bengal was prohibited
“from engaging in plans of general confederacy and offen-
sive operations against the Pindaris, either with a view to
their utter extirpation, or in participation of an appre-
hended dangor.”? .

The sagacity of the Governor-General, the unusual
knowledge of the condition of India which he had
brought with him, the minuteness of the information
with which he was furnished by the Residents at the
native courts, comprehending some of the ablest men who
have done credit to the Company’s service, and the sound-
ness of the advice which ‘he received from competent
authorities, early enabled him to take a just and com-
prehensive view of the policy which the circumstances of
the time imperiously demanded.® The tranquillisation of
Central India, the restoration of order and good govern-
ment in Malwa and Rajputana were considered by the Karl
of Moira to be as indispensable for the happiness and
prosperity of the native states as for the safety and
advantago of the British possessions. Neither were at-
tainable as long as the predatory system subsisted, as
long as Patan and Pindari were suffered to create an
unnatural state of anarchy and disorder, in which the
peacenble and industrious members of society were the
prey of lawless hordes of plunderers, who grew up and
gathered vigour amidst the chaos which they caused and
perpetuated. As affecting British interests alone the evil

1 Papers Pindari war, p. 14.

3 Secret letter to Bengal, 20th September, 1815. Papers Pindari war, p. 41.

3 See the opinions of Mr. (now Lord) Metcalfe, the resident at Delhi, and of
Mr. (now Sir Richard) Jenkins, resident at Nagpur. Commons Roport, 1832.
Political Appendix, 229,

1816,
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BOOK 11, called for a decisive remedy, which the native princes
cuar.v. were indisposed or unable to apply, and which therefore

1816

the British Government had a right to seek for in its own
resources : nor was it only a right : it was a duty imposed
upon us by the supremacy of our power, no longer to per-
mit the predatory system to devastate the various states
who supplicated for British protection, and were entitled
to receive it. The settlemont most conducive to the hap-
piness of India, as well as the security of our interests,
Wwas THE ESTABLISHIMENT OF UNIVERSAL TRANQUILLITY
UNDER THE GUARANTEL AND SUPREMACY OF THE BRITISH
GOVERNMENT.

That the extension of British influence based upon the
destruction of the predatory system, would be attended
with no additional risk and would be practicable without
difficulty, were also maintained by the Governor-General.
Undoubtedly the individuals interested in the continuance
of disorder and violence, would strenuously resist all
interference intended for their suppression, and such was
the short-sightedness and self destructive policy of some
of the native courts, that it was probable they would con-
template in the overthrow of the system, only the loss of
a share of the spoil and of the contingent employment of
tho predatory bands, in their own service, in case of war
with the British. To take the princes of Rajputana and
the petty chiefs of Malwa, under the shield of British pro-
tection, would deprive Sindhia, Holkar, and Amir Khan of
victimg on- whom they had long preyed, and from whom
they would be loth to withdraw their grasp ; and the anni-
hilation of the Pindaris would deprive the Mahratta
leaders of auxiliaries whose services might be of use in-
time of peril. But would they risk hostilities in defence
of their participation in precarious plunder, or for the
protection of such uncertain' and unsafe dependents as
the Pindaris, — and if they did, was their hostility to be
dreaded ?

Although the Governor-General admitted that tho mea-
sure of establlshmg peace in India by British mﬁuence,
would be exceedingly unpalatable to the Mahratta princes,
he maintained that it would not alter the real character of
our relations with the native states who were interested in.
the continuance of the system. Whether professed friends
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or allies, they were already hostile to the British govern- BOOK 1L
ment, and if they were desirous of preserving in their cuar.v.

entireness bodies of armed men, it was only ‘that they
might expect their co-operation in an extensive comhina-
tion, which had for some time been agitated against the
British ascendency, originating in the intrigues of the
Peshwa. If such a collision were inevitable, it had better
be at once encountered, while the finances of British
India were in a prosperous state, its armics effective, and
its force unbroken by harassing and unavowed aggressions
upon the frontier, wasteful and exhausting in their
consequences, and impossible to be avoided by any de-
fensive arrangement. From these considerations, there-
fore, the Governor-General urged immediate interposition,
by announcing to Sindhia that the British government
could mno longer continue its observance of the article! in
tho treaty which precluded it from forming alliances with
other native states: that it should consequently accedo
to the application made to it so urgently by the Raja of
Jaypur, and require the recall of Sindhia's troops from the
Raju's territory, as well as prohibit Amir Khan from med-
dling with his affairs. At the same time Sindhia was to
be informed of the determination to exterminate the
Pindaris as an organised body, and was to be invited to
co-operate in an object equally interesting to all the
friends of peace and good government.?

The alliance with Jaypur, so unjustifiedly broken off in
1805, had cver since been a subject of consideration with
the Home authorities, who had hitherto approved of its
renewal, should its revival be sought for. Now, however,
that it formed part of a plan which it was thought might
lead to a war with Sindhia, a different view was adopted,
and considered as an article in a comprehensive scheme
for the pacification of India, it was strongly discouraged. if
not positively interdicted.? Imperfectly informed of the

1 The 8th Article of the Treaty of 1805,

2 Minutes of the Governor General, 3rd March, 1814; 1st December, 1815 ;
20th April. 1816; 8th March, and 26th December, 1817; and letter to the
council, from Cawnpore, 10th Oct 1817.—MS. Records. These documents pre-
sent evtraordinary proofs of the exient of the Governor-General's'n armation,

the comnrehensiveness of his policy, and the justness and nobleness of his

sentiments.

3 A ietter from the Secret Committee of the 29th September, 1815, enjotned
the Government of Bengzal not to undertake anything which might embroit
us with Sindhia; prohibited any material change in the existing system of
political relations, und ended with directing that * the system which was con-

1816,
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BOOR IL state of India, measuring the present by the past, and
CHAP.V. greatly overrating the opposition to be overcome, appre-

1816.

hensive of financial embarrassments, and reluctant to
encounter the vulgar clamour raised in Parliament against
the extension of the British empire in India, the President
of the Board of Control, Mr. Canning, however eminent as
a statesman in the political world of the West, exhibited a
singular want of knowledge and foresight in prescribing
the line of conduct to be followed for the regulation of the
interests of the East, and sought to enforce upon the
Governor-General a feeble and temporising policy wholly
unworthy of the British character, incompatible with the
prosperity of the British Indian Empire, and. fatal to the
existence of the native powers.! It was asserted that no
danger was to be apprehended from the actual condition
of Central India, but much from any attempt to effect its
amelioration. That such interference would provoke a
combination which had yet no existence except in the

solidated at the close of the last Mahiratta war, should be maintained with as
little change us could be avoided.” Exhibiting strange ignorance of the altera-
tions which ten years had wrought in the relative situations of the cxisting
states, %«; which the system of 1805, always objectionable; was now wholly in-
applicable. '

PMr. Canning had, in consequence of the death of the Earl of Bucking-
hamshire, in the year 1816, been placed at the hcad of the India Board, and
it became the duty of this distinguished statesman to prescribe the course
which should be pursued in this important and perplexing crisis of affairs.
Lctter from B. S. Jones, Fsq., Commons Report, 1832. Appendix Polit. 232.
It was fortunate that the course so prescribed was not followed: some of the
instructions are the following: * We are unwilling to incur the risk of a gene-
ral war, for the uncertain purpose of extirpating the Pindaris. Extended
political and military comnbinations we cannot at the present moment sanction
or approve.” ‘There was not the Jeast risk of a general war, nor was there any
uncertainty as to the extirpation of the Pindaris. *‘We do npt think it im-
probable that even from Sindhia you may derive assistance in enterprises
against scparate bodies of the Pindaris, who may have committed depreda-
tions on our territories.” A most improbable supposition,~and a most un-
worthy policy to require Sindhia’s aid for the protection of the British terri-
tories. The suggestion was also thrown out in the face of *information
recently received as to the suspicious behaviour of certain of the Mahratta
chieftains, and the daring movements of the Pindaris.”” The result is the
announcemont of expectations signally falsiied by events. * We entertain
a strong hope that the dangers which arise from both these causes, and which
must perhaps always erxist, in a greater or less degree, may, by a judicious
management of our existing relations, be prevented from coming upon us in
any very formidable force, while, on the other hand, any attempt at this mo-
ment, to establish a new system of policy, tending to a wider diffusion of our

er, must necessarily interfere with those economical regulations, which it
s-more than ever incumbent upon us to recommend, as indispensable to the
maintenance of our present ascendancy, and by exciting the jealousy and sus-
picion of other states, may too probably produce or mature those very projects
of hostile confederacy which constitute the chief object of your apprehen-
sion.”—Commons Report, App. Vol. p. 233,
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fears of the Governor-General, and that although the indi- BOOK IL
vidual members of the combination might belittle formid- cnar. v.

able, yet united they must prove dangerous enemies, and a
war with them collectively be attended with imminent
hazard and ruinous expense. Even the extirpation of the
Pindaris, if found likely to produce such a combination
would be inexpedient, and it might be the more prudent
course to adopt some other project for the diminution of
their power and the suppression of their ravages. It
might be possible to expel them from their seats, and
induce Sindhia to prevent their settling again in the same
locality, or it might be practicable to take advantage of
the dissensions among them and neutralise their mis-
chiovous activity by setting one leader against another.!
This latter suggestion aroused the indignation of the
Governor-General, who justly repudiated all friendly inter-
course with any of the members of an association, the
principles of whose constitution were rapine and murder.
At length the audacity of the Pindaris — their violation of
the British territories convinced the English minister that
offensive measures could no longer be delayed with a due
regard to the character or interests of the Indian empire,
and his previous instructions were qualified by tho ad-
mission, that “they were not intended to restrain the

Jovernor-General in the exercise of his judgment and dis-
cretion upon any occasion wheon actual war upon the Bri-
tish territories might be commenced by any body of ma-
rauders, and where the lives and property of British sub-
jects, might call for efficient protection.” He admitted
also, that any connection between Sindhia and Holkar,
with the Pindaris, open or secret, acknowledged or un-
avowed, would place the Government in a state of direct
hostility with the offending chiefs :* and anticipatory ap-

1 This proposition was also Mr. Canning’s.—Commons Report. App. Pol.
232, Lord Moira replied, * When the Honourable Committee suggest the ex-
pedient of engaging one portion of the Pindaris to destroy some other branch
of the association, I am roused to the fear that we have been culpably deficient
in pointing out to the authorities at home, the brutal and atrocious qualities
of those wretches. Had we not failed to describe sufficiently the horror and
execration in which the Pindaris are justly held, I am satistied that nothing
could have been more repugnant to the feelings of the Honourable Com-
mittee, than the notion that this Government should be soiled by a procedure
which was to bear the colour of confidential intercourse, of a common cause,
with any of those gangs.”—Letter from Kengal, 8th March, 1817,

2 Even here, however, a timid and dishonest course of dissimulation was
enjoined. * In acting or forbearing to act on this ground, (the open or secret

VOL. II. L
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BOOK II. probation was expressed of any measures which the Go-
CHAP. V. vernor-General might have adopted, not only for re-

1816.

pelling invasion, but for pursuing and chastising the
invaders. '

Nor was the irresolution of the Board of Control the
only difficulty by which the decided policy of the Go-
vernor-General was embarrassed. In his own council
there prevailed an exaggerated dread of the power of
Sindhia, founded on the recollection of the last Mahratia
war, and a fear that the multiplication of political con-
nections might bo regarded as an infringement of the
instructions from home, so often repeated, against the
extension of the authority and influence of the British
Government over the native states, These sentiments
were, however, confined to the minority, aud when news
was received of the outrages committed by the Pindaris
in the Northetrn Circars, the Council were unanimous in
agreeing that no terms should be kept with the invaders,
whatever consequences their extirpation might entail.
Supported by this concurrence, aud fortitied by the spirit
of tho orders from home, however cautious and qualified
their terms, Lord Moira, taking upon himself the respon-
sibility of carrying out his own views to the extent he had
originally contemplated, determined to let loose tho
powerful machinery he had never ceased to accumulate
for the destruction of the robber bands and the eventual,
annihilation of the predatory system. Various circum-
stances occurred propitious to his designs before they
could be carried into execution. }

As soon as it became generally known that the British
Government was disposed to abandon the system of non-
interference which it had hitherto followed, applications
came from all quarters for its alliance and protection.
The Raja of Jaypur was the first to depute agents to
Delhi, to solicit the renowal of his former engagements ;
and, in the month of April, 1816, the Resident at Delhi
was authorised to enter upon negotiations, for, although

connexion of a Mahrattaprince with the Pindaris) you will be guided by con-
siderations of prudence. Tt might be politic to attempt to divide such confe-
deracy by dissembling your knowledge of its existence.”—Secret letter to
Bengal, 20th September, 1816, Papers Pindari war, p. 41, also Commons Re-
port, Pol. App. p. 233,
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-the orders from home implied a virtual prohibition of the BoOK 1.
alliance, yet, as in & previous despatch it had been re- cuae.y.
marked,that ¢ while the justice of dissolving the alliance
with Jaypur was questionable, its impolicy had been  1816.
clearly demonstrated by the injury done to the country
by Amir Khan and the Pindaris; and the Government,”
it was added, * would have seen the necessity of providing
against the depredations of both;” it was argued by the
Governor-General that it had not been the intention of
the Secret Committee, in their late injunctions, to have .
positively interdicted an arrangement, the policy and
Jjustice of which were still undeniable.! The negotiation,
however, although the first commenced, was one of the
last concluded, the Raja being deterred from an earlier
termination by the alternate tone of menace and concilia-
tion adopted by Sindhia and Amir Khan, who led him to
fear, that if he persisted in the negotiation, they would
attack him immediately with all their forces, and to hope
that they would cease to harass his country, if he ab-
stained from an English connexion. There was, also, a
strong party in his court opposed to the alliunce, as they
apprehended it would give the Raja the means of resisting
their encroachments upon his authority and resources, and
recovering from them the lands they had taken advantage
of his distress to usurp. There were, also, difliculties as
the amount of the subsidy to be paid, and the degree of
interference to be exercised ; and after repeated interrup-
tion, the negotiation was not brought to a close until
active hostilities had ceased, and the supremacy of the
British was placed beyond dispute.

The example set by Jaypur was followed by the Rajas
of Udaypur and Jodhpur ; envoys were sent by them to
Delhi, and negotiations set on foot towards the end of
1817, which, with little delay, terminated in treaties of
alliance. The Raj Rana of Kota also pledged his unre-
served assent to whatever terms the British Government
should impose, and the Raja of Bundi pleaded his former
services as giving him a claim to British protection. A

1 The injunction against making any new treaty without previons sanction,
“ was not issued by the Court of Directors, but by the Bomrd of Controul
through the Secret Committee.”—Mr. Jones. Commons Keport, Pol. App,

234, note.



148

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

“BOOK 'II, variety of petty chiefs also on the borders of Bundel-
‘cuar.v. khand, or the further limits of Malwa —the Rajas of

1816.

‘ Krishnagar, Kerauli, Banswara, Pertab-gerh, and Dungar-
pur, applied earnestly for the protection of the British
Government. Even Amir Khan offered his services
against the Pindaris, and promised to disband his troops,
and abstein from predatory practices, if guaranteed, in his
actual possessions. ' The particular engagements entered
into with these several chiefs we shall have subsequent
.occasion to notice, but the universality of the application,
and the carnestness with which it was made, unequivocally
evinced the feeling which pervaded the native states, their
anxiety to be rescued by the British Government from
the miserable slavery to which they had been reduced, and
their readiness to contribute to the measures about to be
adopted for their liberation.

Au ally whose services were of immediate value, was
also securcd in Nazar Mohammed, the young Nawab of
Bhopal, who had scarcely succeeded to his father’s throne
when he applied to the Political Agent in Bundelkhand to
be admitted to the British alliance. Obvious us was the
utility of his concurrence in the movements contemplated,
and strong as were his claims upon the friendship of the
British Government, the positive prohibition of the Iomo
authorities, precluded the Governor-General from ac-
ceding at once to his solicitations. They were not, how-
ever, absolutely rejected or discountenanced; and when
in the beginning of the following year, his application was
renewed through the Resident at Nagpur, that officer was
directed, when military operations were on the eve of
taking place, to enter into a preliminary engagement with
the Nawab, which should stipulate at present for nothing
more than military service. A more formal treaty was to
be concluded after the war.

Notwithstanding the dread entertained by the opponents
of the Governor-General’s policy that Sindhia would take
up arms in defence of the Pindaris, nothing occured to
justify the apprehension., It was known that their chiefs
had agents in his camp, and friends among his ministers,
who cndeavoured to persuade-him that his resources would
be impaired, and his security imperilled, if he suffered the
Pindaris to be extirpated. “What,” wrote Namdar Khan
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1o Sindhia, “ what, if we are destroyed, will become of BOOK 11,
you ¥"—and it was with much uneasiness that the Maha~ cyap, v.
rajah looked forward to the approaching storm, and with
oxtreme mortification and annoyance that he found him- 1816,
self compelled to abandon adherents who, notwithstanding

their occasional disobedience, were looked upon by him as

an essential part of his military strength. Many of his

most distinguished officers were avowed friends of the
Pindari leaders, and were impressed with a belief that, if
supported with vigour, they might defy the English.

Thero wore some weak enough to put faith in the vaunts

of the Pindaris themselves, that they would easily baftle

and exhaust the English troops,—that they would far out-

do what Jeswant Rao Ifolkar had been able to achieve ; and

that at the head of fifty thousand horse, they would carry

fire and sword to the environs of Calcutta. Sindhia was not

misled by such rhodomontade ; he knew his own weakness

and the strength of the British too well to hazard a rup-

ture ; and when called upon to explain the countenance

that he had shown in his camp to the Pindaris, ho denied

all connexion with them, and declared it to be his inten-

tion to inflict upon them condign punishment.—When
apprised that this would be undertaken by the British
Government, he professed himself entirely satisfied with

the determination, and willing to co-operate in any man-

ner which should be required. 'The sincerity of Sindhia’s
professions might be questionable, but his public dis-
avowal of all connexion with the Pindaris was calculated

to diminish their confidence and weaken their power, and

to remove one of the obstacles which had been supposed

to impede the execution of the Governor-General’s pro-

jects. It was equally improbable, whatever might be

their real sentiments, that tho Raja of Nagpur, or the
Peshwa, would take part with the Pindaris.

For some time after his elevation to the Regency of:
Nagpur, Apa Saheb, apprchensive of the intrigues of the
party opposed to his nomination, found it necessary to
throw himself unreservedly upon the support of his new
allies. The troops stipulated for by the subsidiary treaty
were cantoned in the vicinity of the capital, in July, and
Apa Saheb immediately removed his residence close to
their lines, leaving the palace and the person of the Raja
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BOOK 1II. in the keeping of his opponents. As the latter was the
onar.v. chief source of their ability to thwart Apa Saheb’s ad-

1816,

ministration, the titular authority of the Raja being em-
ployed to contravene the acts of the Regent, Apa Saheb
was instigated to rid himself the impediment, and agents-
were speedily found to effect its removal. On the morn-
ing of the 1st of February, 1817, the Raja Parswaja
Bhonsla was found dead in his bed. No marks of violence
were perceptible ; and as his health was always precarious
and constitution infirm, it was not impossible that his
sudden demise was to be attributed to natural causes.
Some vague reports of foul practice reached the ears of
the Resident, but they were not traceable to any authentic
source, and resting apparently on no solid foundation, were
to be classed with the popular calumnies which are the
ordinary concomitants in India of the decease of a person
of rank. Apa Saheb was at the time absent froin Nagpur,
and as nothing transpired to implicate him in the transac-
tion, he was acknowledged, in virtue of his hereditary
rights, Raja of Nagpur. The interests of the Raja were
somewhat different from those of the Regent, but the
ascendency which had been established at Nagpur, the
professions, and, for a season, the conduct of Apa Sabeb
afforded no grounds for apprehending that he would fall
off from the alliance to which he probably was indebted
for his life, and certainly for his succession to the
throne. :

Less confidence was to e placed in the disposition of
the Peshwa, but the occurrences which had embittered his
animosity had also diminished his power to do mischief,
A course of restless and unavailing dissension had led to
the commission of acts which werc regarded as those of an
enemy, and had ended in the still further reduction of his
political consequence.  Scarcely had he relinquished
Trimbak to the British officers, when he repented of
his acquiescence, and earnestly solicited that the culprit
should be restored to him. He declared that he had
given him up only in the belief that he was to undergo a
public trial, and that if convicted of the murder of the
Sastri, he was to be replaced in the Peshwa’s hands for
punishment. As it was, great injustice was done to Trim-
bak, who was cast into confinement, without any proof of
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his criminality, and great disgrace was inflicted upon the BOOK 11.
Peshwa in the privation of that right which he possessed cuar.v.
invirtue of his sovereign authority of awarding the punish-
ment due to the offencey of his own subjects. His repre- 1816,
sentations to this effect were unceasing ; the incarceration
of Trimbak in a foreign prison was, he urged, a perpetual
indignity, and his sense of the dishonour was the more
keen, as it was inflicted by his friends. Ho was also sub-
jected to serious pecuniary injury, for his principal trea-
sures were entrusted to Trimbak’s care, and no other per-
son knew where they were concealed. He professed
himself willing to adopt any arrangements for Trimbak’s
security, that the Resident should dictate, but declared
that unless he was confided to his charge, his life would
be passed in misery and mortification. For a time, his
suit was preferred in friendly and conciliatory language ;
but he at length changed his tone and accompanied his
application with the representation of various grievances,
some of which he ascribed to the injustice of the Govern-
ment, some to the personal unfriendliness of the Resident.
His claims on the Gackwar and Nizam were unadjusted.
He had been obliged to subsidise a larger force than was
originally proposed ; -and he had ceded territory even be-
yond what was demanded, yet Kattiwar, which, according
to treaty, was to have been restored, was still retained,
and its restoration was saddled with unwarrantable con-
ditions. The subsidiary force stationed near Poona, was
about to be removed to a post where it would block up
the only bridge by which he could cross the river, and
would do mischief to his Mango groves. Vexatious
propositions were continually submitted to him affecting
the customs forming part of his revenues. The Residont
was also constantly annoying him about the Southern
Jagirdars, and had prevented him on one occasion from
going to Poona from Pundrapur. These complaints were
partly frivolous, partly unfounded, but they expressed the
feelings which had grown up in Baji Rao’s heart against
his allies. More important intimations of the same pur-
port were afforded by the activity of the secret commu-
nications carried on with Nagpur and Gwalior, and by the
orders issued to Bapu Gokla, and others of his Sirdars,
levy additional troops. ,
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While these discussions were pending, they received
augmented interest from the escape of Trimbak from his
imprisonment on the evening of the 2nd of September,
1816. He had been detained in the Fort of Thanna, near
Bombay, which was garrisoned by Europeans. He had
been allowed to take exercise on the ramparts for an hour
or two in the afternoon, and it was remembered, after his
flight, that latterly a groom in the service of one of the
officers was accustomed to bring his master’s horse near
the same place, and as he walked the animal backwards
and forwards, to sing Mahratta songs, the language of
which was unintelligible to the sentries. By this channel
Trimbak was apprised of the device he was to adopt, and
the facilities provided for his escape. The privy of his
residence adjoined a stable, and a hole had heen cut
through the wall of the latter. On a dark and rainy night,
which concealed his person from the view of the sentinel
who attended him, Trimbak contrived to pass unobserved
into the stable, and having thrown off his dress, and
placed a basket on his head, as if he were a common
labourer, he walked unquestioned through the gateway out
of the fort. When the alarm was given, he was nowhere
to be found. To mislead his pursuers a rope was fastened
to a gun es if he had thus lowered himself from the ram-.
pert. The tide was low, and the narrow channel which
separates Salsette from the main land being fordable,-
Trimbak waded through the water, and found upon the
bank a party of horsemen waiting to receive him, He
fled up the Pipri Ghat to the south of Nasik. N

As s00n as the Resident was informed of the flight of
Trimbak, he communicated the circumstance to the
Peshwa, and called upon him to evince his fidelity to the
British alliance, and his immunity from all suspicion of
connivance by promulgating the most positive and strin-
gent orders for the apprehension of the fugitive. Baji
Rao protested his ignorance of any project for Trimbak’s
liberation, or any concern whatever in its accomplishment,
and professed his readiness to take the requisite steps for
his arrest, expressing his hope, that in the event of his
being recovered, he would not be treated with severity,
and would be eventually placed in his charge. No
hopes were held out that the latter expectation would be
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fulfilled, but the Peshwa was assured that, as Trimbak’s BOOK 1I.
flight was no aggravation of his crime, it would of itself cmae. v.

subject him to no new punishment. Baji Rao’s promise
to assist in his discovery was accepted as a mark of his
desire to maintain the subsisting good understanding un-
interrupted.

Notwithstanding Baji Rao’s professions, the Resident
soon had reason to suspect the sincerity of his intentions,
Auy information that was supplied of Trimbak's conceal-
ment turned out to be illusory; and no exertions were
made by the Peshwa's officers for his apprehension,
although he was known to be collecting armed followers
at no great distance from Poona, with little attempt at
concealment. In consequence of the earnest remon-
strances of the Resldent, a party of horse was sent against
Trimbak, then in the Mahaleo hills, but the officer com-
manding the party halted on the road, and reported that
neither leader nor followers could be found. The same
evasive course was now deliberately pursued, and, although
it was notorious throughout the country, that Trimbak
was at the head of considerable bodies of both horse and
foot, the Peshwa affirmed that he could hear of no such
insurgents, and that he must depend upon the Resident
for their discovery. He pretended, indeed, to doubt if
Trimbak were alive, and his ministers were instructed to
repeat their belief of his death in their communications
with the Resident., It was obviously the purpose of Baji
Rao to allow Trimbak to assume so imposing an attitude
as should compel the British Government to assent to the
conditions on which he had already insisted, and in the
case of their non-compliance, to excite a spirit of resist-
ance, not only in his own dominions, but in those of the
other Mahratta princes, whom he had been long engaged
in urging to a confederacy against the British ascen-
dency.

Baji Rao's encouragement of the extensive risings
throughout the country, instigated by Trimbak and his

isans, was not restricted to silent connivance and
pretended disbelief of their occurrence ; more active par-

nnupammmnmnrmenmmnm Moira,
11th March, 1817.—8ecret Letter from Bengal, 9th June, 1817, hpcrl Mah.

ratts war, pp. 79, 91.

1816.
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BOOK 1L, ticipation was detected. It was ascertained, that several
cHAP. V. sgecret interviews had taken place between the Peshwa and

1816,

his favorite, that considerable supplies of money had been
clandestinely conveyed to him, and that the military and
fiscal authorities in general identified the partisans of
Trimbak with the troops of the Peshwa. Thus fostered,
the insurrection was rapidly gaining head, and from fifteen
to twenty thousand men were assembled under Trimbak
and his associates, in different parts of the country, and
on the borders of the territory of the Nizam. The levy
of forces on behalf of the Peshwa also continued with
augmented activity ; his strongest fortresses were placed
in a condition to resist an attack, and his principal trea-
sure was moved from Poona to places of greater security.
It had become a question of peace or war, but Baji Rao
still protested his fidelity and attachment to the British
alliance, offered to acquit himself by oath of any inter-
course with Trimbak, and declared his readiness, if any
insurrection did exist, to act vigorously in concert with
the Resident for its suppression. Referring to Calcutta
for the course of proceeding to be adopted towards the
Peshwa, Mr. Elphinstone set seriously to work to put down
the rising bofore it had attained & more menacing aspect,
and before the mischief had spread to the adjacent coun.
tries, The principal part of the Poona troops which had
marched to the frontier to defend it against the inroads of
the Pindaris was recalled, and the subsidiary force of
Hyderabad was instructed to move to the confines of the
Peshwa's territories, and advance into Kandesh. The
insurgents were collected chiefly in two large nrasses—
one at Maswar, & few miles west of Pundrapur, commanded
by Trimbak’s brother-in-law, Jado Rao,—the latter by
Godaji Danglia, & nephew of Trimbak,—in Kandesh.
Each was estimated at from four to five thousand strong :
there were also a number of smaller parties preparing to
join one or other of these divisions ; and the party in the
south were endeavouring to march northwards to. effect a
junction with the insurgents in Kandesh, as soon as they
should have concentrated their force. In this latter pro-
jeot the insurgents were frustrated by the movements of
Colonel Smith, who advanced to Maswar early in February,
and dislodged them. They fled to the eastward, were
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pursued for a considerable distance, and partly dispersed. BOOK IL
Colonel Smith then marched to Poona, leaving Colonel caar.v.
- 'Wilson with six companies of his Majesty’s 65th régiment
and three battalions of Native Infantry, at Ranjangaon, 1817.
near Seroor, while a division under Colonel Milnes was
stationed at Pipalgaon, on the Godaveri. On the Hyder-
abad side, Major Macdowall advanced to Tuljapur, while a
detachment from Jalna moved to the west into Kandesh,
The remainder of the southern party, having rallied to the
number of three thousand five hundred, of whom above
two thousand were well mounted, resumed their northern
route in the beginning of April. On their march, a troop
of Pindaris attached to the body fell in with Lieutenant
Dacre, of the Madras Artillery, with a small escort, and
robbed and murdered him and his attendants. The bar-
barity was not unrequited. Information of their movements
being received by Colonel Wilson, he detached Major
Smith, with six hundred infantry, to intercept their flight,
Although too late to accomplish this object, Major Smith
came upon the tract of the party moving from the Bhima,
by Toka, towards the Godaveri, and pursued them with
unremitting activity. After a march of one hundred and
fifty miles in five days, he came upon the insurgents at
Patri, above the ghats of Kandesh, at daybreak of the 17th
April, just as they were mounting to resume their route.
After firing a volley, the troops charged and put the
enemy to the rout, leaving seventy dead on the field, with
a quantity of arms and a number of their horses. After
several attempts to rally, which were defeated, the insur-
gents fled, and such of their horse as kept together, crossed
the Godaveri towards Nasik, where they joined Godaji
Danglia. Another division going northwards, more to the
west, fell in with Colonel Milnes, and although they also
escaped into Kandesh, it was not without a material dimi-
nution of their numbers. In the mean time, however, the
force to which they were conveying an accession of strength,
was 80 completely disabled, that the junction of their
friends was insufficient to retrieve the disaster, Captain
Davies, with eight hundred of the Nizam’s reformed horse,
and a party of foot, had been despatched to Kammin,
twenty miles west of Aurangabad, on the evening of the
19th April. - Hawing ascertained on the 22nd, that Godaji
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BOOK 1I. Danglia, with his main body, was marching towards the
cuar.v.  Godaveri, at no very great distance, he moved early in the

1817,

morning of the 23rd, and, avoiding the main road, came,
after a march of about thirty miles, upon the insurgents,
drawn up with their left upon a strong mud fort, and
their front protected by a water course with steep banks.
Captain Davies having ordered his men to charge across
the water-course, the enemy, although above two thousand
strong, wavered and broke: they were pursued for six
miles, and entirely dispersed, with the loss of four hun-
dred killed and some prisoners taken. Captain Davies
and Captain Pedlar were wounded, but not dangerously ;
twenty-five men were killed and forty wounded. The
affair was the more remarkable as a proof of the efficiency
of the Nizam’s horse, as now organized and led by British
officers. This first success was followed up by the advance
of the main body of the Hydcrabad force, under Colonels
‘Walker and Doveton, and by them the province of Kandesh
was cleared of the insurgents before the setting in of the
Monsoon. Trimbak took refuge at Chuli Maheswar, on the
Nerbudda.

The troubled state of Cuttack, and the ncighbouring
districts having cut off all communication with Calcutta,
the instructions of the Government of Bengal failed to
reach the Resident within the customary interval. 1le
was, therefore, under the necessity of acting upon his own
responsibility, and as the Peshwa’s menacing preparations
still continued, and no steps had been taken to comply
with his requisitions, he determined to bring the discus-
sion to a close. Having assembled the subsidiary force in
the vicinity of Poona, Mr. Elphinstone demanded of the
Peshwa a written engagement that he would deliver up
Trimbak without delay, and that as a security for the
fulfilment of his promise, he would surrender to the
British troops his forts of Sing-gerh, Purandar and Rai-
gerh : the engagement to be signed and delivered within
twenty-four hours or war would be declared. At first,
the Peshwa seemed resolved to withhold his assent, and
endeavoured to prevail upon the Resident to grant a
longer interval ; but when this was refused, and the troops
were stationed so as to command all the outlets of the
city, Baji Rao became alarmed and accepted the ultimatum,
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‘He pledged himself to apprehend and deliver Trimbak ‘BOOK II.
within a month, and in the meantime gave orders that crar.v.

the forts demanded should be opened to British garrisons,
The troops were then withdrawn from the environs of the
city, and actual hostilities were avoided, but the Peshwa
was apprised that so serious an interruption of the amic-
able relations established by the treaty of Bassein, must
be considered as an infraction of that treaty, and involved
the necessity of a revised engagement, the conditions of
which he could not expect, after the proofs he had given
of his unfriendly disposition, to be equally favourable to
his interests, The proceedings of the Resident were
entirely in unison with the sentiments of the Governor-
General, the communication of which arrived at Poona on
the 10th of May. A

Even aftor the engagement entered into upon the 7th
of May, the Peshwa had exhibited his usual vacillating
conduct, and had forborne from prosecuting any active
measures for the seizure of Trimbak. The arrival of
the instructions from Bengal roused him to decision, and
on the 21st, he issued a proclamation, promising a roward
of two lakhs of rupees and a village yielding one thousand
rupees a year,' to any person who should effect the delin-
quent’s apprehension. Minor rewards were offered for
information of the place of his concealment, and the
members of his family and adherents who were in Poona
were placed under restraint. This display of sincerity
came too late to save him from the consequences of his
former duplicity ; and a new treaty was offered for his
acceptance, of which the following were the principal
conditions. Baji Rao engaged to recognize for himself and
his successors the dissolution, in form and substance, of
the Mahratta confederacy, and to renounce all pretensions
arising from his former situation of executive head of the
Mahratta empire 3 to advance no claims to the lands of
Sindhia, Holkar, the Raja of Berar, and the Gackwar, and
to relinquish those upon the Raja of Kolapur and the
Government of Sawantwari ; and with a view to the fulfil-
ment of the article of the treaty of Bassein, which pre-
cluded the Peshwa from carrying on negotiations with

! Despatches from the Resident, 9th May, 1817. —Papers Mahratta war
p. 96.

1817,
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BOOK 1II, foreign powers, he was now required to promise that he
crAp. v. would neither maintain any agents at other courts nor

1817

admit their agents at Poona ; and that he would hold no
communication whatever with foreign princes, except
through the British Resident. With respect to the
Gaekwar, the Peshwa was required to renounce all future
claims, and accept as a commutation for the past, an
annual payment of four lakhs of rupees. For a further
annual sum of four lakhs and a half he was to grant to
the Gaekwar, the perpetual lease of Ahmedabad.

The treaty of Bassein had stipulated that the Peshwa
should maintain at all times a contingent force of five
thousand horse and three thousand foot, to act with the
subsidiary force. This article was annulled, and in lieu of
it, it was required that the Peshwa should place at the
disposal of the British Government sufficient funds for
the payment of a body of troops of the like amount, viz.,
five thousand cavalry and three thousand infantry; the
funds to be provided by the cession of territories in the
Dekhin, and of the tribute of Kattiwar, to the extent of
a net revenue of thirty-four lakhs of rupees a year. He
was further expected to cede in perpetual sovereignty tho
fort of Ahmednagar, all his rights, interests, or preten-
sions, feudal, territorial or pecuniary in Bundelkhand,
including Sagar, Jhans, and the possessions of Rana
Govind Rao; all the rights and territories in Malwa,
secured to him by tho treaty of Sirji Anjengaum, and
gencrally all rights and pretensions of every denomination
which he might possess in the country to the nporth of
the river Nerbudda ; and he was to pledge himself never
more to interfere in the affairs of Hindustan.!

These were undoubtedly hard terms, but the Peshwa,
by his inveterate enmity to the British name and power,
and the treachery with which, while professing a faithful
adherence to the terms of the treaty of Bassein, he had
violated its most essential conditions, labouring in secret
to re-unite the separated members of the Mahratta con-
federacy and direct their combination against his allies;
and by the gross manner in which he had disregarded the

1 Treaty with the Peshwa, 13th June, 1817.—Collection of Treaties, 27th
May, 1818, p. 60 ; and the observations of the Governor General on the several
articles.—Papers, Mahratta war, p, 100.
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law of nations and the guarantee of the British Govern- BOOK IL.
ment, in sanctioning, if not perpetrating, the murder of cpuar.v.

the Gaekwar’s ambassador ; subjected him justly to heavy
penalties. In some respects, also, their severity was less
than it appeared to be, and they wero levelled against the
Peshwa's political pretensions rather than against his real
power or authority. His lands in Malwa, and his claims
on the chiefs of Bundelkhand, for instance, had long
ceased to be of any pecuniary value, or to bring him any
accession of political importance, and the acknowledgment
of his supremacy, occasionally professed by the individual
occupants, was unaccompanied by any substantial tokens
of obedience. The limitation of his claims on the Gaekwar,
involving a guarantee of his realisation of as large a sum
as he was likely ever to receive regularly without British
intermediation, was likely to prove a beneficial arrange-
ment to him, and if any loss attended it, he had little
right to complain of being thus permitted to compound
for his infraction of both moral and national law, by his
participation in the guilt of Gangadhar’s assassination.
As far as these stipulations were concerned, therefore, he
suffered little diminution of revenue or loss of real power
The additional amount of the subsidiary force, and the
sequestration of lands for its payment, were more serious
deductions from his revenue and from his authority, but
they were rcgarded by him as less intolerable than those
stipulations which annihilated his hopes of regaining his
place as head of the Mahratta confederacy, and prohibited
him from plunging into the dark and dangerous inter-
course in which his genius delighted; and such was tho
tenacity with which he adhered to his design, such the
inveteracy of his animosity against the Dritish, that
rigorous as were the conditions of the new treaty, and
essentially as they impaired both the Peshwa’s credit and
power, it would- hardly have been compatible with the
safety of the British interests in India, to have imposed
milder terms. It would have becn an encouragement to
Baji Rao to persevere in his hostile projects, to have left
him the undiminished capability, as well as the unretracted
purpose of undermining and subverting DBritish ascen-
dency.

The terms to which the Peshwa’s assent was demanded

1817,
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BOOK II, excited the indignant feelings of many of his advisers,
cuar.v, and his most distinguished military adherent, Gokla,

1817,

urged him strenuously to the only course by which his
reputation might have been preserved —an appeal to
arms ; but Baji Rao was unequal to such a resolution : he
ratified the treaty, protesting that he submitted to the
conditions through consciousness of his inability to resist,
and that they had not his acquiescence. The dispute was,
however, brought for the present to a termination.
Trimbak continued at large, but there was no reason to
suspect that the Peshwa had not done all his power to
effect his seizure, and no demerit was imputed to him on
this account. Baji Rao, soon after the signature of the
treaty, quitted Poona for Mahauli, whither he invited
Colonel Malcolm to an interview, as ono of his early
friends, and endeavoured to obtain his aid in procuring a
mitigation of the terms of the engagement. He appeared,
however, for a time, to have suspended his complaints on
this head, and to have diverted his thoughts to the reduc-
tion of the district of Sundur, for which object he had
been formerly promised the co-operation of the British
troops. The Government of Fort St. George was instructed
to comply with his request, and Colonel Munro, who had
been nominated to the charge of the newly-ceded districts
of Darwar and Kusigal, was ordered to establish the
Peshwa’s authority over the Jagir of Sundur.

The great advantages accruing to the Gackwar from the
treaty of Poona, and the additional military obligations
which it imposed upon his allies, were considered to re-
quire a revision of the engagements subsisting with that
prince, so as to secure the whole of the Kattiwar collections
to the British Government, in order to provide for an
augmentation of the subsidiary force. Although, not
questioning the general expediency of the arrangements,
the government of Baroda objected to the proposed con-
ditions, and the conclusion of the treaty did not take
place till after the war,
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CHAPTER VI

Plan and Purposes of the Campaign of 1817-18.— Disposi-
tion of British Forces—in Hindustan—Grand Army.—
Centre.— Right Division.— Left Division. — Subordinate
Detachments.— Reserve.— Army of the Dekhin. — First
Division. — Second, or Hyderabad.— Third.— Fourth,
or Poona.— Fifth, — Reserve.— Events at Poona.— The
Peshwa’s Discontent.— Poona Division takes the Field. —
Force left in Cantonments withdrawn to Kirki.— Menac-
ing Appearances.— Ezplanation demanded. — Peshwa's
Ultimatum. — The Residency destroyed. — Battle of Kirk:.
— Peshwa defeated. — British Officers seized by Marauding
Parties.—The Voughans murdered.— Return of General
ASmith to Poona. — Flight of the Peshwa.— Poona occu-
pied. — Advance of the Third and Fifth Divisions across
the Nerbudda.— Pinduris driven from their haunts. —
Union of the First and Third Divisions under Sir T.
Hislop,near Ujayin.— Conduct of Sindhia.— Advance of
the Centre and Right Divisions of the Army of Hindustan
towards Gualior.— Treaty with Sindhia. — Ravages of
Cholera in the Centre Division.— Chunge of Position.
— Disappearance of the Discase.— Pindaris cut off from
Gualior. — Fly towurds Kotah,— Overtaken by (eneral
Marshall. — Amir Khan intimidated, — Disbands his
Troops.— Pinduris intercepted by General Donkin.—
Return to the South.— Encountered by Colonel Adams, —
Join Holkar's Army.— Cheetoo fives to Jawad. — Dimin-

ished Strength of the Pindaris.

HE determination of the Governor-General to form
effective military arrangements for the eradication of
the Pindaris, and for the suppression of the predatory
system, was formed in the close of 1816, but it was im-
practicable to carry his designs into operation until after
the rainy season of the following year. The interval was
busily occupied in assembling and organising the troops,
and establishing controlling military and politicalauthority
in those quarters in which Lord Hastings was not per-
sonally present. The preparations were conducted as
unostentatiously as possible, in order that the armies
VOL. IL M

161

BOOK II.
CHAP. VI,

1817.



162

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK II. might be able to take the field at the appointed period,
caap. vi. before those against whom they were directed, or any

1817.

other power disposed to obstruct the policy of the British
Government, should be prepared to offer serious opposition,
The plan of the campaign was dictated by the geogra-

‘phical position of the chief objects of hostility, the

Pindaris, and by the disposition of the British resources.
The territories of the chiefs of the freebooters, Karim and
Cheetoo, were centrically situated in the south of Malwa,
being bounded on the east by the principality of Bhopal,
on the south by the Nerbudda, on the west and north by
the possessions of Sindhia and Holkar which intervened
between Quzerat and the Peshwa’s province of Kandesh.
They were thus exposed on every side except the north, to
an attack from the contiguous frontiers of states through
which a ready access was open to the British forces, and
although the privilege of marching an army through the
dominions of Sindhia, had not been conceded by existing
treaties, yet his promise of co-operation had been plighted,
and it was part of the purposes of the campaign to enforce
the fulfilment of this promise, and compel him to throw
open his country tothe movements of the British divisions.
Further to the north, the pending arrangements with
Jaypur and Amir Khan, admitted of the advance of troops
in that quarter, with the intention of overawing both
Sindhia and the Patan, protecting the Rajputs against their
enmity, and preventing the escape of the Pindaris in a
northerly direction, when they should have been expelled
by the operations in the south from their haunts on the
Nerbudda. :

On the side of Hindustan, the Bengal forces were ar-
rayed in four principal divisions. The centre division
consisting of three regiments of cavalry, one of His
Majesty’s foot, and eight battalions of Native infantry,
with detachments of artillery,! commanded by Major-
General Brown, was assembled at Cawnpur. It was there
joined on the 14th of September by the Marquis of Hast-
ings, as Commander-in-chief. The right division, under

1 The troops forming the centre were His Majesty’s 24th Light Dragoons, 3rd
and 7th regiments N. C. and the Governor General’s Body Guard. His Majesty’s
87th regt., and of Native Infantry the 2nd batt. 13th, 1st batt. 24th, 2nd batt.

11th, 1st batt. 8th, 2nd batt. 1st, 2nd batt. 25th, Ist batt. 29th, and a Flank bat-
talion. Detachment of horse and foot artillery, and 54 guns,
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Major-General Donkin, was formed at Agra, and comprised BOOK II.
two regiments of cavalry, one regiment of European, and cuar, vi.

three battalions of native infantry, with artillery.! The
left division, commanded by Major-General Marshall, was
in advance at Kalinjar, in Bundelkhand, and consisted of
one regiment of native cavalry, two corps of irregular
horse, and five battalions of infantry, with guns? On
the left of this division, and constituting subordinate
portions of it, were two small bodies, one at Mirzapur,
under Brigadier-General Hardyman, and another, under
Brigadier-General Toone on the frontiers of South Behar;3
the duty of these two corps being the defence of the
British confines in the south-west, the prevention of any
sudden inroad through Rewa or Chota Nagpur,—and the
line of frontier further south, through Sambhalpur and
Cuttack, was considered to be sufficiently protected by
the troops already stationed in those provinces. The
fourth, or reserve division, commanded by Sir D. Och-
torlony, was formed of one regiment Native cavalry, and
two corps of irregular horse, one regiment of European,
and five battalions of Native infantry.t To each of the
divisions were attached bodies of irregular horse and
foot, the troops of several petty chiefs, who, by their
tenure, or by treaty, were bound to furnish military con-
tingents in time of war. In general they added little to
the real strength of the army, but their presence was an
indication of the extent of the British sway. The whole
number of troops in this quarter amounted to above
twenty-nine thousand foot, and fourteen thousand horse,
with ono hundred and forty guns, both horse and foot
artillery. The centre division crossed the Jumna on the
26th of October, and took up a position-on the Sindh
river on the 6th of November, where it was equally ready

| His Majesty’s 8th Dragoons, 1st N. C., Gardiner’s horse, and contingents

of the Raja of Bhurtpur and Dholpur, 1is Majesty’s 14th regt., N. L. 1st batt.
25th, 1st batt. 27th, 2nd batt. 12th, 18 guns.

2 4th N. C. 2nd and 3rd Rohilla horse, N. I. 2nd batt. 28th, Ist batt. 14th,
1st batt. 1st, 1st batt, 26th, 1st batt. 7th, guns 24,

3 The Ist consisted of 8th N. C., His Majesty’s 17th regiment 2nd battalion,
8th N.I,6 guns; Raja of Rewa'’s contingent horse. The second of His
:Iajesty'n 24th regiment, 2nd battalion of 4th N, I., 4 guns ; Raja of Gumshai’s

e,

0] o
4 9nd N. C. two corps of Skinner's horse; His Majesty's 67th regiment.
N. I. 2nd battalion of the 19th, Ist of 28th, 2nd of 7th, 1st of 6th, 2nd of bth,
22 guns ; contingent horse and foot of Begum Sumroo, Faiz Mohummed Khun,
Ahmed Bakhsh Khan, the Raja of Macheri, and the Raja of Patiala.

1817,
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BOOK II. to act against the Pindaris and the Mahratta states. On
onar. v, the right, General Donkin, by the 9th of November, ad-

1817,

vanced to Dholp